Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy

Risk factors for complications and predictability of the splitter-separator technique

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof. mr. C.J.J.M. Stolker, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op dinsdag 12 september 2017 klokke 16.15 uur

door

Jop Pieter Verweij geboren te Bergen op Zoom in 1988

The research presented in this thesis was performed at:

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Leiden University Medical Center Department of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center

Financial support for the printing and distribution of this thesis was kindly supported by:

Nederlandse Vereniging voor Mondziekten, Kaak- en Aangezichtschirurgie Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij tot bevordering der Tandheelkunde Nederlandse Vereniging van Orthodontisten Nederlandse Vereniging voor Orthodontische Studie Orthodontische Vereniging voor Algemeen Practici Afdeling Mondziekten, Kaak- en Aangezichtschirurgie, LUMC, Leiden Maatschap Mondziekten, Kaak- en Aangezichtschirurgie West-Brabant, Breda Tandartsenpraktijk J.C.G. Verweij, Bergen op Zoom ABN Amro **BISLIFE** Foundation Chipsoft DAM Medical Dentsply Dent-Med Materials (Geistlich Bio-Oss® en Geistlich Bio-Gide®) Excent tandtechniek, Bergen op Zoom Excent tandtechniek, Leiden Henry Schein Dental KLS Martin Nobel Biocare Oldelft Benelux B.V. Somnomed Stichting Medical Business Straumann VvAA, afdeling SDV

Cover design	Jop Verweij
Cover original	Leonardo da Vinci
Design & lay-out	Henriette van Baren
Printed by	GVO drukkers en vormgevers
ISBN	978-94-6332-202-7

Copyright © by J.P. Verweij, the Netherlands

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronical or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or in any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the copyright owner.

Promotor Prof. Dr. J.P.R. van Merkesteyn Copromotores Dr. P.J.J. Gooris Amphia ziekenhuis, Breda Dr. G. Mensink Amphia ziekenhuis, Breda Leden promotiecommissie Prof. Dr. I.B. Schipper Prof. Dr. A.G. Becking Academisch Medisch Centrum, Amsterdam Prof. Dr. D.S. Dijkstra Prof. Dr. R. Koole Universitair Medisch Centrum Utrecht, Utrecht Prof. Dr. D.B. Tuinzing

Vrije Universiteit Medisch Centrum, Amsterdam

Aan mijn ouders, van wie ik zó veel heb geleerd. Gelukkig is geluk voor ons zo goed als gewoon, zelfs als je promoveert.

Table of contents

Chapter 1	11
Introduction and aim of the thesis	
Chapter 2	21
Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral osteotomy: a literature review and meta-analysis Verweij JP, Houppermans PNWJ, Gooris PJJ, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2016; 44: 1170-1180.	l sagittal split
Chapter 3	43
Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbance after bilatera osteotomy in different age groups: a retrospective study of 263 patie Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016; 45: 898-903.	l sagittal split nts

Chapter 4

Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients

Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Bergsma EJ, van Merkesteyn JPR Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2013; 51: 525-529.

Chapter 5

Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients and review of published papers

Verweij JP, Houppermans PNWJ, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2014; 52: 756-760.

Chapter 6.

Are there risk factors for osseous mandibular inferior border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators?

Verweij JP, van Rijssel JG, Fiocco M, Mensink G, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2017; 45: 192-197.

79

57

Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2014; 42: e359-363.

Chapter 8

Investigation of the influence of mallet and chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PNWJ, Frank MD, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2015; 43; 336-341.

Chapter 9

Angled osteotomy design aimed to influence the lingual fracture line in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a human cadaveric study

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PNWJ, van Merkesteyn JPR J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2015; 73: 1983-1993.

Chapter 10

Influence of the inferior border cut on lingual fracture patterns during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators: a prospective observational study

Houppermans PNWJ, Verweij JP, Mensink G, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2016; 44: 1592-1598.

Chapter 11

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in a mandible previously reconstructed with a non-vascularized bone graft

Mensink G, Verweij JP, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2013; 42: 830-834.

91

117

103

131

Chapter 12 Discussion and future perspectives	155
Chapter 13 Summary	
Chapter 14 Samenvatting	171.
List of publications	176
Dankwoord	180
Curriculum vitae	183



CHAPTER 1 Introduction and aim of the thesis

INTRODUCTION AND AIM OF THE THESIS

General introduction

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is a widely used orthognathic surgical technique. Since its development, it has become the cornerstone of modern maxillofacial surgery and an important part of the everyday practice of many maxillofacial surgeons.¹ Although alternative techniques are available to treat mandibular hyperplasia or hypoplasia, such as intra-oral vertical ramus osteotomy or distraction osteogenesis, BSSO is generally considered the golden standard to treat mandibular deformity.

The elective nature of orthognathic surgery makes it very important to minimize the risk of complications and adverse effects associated with BSSO. Increasing the predictability and safety of the surgical procedure is therefore an important topic and should be of major interest to the surgeon.

Development of the technique

The first surgical correction of malocclusion was performed in 1849 by Hullihen, an American general surgeon with dental training.² He performed an osteotomy of the mandibular body for correction of mandibular prognathism.²

The initiation of early orthognathic surgery, however, came to light in the beginning of the twentieth century in St. Louis, USA.³ Plastic surgeon Vilray Blair and orthodontist Edward Angle were the first to describe an osteotomy of the horizontal ramus for the correction of mandibular prognathism.⁴ They were furthermore the first to emphasize the importance of cooperation between orthodontists and surgeons. However, focus shifted towards the development of maxillofacial traumatology because of the First World War, and it would take a long time before orthognathic surgery would be rediscovered in the USA again.³



Figure 1: Osteotomy of the horizontal ramus as described by Blair.⁴

Later, in 1942, Schuchardt⁵ was the first to describe a sagittal osteotomy of the mandibular ramus. This technique was carried out via an intra-oral approach and introduced the popularization of the BSSO. Trauner and Obwegeser⁶ subsequently further developed and popularized this technique and are currently viewed as the founding fathers of the sagittal split osteotomy.

Initially, the BSSO technique consisted of two horizontal bone cuts, approximately 25mm apart in the lingual and buccal cortex of the mandibular ramus. These cuts were connected along the medial aspect of the lateral oblique ridge, separating a proximal and distal mandibular segment.



Figure 2: Sagittal horizontal split osteotomy, as described by Schuchardt.⁵



Figure 3: Sagittal split osteotomy, as described by Obwegeser.⁶

Soon after the introduction of the technique important modifications were suggested. In 1961, Dal Pont⁷ advanced the lateral bone cut anteriorly towards the distal border of the second molar. Hunsuck⁸ later shortened the medial bone cut, ending it just posterior of the lingula instead of carrying it through until the posterior border of the ramus. Hunsuck⁸ furthermore suggested progressing the lateral bone cut through the inferior mandibular cortex, to establish an inferior border cut reaching into the lingual cortex. With these modifications, Hunsuck⁸ was the first to complete the sagittal split with a fracture in the lingual cortex.



Figure 4: Sagittal split osteotomy, as described by Dal Pont.⁷



Figure 5: Sagittal split osteotomy with lingual fracture, as described by Hunsuck.⁸

Bell and Schendel⁹ reported on the biological basis of BSSO in 1977. Epker¹⁰ elaborated on these principles and suggested more biological modifications, such as limited mucoperiosteal stripping. He furthermore emphasized the importance of a complete osteotomy through the inferior mandibular cortex.

With these modifications, the major components of the contemporary BSSO technique were accomplished.¹ Many surgeons nowadays still perform BSSO according to these principles. Nevertheless, the surgical instruments with which the sagittal split is achieved vary.

The splitter-separator technique

Classic techniques used mallet and chisels to perform the split.⁶ With this technique, the surgeon chiselled along the inner side of the buccal cortex until the chisel reached the inferior cortex of the mandible, effectively splitting the mandibular ramus in a proximal/buccal and distal/lingual segment.

More recently, the use of a sagittal splitter and separators has been suggested to split the mandibular segments using a prying and spreading technique. This splitter-separator technique prevents the use of sharp instruments near the inferior alveolar nerve.¹¹ BSSO with splitter and separators instead of chisels has shown to result in a low incidence of permanent neurosensory disturbances of the lower lip.¹² The use of a splitter and separators furthermore enables application of gradual force when performing the split and facilitates easy splitting of the mandible.



Figure 6: Sagittal splitter and separators (Walter Lorenz Surgical, Jacksonville, FL, USA).

Clinical complications associated with BSSO

Neurosensory disturbances

The inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) runs through the mandible and innervates the sensitivity of the lower lip and chin. It is regularly encountered during the sagittal splitting procedure.¹³ Neurosensory disturbances (NSD) of the lower lip are frequent after BSSO and usually display as either increased sensation (hyperaesthesia), a tingling sensation (paraesthesia) or absence of sensitivity of the lower lip (hypoaesthesia).

Different aspects of the procedure present a risk of damaging the IAN. First of all, manipulation of the nerve should be minimized. Mucoperiosteal retraction to visualize the mandibular ramus can cause traction on the nerve near the mandibular foramen.¹⁰ The risk of damaging the nerve is furthermore increased when the nerve is positioned near the buccal cortex or the nerve needs to be freed from the buccal segment after the split.¹⁴ Splitting with chisels instead of splitters and separators could also increase the risk of NSD.^{15, 16} After a successful split, damage to the nerve can be caused by stretching of the nerve in large advancements.¹⁷ When fixating the mandibular segments, sharp bony interferences in between the mandibular segments should be removed and pressure on the nerve should be avoided to prevent crushing or puncturing the IAN.¹⁸

If altered sensation of the IAN is present for more than one year after BSSO, it is considered permanent.¹² Permanent neurosensory disturbances are one of the most important complications associated with BSSO. They have a significant influence on oral health related quality of life and

patient satisfaction after the procedure.¹⁹ Sensory retraining exercises could help patients when the altered sensation causes burden in daily life.²⁰ Although most patients eventually learn to adjust to the altered sensation, it is very important to reduce and possibly even eliminate this complication after BSSO.

Bad split

The development of an unfavourable fracture pattern during the splitting of the mandible is called a bad split. This is a well-known intra-operative complication of BSSO. Different types of bad split can occur.

- A fracture in the lingual cortex resulting in a loose lingual plate. This is called a lingual plate fracture.
- A fracture in the buccal cortex usually starting in the vertical osteotomy of BSSO that can run until the semilunar incisure. This is called a buccal plate fracture.
- Relatively rare miscellaneous bad splits, such as a fracture of the coronoid process or condylar neck.

Some authors state that a bad split is particularly challenging to the surgeon, but not that damaging to the patient.²¹ Patients eventually recover with good functional and aesthetic results.²² Nevertheless, this complication leads to prolonged surgical time and the use of additional osteosynthesis material which sometimes has to be applied through a transbuccal approach. In some cases, postoperative intermaxillary fixation is even necessary to allow proper healing of the bone fragments.²³ In our opinion, it is therefore valuable for both the surgeon and the patient, to increase the predictability of the procedure by controlling the lingual fracture during BSSO.

Postoperative infection

Postoperative infection is a complication that can occur after any form of surgery. Infection of the surgical wound after BSSO is fairly common, due to the presence of oral flora in the mouth.²⁴ Different regiments of perioperative prophylactic antibiotics have been proposed, but the effect of prophylactic antibiotics on postoperative infection remains under debate. If postoperative infection does occur, it can usually be easily treated with additional antibiotics in the form of amoxicillin-clavulanate.²⁴

Removal of the osteosynthesis material

The introduction of rigid fixation after BSSO has been a big leap forward in the development of the technique. Rigid fixation with either bicortical screws or monocortical miniplates eliminates the need for postoperative intermaxillary fixation.²⁵⁻²⁷ This not only produces a more reliable end result, but also facilitates a more patient-friendly procedure.

If the patient does not experience any complaints related to the hardware, no removal is needed. In some cases, however, removal of the osteosynthesis material because of symptoms is necessary.^{28, 29} This can be due to infection or other complaints, such as palpability of the hardware, subjective discomfort (for example related to cold weather), or breakage of the material.

When removal of osteosynthesis material after BSSO is necessary, it can usually be performed under local anaesthesia. After this additional postoperative procedure, the patient completely recovers without any remaining symptoms.

Inferior border defects

A mandibular inferior border defect is a postoperative complication that consists of an unaesthetic osseous defect of the inferior border of the mandible. This complication can occur due to insufficient bone healing at the caudal part of the vertical bone cut after BSSO, for example because of large mandibular advancements, clockwise rotation of the distal segment, or inclusion of the full thickness of the lower border in the split.³⁰ Persisting inferior border defects can also be associated with the surgical technique.³¹ Unaesthetic inferior border defects can in rare cases even necessitate secondary procedures after BSSO and are a relevant complication of this type of surgery.^{30, 32} In order to maximise the result of BSSO and minimise the risk of secondary procedures, the occurrence of inferior border defects should thus be minimised. Patients should furthermore be informed about the risk of this complication to ensure proper patient counselling and maximise patient satisfaction after BSSO.

Aim of this thesis

This thesis aims to investigate the risk of complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO), performed with a splitter and separators. Specific risk factors for intra- and postoperative complications that occurred within the first year after surgery are investigated. Factors influencing the predictability of the technique are furthermore analysed in order to increase predictability of the split and therefore minimise sequelae.

This could facilitate individual counselling of patients before BSSO and help maxillofacial surgeons attempt to minimise the risk of complications associated with this procedure.

18

REFERENCES

 Wyatt WM. Sagittal ramus split osteotomy: literature review and suggested modification of technique. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1997;35:137-41.

2. Hullihen SP. Case of elongation of the underjaw and distortion of the face and neck, caused by a burn, successfully treated. Am J Dent Sci. 1849;9:157.

 Steinhauser EW. Historical development of orthognathic surgery. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 1996;24:195-204.

4. Blair VP. Operations of the Jaw-bone and Face. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1907;4:67-78.

5. Schuchardt G. Ein Beitrag zur chirurgischen Kieferorthopardie unter Berucksichtiging ihrer fur die Behandlung angeborener und erworbener Kiefer defomitaten bie Soldaten. Dtsch Zahn Mund Kieferheilkd. 1942;9:73-89.

6. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. Zur Operationstechnik bei der Progenia und anderen Unterkieferanomalien. Dtsch Zahn Mund Kieferhlkd. 1955;23:11-25.

7. Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism. J Oral Surg Anesth Hosp Dent Serv. 1961; 19:42-7.

8. Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. J Oral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

 Bell WH, Schendel SA. Biologic basis for modification of the sagittal ramus split operation. J Oral Surg. 1977;35:362-9.

10. Epker BN. Modifications in the sagittal osteotomy of the mandible. J Oral Surg. 1977;35:157-9.

11. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2007;35:222-6.

12. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

13. Westermark A, Bystedt H, von Konow L. Inferior alveolar nerve function after sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible: correlation with degree of intraoperative nerve encounter and other variables in 496 operations. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;36:429-33.

14. Politis C, Lambrichts I, Sun Y, Vrielinck L, Schepers S, Agbaje JO. Attachment rate of the inferior alveolar nerve to buccal plate during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy influences self-reported sensory impairment. J Craniofac Surg. 2014;25:2121-6. 15. Jaaskelainen SK, Teerijoki-Oksa T, Virtanen A, Tenovuo O, Forssell H. Sensory regeneration following intraoperatively verified trigeminal nerve injury. Neurology. 2004;62:1951-7.

16. Mensink G, Gooris PJ, Bergsma JE, van Hooft E, van Merkesteyn JP. Influence of BSSO surgical technique on postoperative inferior alveolar nerve hypoesthesia: a systematic review of the literature. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:976-82.

 Van Sickels JE, Hatch J, Rugh J, Dolce C, Bays RA. Effects of age, amount of advancement and genioplasty on neurosensory distrubance following a BSSO. J Dent Res. 2002;81:A397-A.

 Fujioka M, Hirano A, Fujii T. Comparative study of inferior alveolar disturbance restoration after sagittal split osteotomy by means of bicortical versus monocortical osteosynthesis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1998; 102:37-41.

 Kuhlefelt M, Laine P, Suominen AL, Lindqvist C, Thoren H. Nerve manipulation during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases neurosensory disturbance and decreases patient satisfaction. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;72:2052 e1-5.

20. Phillips C, Kim SH, Tucker M, Turvey TA. Sensory retraining: burden in daily life related to altered sensation after orthognathic surgery, a randomized clinical trial. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2010; 13:169-78.

21. Falter B, Schepers S, Vrielinck L, Lambrichts I, Thijs H, Politis C. Occurrence of bad splits during sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010;110:430-5.

22. Veras RB, Kriwalsky MS, Hoffmann S, Maurer P, Schubert J. Functional and radiographic long-term results after bad split in orthognathic surgery. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;37:606-11.

23. Chrcanovic BR, Freire-Maia B. Risk factors and prevention of bad splits during sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;16:19-27.

24. Spacy YJ, Bettens RM, Mommaerts MY, Adriaens J, Van Landuyt HW, Abeloos JV, et al. A prospective study on infectious complications in orthognathic surgery. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2005;33:24-9.

25. Spiessl B. [Osteosynthesis in sagittal osteotomy using the Obwegeser-Dal Pont method]. Fortschr Kiefer Gesichtschir. 1974; 18:145-8.

26. Lindorf HH. Sagittal ramus osteotomy with tandem screw fixation. Technique and results. J Maxillofac Surg. 1986;14:311-6.

27. Champy M, Lodde JP, Schmitt R, Jaeger JH, Muster D. Mandibular osteosynthesis by miniature screwed plates via a buccal approach. J Maxillofac Surg. 1978;6:14-21. 28. Kuhlefelt M, Laine P, Suominen-Taipale L, Ingman T, Lindqvist C, Thoren H. Risk factors contributing to symptomatic miniplate removal: a retrospective study of 153 bilateral sagittal split osteotomy patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;39:430-5.

29. Becelli R, Fini G, Renzi G, Giovannetti F, Roefaro E. Complications of bicortical screw fixation observed in 482 mandibular sagittal osteotomies. J Craniofac Surg. 2004; 15:64-8.

 Agbaje JO, Sun Y, Vrielinck L, Schepers S, Lambrichts I, Politis C. Risk factors for the development of lower border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71:588-96.

 Agbaje JO, Gemels B, Salem AS, Anumendem D, Vrielinck L, Politis C. Modified Mandibular Inferior Border Sagittal Split Osteotomy Reduces Postoperative Risk for Developing Inferior Border Defects. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016.

32. Wolford LM. Influence of Osteotomy Design on Bilateral Mandibular Ramus Sagittal Split Osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:1994-2004.



CHAPTER 2

Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy, a literature review and meta-analysis

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Verweij JP, Houppermans PNWJ, Gooris PJJ, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR

Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy, a literature review and meta-analysis

Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery 2016; 44: 1170-1180.

ABSTRACT

The most common complications that are associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy are: bad splits, postoperative infection, removal of osteosynthesis material, and neurosensory disturbances of the lower lip. Particularly in elective orthognathic surgery, it is important that surgeons inform their patients about the risk of these complications and attempt to minimise these risks. The purpose of this literature review and meta-analysis is to provide an overview of these common complications and their risk factors.

After a systematic electronic database search, 59 studies were identified and included in this review. For each complication, a pooled mean incidence was computed. Both the pooled study group and the pooled 'complication group' were analysed.

The mean incidences for bad split (2.3% per sagittal split osteotomy; SSO), postoperative infection (9.6% per patient), removal of the osteosynthesis material (11.2% per patient), and neurosensory disturbances of the lower lip (33.9% per patient) are reported. Regularly reported risk factors for complications were the patient's age, smoking habits, presence of third molars, the surgical technique and type of osteosynthesis material. This information may help the surgeon to minimise the risk of these complications and inform the patient about the risks of complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy.

INTRODUCTION

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is an orthognathic surgical technique used to treat mandibular deformity. It was first described by Trauner and Obwegeser in 1957.^{1, 2} Soon after its introduction, several important and widely used modifications had been suggested by Dal Pont, Hunsuck, and Epker.³⁻⁵ Since then, this well-designed and valuable technique has become an important cornerstone of maxillofacial surgery. Nevertheless, it is associated with several complications, such as unfavourable fracture patterns (bad splits), postoperative infection, the need for postoperative removal of osteosynthesis material, and neurosensory disturbances (NSD) of the lower lip.⁶⁻⁹ Because of the elective nature of BSSO, it is important to reduce the risk of complications as much as possible. Furthermore, preoperative counselling and informing the patient are considered to be of paramount importance in surgery. The surgeon therefore should know the general incidence of common complications. This allows for patient-specific counselling prior to performing BSSO and enables surgeons to evaluate their work critically and maximise the chance of success.

The aim of this review is to provide an evidence-based overview of the incidence of common complications associated with BSSO and to discuss the risk factors related to these complications. This review includes the occurrence of bad splits, postoperative infection, removal of symptomatic osteosynthesis material, and permanent neurosensory disturbances of the lower lip. The impact of common risk factors, such as the patient's age, gender, smoking habits, the presence of mandibular third molars, and concomitant procedures, were analysed and discussed. This information could help surgeons to prevent these complications.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

This review was registered on http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO as CRD4201502034 and conducted in accordance with the PRISMA statement.¹⁰

Study identification

An electronic search of Pubmed, Embase, and World of Science databases was performed. Keywords were used with their truncations and the corresponding Medical Subject Heading (MeSH) terms in various combinations. Keywords included: risk, risk factors, complication, intraoperative complications, postoperative complications, orthognathic surgery, mandibular advancement, sagittal ramus split, sagittal split osteotomy, BSSO, bad split, unfavourable fracture, lingual split pattern, lingual fracture line, infection, device removal, removal of osteosynthesis material, screws, plates, inferior alveolar nerve, neurosensory disturbances, hypoesthesia, and sensory function.

Prospective and retrospective original research papers describing clinically observed intraoperative or post-operative complications associated with BSSO (bad splits, infection, removal of osteosynthesis material, and neurosensory disturbances) were included. In vitro studies and animal studies were excluded. Letters to the editor and conference abstracts were excluded because of the lack of detail in the description of materials and methods. Non-English articles were also excluded.

This review aimed to analyse BSSO performed according to modern surgical techniques. Therefore, articles published before 1985, using less modern techniques, were excluded. Postoperative infection and removal of hardware were investigated after BSSO with rigid fixation, using titanium osteosynthesis material. Studies that investigated other non-standard fixation techniques or that used bioresorbable fixation materials were excluded. If the operative technique was not clear, or if different orthognathic operative techniques were analysed together without identifying the BSSO-specific outcome, the paper was excluded.

In order to prevent inclusion of small, less coherent studies, the minimum number of patients for inclusion in this review was 25 subjects (50 SSOs) for assessing short-term complications (bad splits, infection, and removal of osteosynthesis material) and 50 subjects (100 SSOs) with a minimal follow-up of 1 year for assessing long-term complications (neurosensory disturbances). With regard to neurosensory disturbances, studies using subjective tests (such as questionnaires, light-touch detection, etc.) were included, as these are reported to show the highest sensitivity for detecting neurosensory disturbances. Studies using only quantitative analyses of NSD (i.e., threshold tests) were excluded.

Data extraction

Articles that were identified through the electronic database search were first screened based on title and abstract. If the title or abstract mentioned one of the aforementioned postoperative complications associated with BSSO, the full-text article was obtained. Studies that met the inclusion criteria were analysed. The reference lists of the included studies were searched for possible additional relevant papers.

All data were recorded in an individual summary of the study and subsequently entered in a database. Demographic data of the patient groups were collected, including the number of patients, their mean age (with age range), distribution of gender, and smoking habits. Details of the surgical procedure, including the presence of mandibular third molars, the surgical technique used, and the method of fixation applied, were also noted. The incidences of different complications (bad splits, infection, removal of osteosynthesis material, and neurosensory disturbances) were recorded. Intra-operative complications (bad splits) were reported as the incidence per SSO. Postoperative complications were reported both as the incidence per SSO and the incidence per patient. When

a specific risk factor for one of the abovementioned complications was discussed in the study of interest, this was recorded in the summary of this study, and is subsequently reported in this review.

Quality assessment of the studies

The methodological index for non-randomised studies (MINORS) tool was used to assess the quality of the selected studies.¹¹ Information regarding the methodological items for nonrandomised studies was recorded on predesigned forms. This included the aim of the study, the method for inclusion and follow-up of patients, the protocol used for data collection, the method used for evaluation of the endpoints, the risk of bias, and the study size, including loss to follow-up. For comparative studies, the equivalence of the compared groups and statistical analyses were also evaluated. Each item was scored as 0 (not reported), 1 (reported but inadequate) or 2 (reported and adequate). The maximum MINORS score was 16 points for non-comparative studies and 24 points for comparative studies.

Meta-analysis

The patient groups of the included studies were analysed. A subdivision was made based on the four complications of interest (bad splits, infection, removal of osteosynthesis material, and NSD of the lower lip). Data from the study groups were pooled to compute a mean pooled incidence for each complication. A Forest plot was computed for the reported incidence of bad split per SSO, and for the incidences of infection, removal of osteosynthesis material, and NSD per patient.

For each study group, the mean age of the patients, distribution of gender, presence of third molars, and smoking habits were reported. Surgical specifications, such as the surgical technique and the type of fixation material used, were also noted in the database when they were reported in the included studies.

The distribution of age, gender, presence of third molars, and smoking was reported for the pooled study group and for the 'complication-group' in order to facilitate a simple comparison of the distribution of possible risk factors for each complication. The individual studies and their findings regarding risk factors for complications of interest are discussed.

RESULTS

Literature search

The initial database search identified 2537 articles. From these papers, 2443 could be excluded based on the title or abstract. The full-texts of 94 possibly relevant articles were then obtained. Searching the reference lists of these papers revealed no additional eligible articles. After strict application of the exclusion criteria, a total of 59 articles were included for analysis in our review. These papers were then subdivided based on the four complications of interest. Ten papers described more than 1 subject of interest. A flowchart summarising the literature search for this review and the subdivision in terms of subjects of interest is shown in Figure 1.

Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a literature review and meta-analysis



<u>Figure 1:</u> Flowchart summarising the approach followed in the literature search for studies describing risk factors for common complications after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO). Several papers described more than one subject of interest to this study.

Quality assessment

A total of 15 prospective and 44 retrospective studies were included in this review. Of the 39 noncomparative studies, 8 were prospective and 31 were retrospective. Of the 20 comparative studies, 7 were prospective and 13 were retrospective.

The MINORS scores of the included studies were assessed. For non-comparative studies, one study scored 8 points, ten studies scored 9 points, six studies scored 10 points, fourteen studies scored 11 points, seven studies scored 12 points and one study scored 13 points. For comparative studies, one study scored 14 points, three studies scored 15 points, four studies scored 16 points, one study scored 17 points, five studies scored 18 points, three studies scored 20 points and three studies scored 21 points. The range of MINORS scores thus ranged from 8 to 13 points (out of 16 points) for non-comparative studies and from 14 to 21 points (out of 24 points) for comparative studies.

Methodological flaws included an incomplete description of the protocol used for data collection or evaluation of the outcome, absent or incomplete description of statistical methods, absence of

baseline equivalence of the groups, and loss to follow-up of more than 5% of cases. Exclusion of specific studies or a subdivision based on risk-of-bias was found to be unnecessary, as there were no important methodological flaws that would relevantly influence the analysis.

Bad splits

Eighteen retrospective and three prospective papers describing bad splits were included. Two papers reported on the same patient group and were therefore analysed as one. The studies reported on 8225 patients that received 16359 SSOs in total. A total of 381 bad splits were reported. The pooled incidence of bad split was 2.3% per SSO (Figure 2). The reported incidences of bad split varied between 0.5% and 14.6% per SSO (Table 1).



Reported incidences of bad split

Figure 2: Forest plot for the reported incidence of bad splits per SSO.

Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a literature review and meta-analysis

Authors	Year	Patients	SSOs	Incidence (%/SSO)	
Van Merkesteyn et al. ¹²	1987	62	124	4.0	
Van de Perre et al. ¹³	1996	1233	2466	3.9	
Precious et al. ¹⁴	1998	633	1256	1.9	
Acebal-Bianco et al. ¹⁵	2000	802	1584	0.5	
Mehra et al. ¹⁶	2001	262	500	2.2	
Panula et al. ¹⁷	2001	515	1030	1.2	
Reyneke et al. ¹⁸	2002	70	139	2.9	
Borstlap et al. ¹⁹	2004	222	444	4.5	
Teltzrow et al. ²⁰	2005	1264	2528	1.0	
Van Merkesteyn et al. ²¹	2007	109	218	1.8	
Kim & Park ²²	2007	210	420	2.6	
Kriwalsky et al. ²³ & Veras et al. ²⁴	2008 2008	110	220	5.5	
Falter et al. ²⁵	2010	1008	2005	0.7	
Doucet et al. ²⁶	2012	339	677	3.1	
Mensink et al. ²⁷	2013	427	851	2.0	
Aarabi et al. ²⁸	2014	48	96	14.6	
Al-Nawas et al. ²⁹	2014	400	781	5.5	
Balaji ³⁰	2014	208	416	6.5	
Verweij et al. ³¹	2014	251	502	2.0	
Camargo et al. ³²	2015	52	102	2.9	

Table 1: The reported incidence of bad splits during BSSO.

The patients in the study groups consisted of 1% males and 65.9% females, with a mean age of 25.1 years (range 12.1-68.0). The relationship between gender and bad split was reported in eight articles, with 40.5% males and 59.5% females in the bad split group. The mean age of the bad split group was mentioned in nine articles, resulting in a pooled mean age of 30.3 years (SD: 6.7 years; range 15.0-61.0). The presence of third molars was mentioned in ten articles comprising 5110 SSOs. In 75 of 2172 SSOs (3.3%) involving third molars, a bad split occurred, in comparison to 72 of 2938 SSOs (2.4%) not involving third molars.

Male and female patients were reported to be at similar risk of bad split.^{14, 19, 25-28, 30-32} With regard to the influence of age on the occurrence of unfavourable fractures, reports varied.^{14, 25, 27, 30-32} Some authors found that older age was a risk factor for bad splits.^{23, 26, 28} Other authors, however, reported that younger patients have an increased risk for bad splits.^{16, 18}

The presence of mandibular third molars during BSSO is the most frequently reported risk factor for bad splits.^{14, 16, 18, 27, 31} Nevertheless, some authors found no significant association between third molars and bad splits.^{19, 23, 26, 32} Reyneke et al.¹⁸ reported age as a factor in the risk of bad splits associated with third molars. Mehra et al.¹⁶ found that the risk of bad split was increased in younger patients (< 20 years) with third molars and in older patients (> 40 years) without third molars. This is in accordance with the findings by Camargo et al.³², who reported that third molars do not increase the risk of bad splits in patients aged 30 years or older. Balaji³⁰ investigated the spatial position of unerupted third molars and reported that the type of impaction, degree of third molar development, and root morphology significantly influenced the risk of bad splits. In their study, the occurrence of unfavourable fractures was reported to be more likely when third molars with a distoangular/ vertical orientation or divergent roots were present.³⁰

The surgeon's expertise has also been reported to be of importance.¹⁸ Doucet et al.²⁶ reported that more bad splits occurred when BSSO was performed by residents. Borstlap et al.¹⁹ considered that the relatively high incidence of bad splits in their study was due to trainees performing BSSO in a teaching hospital. Al-Nawas et al.²⁹ reported more bad splits when BSSO was performed by inexperienced surgeons, although they did not report a significant difference. Falter et al.²⁵ described that increasing expertise of surgeons had no effect, but their study protocol prescribed that third molars should be removed six months before BSSO as standard practice, making the procedure more straightforward.

Mandibular morphology has been reported to influence both the difficulty of the procedure and the risk of bad splits. Mehra et al.¹⁶ reported no increased risk of bad splits relative to the occlusal plane angle or posterior mandibular height. Aarabi et al.²⁸ showed that the risk of bad splits was increased in buccolingually thinner and vertically smaller mandibles.

Some reports found that the osteotomy design influenced the risk of unfavourable fractures. An osteotomy procedure using an inferior border cut (Hunsuck modification) has been reported to result in significantly fewer bad splits than the traditional Obwegeser-Dal Pont techniques.²⁹ The use of either a splitter and separators or a mallet and chisels is reported to both result in a similar incidence of bad splits.²⁷

Infection

Ten retrospective and four prospective papers, describing postoperative infection after BSSO, were included in our review. All the prospective papers compared patient groups with different antibiotic treatments. The studies reported on 4123 patients in total. Postoperative infection occurred in 333 patients, and the reported incidences range from 2.0%-25.9% per patient (Table 2). The pooled incidence of postoperative infection was 9.6% per patient (Figure 3). Ten studies described infection rates per SSO. These studies described 5129 SSOs and postoperative infection occurred at 318 sites, resulting in a pooled incidence of 6.2% per SSO (range 1.0%-15.6%).



Reported incidences of postoperative infection

Figure 3: Forest plot for the reported incidence of postoperative infection per patient.

Authors	SSOs	Incidence (%/SSO)	Patients	Incidence (%/patient)
Bouwman et al. ³³	1334	1.12	667	-
Lindeboom et al. ³⁴	140	2.14	70	4.29
Baqain et al. ³⁵	62	9.68	31	19.35
Becelli et al. ³⁶	482	2.49	241	4.98
Spaey et al. ³⁷	1067	4.40	-	-
Teltzrow et al. ²⁰	-	-	1264	2.77
Alpha et al. ³⁸	1066	15.01	533	25.89
Theodossy et al. ³⁹	160	15.63	80	20.00
Chow et al. ⁴⁰	-	-	244	5.74
Jansisyanont et al. ⁴¹	196	1.02	98	2.04
Kuhlefelt et al. ⁴²	-	-	248	9.68
Wahab et al. ⁴³	120	5.83	60	11.67
Verweij et al. ³¹	502	8.17	251	15.14
Bouchard et al. ⁴⁴	-	-	336	11.31

<u>Table 2:</u> The reported incidence of infection after BSSO.

The patients in the study groups consisted of 33.4% males and 66.6% females with a mean age of 26.0 years (range 13.0-68.0 years). Five studies reported on the relationship between infection and gender, with 35.2% males and 64.8% females in the patient groups that experienced postoperative infection. The mean age of the patients with postoperative infection was mentioned in 3 studies, showing a mean age in the infection group of 29.7 years (range 14.6-51.0 years).

Three studies investigated the influence of smoking on postoperative infection in 71 smokers and 878 non-smokers. The incidence of infection after BSSO was 32.4% per patient in the smokers group and 19.3% in the non-smokers group.

Six studies reported on the influence of mandibular third molar removal during BSSO on infection. Of the 421 sites involving a third molar, 49 sites developed postoperative infection (11.6% per SSO), and of the 1730 sites without a third molar, 208 sites developed postoperative infection (12.0% per SSO).

Male and female patients were generally reported to have the same risk of postoperative infection.^{31, 34, 35, 38-40, 42, 44} Younger and older patients also exhibit similar infection rates in most articles.^{31, 34, 38, 40, 42} Bouchard et al.⁴⁴ and Theodossy et al.³⁹ however reported more infections with increasing age. Alpha et al.³⁸ reported that the intra-operative removal of third molars can influence the risk of postoperative infection, but most authors found no increased risk of infection when mandibular third molars were removed during surgery.^{31, 39, 44}

Several authors reported that smokers have an increased risk of postoperative infection after oral surgery, as compared to non-smokers.^{38, 42, 44} Systemic conditions, such as diabetes, were also reported to increase the risk of infection and to delay wound healing.³⁸

Procedures in the mandible were found to result in a greater risk of postoperative infection as compared to other maxillofacial procedures.^{37, 42, 43} The supero-anterior part of the buccal cortex is reported to be at risk for sequestration after BSSO, due to the poor blood supply of this area.^{33, 36} Moreover, the use of a drain has been reported to increase the risk of infection.³⁷

A total surgical time of more than 3 hours has been found to be a risk factor for infection in one study.³⁹ However, other clinical studies did not find a significant association between surgical time and infection.^{34, 35, 40, 42}

Removal of osteosynthesis material

Eleven studies described removal of osteosynthesis material, due to symptoms, after BSSO (Table 3). All studies were retrospective, except for 1 prospective study, which compared titanium and bioresorbable plate fixation. Of this prospective paper, only the results related to titanium fixation were included in our study. The studies reported on a total of 2809 patients. Removal of osteosynthesis material was necessary in 240 patients and the incidence ranged from 0.0% to 25.8% per patient (Table 3). The pooled incidence of removal of osteosynthesis removal was 11.2% per patient (Figure 4). Seven studies described removal of osteosynthesis material per SSO. The pooled incidence of removal of osteosynthesis material per SSO. The pooled incidence of removal of osteosynthesis material per SSO. The site was required for 200 of 3928 sites.



Reported incidences of removal of osteosynthesis material

Figure 4: Forest plot for the reported incidence of removal of osteosynthesis material per patient.

Authors	Type of fixation	SSOs	Incidence (%/SSO)	Patients	Incidence (%/patient)
Bouwman et al. ³³	S	1334	1.5	667	-
Lacey et al. ⁴⁵	S	-	-	83	14.5
Becelli et al. ³⁶	S	482	2.5	241	5.0
Alpha et al. ³⁸	Р	1066	6.6	533	10.1
Theodossy et al. ³⁹	Р	160	15.6	80	20.0
O'Connell et al. ⁴⁶	Р	78	0.0	39	0.0
Kuhlefelt et al. ⁴⁷	Р	306	18.3	153	19.0
Falter et al. ⁴⁸	Р	-	-	310	25.8
Van Bakelen et al. ⁴⁹	Р	-	-	116	11.2
Verweij et al. ⁵⁰	S	502	3.4	251	5.8
Bouchard et al. ⁴⁴	S	-	-	336	3.0

 $\frac{Table \; 3:}{S = Bicortical screw fixation, P = Miniplate fixation }$

The patients in the study group consisted of 32.6% males and 67.4% females, with a mean age of 27.3 years (range 13.0-68.0 years). Three studies reported on removal of osteosynthesis material and gender, with 31.6% males and 68.4% females in the group in which osteosynthesis material needed to be removed. Five studies reported on the relationship between age and removal of osteosynthesis, and found that the group in which osteosynthesis material needed to be removed had a mean age of 29.7 years (range 15.0-65.0 years).

With regard to the smoking habits of the patients, 3 studies reported that removal of osteosynthesis material was necessary in 15 of 40 smokers (37.5%) compared to 30 of 193 non-smokers (15.5%); thus, smokers more frequently required removal of osteosynthesis material. In the five studies that described the presence of third molars during BSSO, removal of osteosynthesis material was performed at 23 of 342 sites (6.7%) with third molars present during surgery and 84 of 634 sites (13.3%) without third molars during surgery. In five studies, miniplates were used as fixation material, and in six studies, bicortical screws were used. Removal of osteosynthesis material was necessary in 192 of 1225 patients (15.7%) with miniplate fixation and in 68 of 1578 patients (4.3%) with screw fixation.

Gender was not reported as a significant factor in removal of osteosynthesis material in most previous studies, although Falter et al.⁴⁸ did report an increased rate of plate removal for non-infectious symptoms in women.^{38, 44, 47, 50} Most studies reported no effect of increased age of the patient, although Theodossy et al.³⁹ and Bouchard et al.⁴⁴ reported that removal of osteosynthesis material was more frequently required in older patients.^{47, 48, 50} Lacey et al.⁴⁵ reported a higher rate of infected screws after third molar removal during BSSO and described exposed hardware in the socket as a possible reason for this. Other studies found no significant correlation between the presence of mandibular third molars during BSSO and removal of osteosynthesis material.^{39, 44, 50}

Risk factors for postoperative infection, such a smoking, have been reported to increase the need for removal of osteosynthesis material.⁴⁷ Placing the fixation near the inferior border of the mandible has been reported to prevent hardware removal, because of infectious symptoms, because of a poor blood supply to the supero-anterior part of the buccal cortex.^{33, 36, 38} The removal rates for monocortical miniplates and bicortical screws were markedly different.⁵⁰ No randomised studies comparing the removal rates after plate- or screw-fixation during BSSO were found.

Neurosensory disturbance

Sixteen retrospective and nine prospective papers reported subjective assessment if NSD of the inferior alveolar nerve persisting at least one year after BSSO and were included in our study. Two papers described the same patient group and were analysed as one. The studies reported on 3230 patients and 5408 SSOs in total. The reported incidences of NSD are described in Table 4. The pooled mean incidence of NSD was 33.9% per patient (range 0.0%-71.0%) and 21.7% per SSO (range 0.0%-48.8%). Figure 5 shows the Forest plot with the pooled mean incidence of permanent NSD per patient.



Reported incidences of NSD

Figure 5: Forest plot for the reported incidence of permanent neurosensory disturbance (NSD) per patient.

34

Chapter 2

Authors	SSOs	Incidence (%/SSO)	Patients	Incidence (%/patient)	
Scheerlinck et al. ⁵¹	206	17.0	103	-	
Posnick et al. ⁵²	112	18.8	56	28.6	
August et al. ⁵³	-	-	85	69.4	
Westermark et al. ⁵⁴ & Westermark et al. ⁵⁵	496	40.3	248	55.2	
Westermark et al. ⁵⁶	430	40.5	215	57.7	
Becelli et al. ⁵⁷	120	5.0	60	6.7	
Reyneke et al. ¹⁸	-	-	70	1.4	
Bothur et al. ⁵⁸	160	48.8	80	-	
Al-Bishri et al. ⁵⁹	185	36.8	93	50.5	
Borstlap et al. ¹⁹	444	13.1	222	20.7	
Nesari et al. ⁶⁰	136	31.6	68	-	
Van Merkesteyn et al. ²¹	218	4.1	109	8.3	
Espeland et al. ⁶¹	-	-	207	51.2	
Phillips et al. ⁶²	-	-	186	71.0	
D'Agostino et al. ⁶³	100	48.0	50	-	
Hanzelka et al. ⁶⁴	-	-	290	3.1	
Jokic et al. ⁶⁵	100	0.0	50	0.0	
Mensink et al. ⁶⁶	344	5.8	172	10.5	
Bruckmoser et al. ⁶⁷	206	22.8	103	-	
Gilles et al. ⁶⁸	102	2.0	51	-	
Politis et al. ⁶⁹	324	15.1	162	21.6	
Alolayan et al. ⁷⁰	-	-	57	63.2	
Politis et al. ⁷¹	-	-	128	9.4	
Verweij et al. ³¹	502	5.4	251	10.4	

Table 4: The reported incidences of permanent NSD after BSSO.

Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a literature review and meta-analysis

The patients in the study groups consisted of 33.6% males and 66.4% females, with a mean age of 26.8 years (range 12.6-72.4 years). The patient characteristic that was reported most often as an important predictor of NSD is increasing age.^{19, 31, 53, 54, 56, 58, 60-62, 66-70} The risk of permanent NSD after BSSO has been reported to increase with approximately 5% per year.^{66, 69} Patients over 30 years of age have been described as being vulnerable to nerve damage and subsequent permanent NSD.^{56, 60} These older patients have also been reported to experience an increased burden due to NSD, and were subsequently found to be less satisfied after BSSO.^{53, 61, 62, 72} Bothur et al.⁵⁸ and Bruckmoser et al.⁶⁷ reported female patients were at greater risk for NSD. In most studies, however, the patient's gender was found to have no significant influence on the risk of NSD.^{18, 31, 54, 56, 59, 60, 62, 65, 66, 69, 70} Third molar removal during surgery has been reported to increase the difficulty of the sagittal split, but not the risk of NSD.^{18, 31, 53, 66} Intra-operative complications, such as a bad split or bleeding have not been reported as a cause of NSD.^{19, 31, 53, 58}

Some authors reported no influence of nerve manipulation during surgery.^{18, 53, 64} Several other authors however reported that nerve encounters during the split does increase the risk of NSD.^{19, 31, 55, 60, 66, 67, 71} The risk of NSD was reported to be increased particularly when the nerve had to be released from the lateral segment.^{31, 60, 66, 71} Several authors propose using sagittal splitters or ultrasonic osteotomes to minimise the chance of iatrogenic nerve damage.^{31, 66, 68}

Some studies have described less NSD after setback surgery.^{21, 63, 65} However, other studies found no difference between patients with a class II or class III malocclusion.^{31, 59, 64, 67, 69} Large advancements/setbacks (> 7 mm) have been reported to increase the risk of NSD by increasing the difficulty of the procedure or the vulnerability of the patient by stretching the nerve.^{55, 73} Additional procedures in the upper jaw (i.e. Le Fort I osteotomy) have not been reported to influence the risk of NSD after BSSO. Several authors reported that genioplasty combined with BSSO increased the incidence of NSD.^{21, 31, 52, 55, 66, 69} Others did not find a significant increase of NSD due to genioplasty.^{53, 58, 59, 62, 67} Rigid fixation with either bicortical position screws or monocortical miniplates has been reported to result in a similar incidence of NSD with either technique.^{53, 58, 60, 67}

DISCUSSION

This systematic literature review and meta-analysis aimed to provide a mean complication rate that summarises the current literature regarding the most common complications associated with BSSO, such as bad splits; postoperative infection; removal of osteosynthesis material; and NSD of the lower lip.

Bad splits

Soon after the development of the BSSO technique, bad splits were described as a common intraoperative complication.^{6-8, 12, 74-76} There is, however, still no consensus in the literature about what incidence of this complication is considered acceptable and which risk factors increase the risk of unfavourable fractures. We found a mean pooled incidence of 2.3% per SSO by analysing the literature.

In their review, Chrcanovic et al.⁷⁷ reported an incidence of bad splits ranging between 0.21% and 22.72% per patient. The lowest incidence of bad splits in their review was reported in a letter to the editor, without description of study design or methods.⁷⁸ The highest incidence of bad splits was reported in papers published before 1980, which used traditional Obwegeser techniques.^{7,} ⁷⁴ In the current review, we have attempted to estimate a more contemporary, representative mean incidence of bad splits per SSO. Although the incidence of bad splits per patient is not reported consistently, bilateral bad splits are relatively rare, so that the incidence per patient can be assumed to be approximately double the incidence per SSO.

We found that the presence of third molars is regularly reported as a risk factor for bad splits, possibly in combination with the patient's age.^{18, 26} The spatial positioning of the third molar and experience of the surgeon might also play a role in this association.³⁰ It is plausible that the presence of third molars could increase the difficulty of the procedure, and therefore the risk of bad splits, particularly for less experienced surgeons.⁷⁹

Apart from patient-related risk factors, the occurrence of bad splits during BSSO probably depends first and foremost on the execution of the BSSO technique by the surgeon. Plooij et al.⁸⁰, Muto et al.⁸¹, and Song et al.⁸² showed that a horizontal and vertical bone cut in the osteotomy design and incomplete osteotomies can influence the lingual fracture pattern and therefore predispose to bad splits.

Infection

Postoperative infection is a common complication after any form of surgery. We report a mean pooled incidence of infection of 9.6% per patient. Smoking was reported as an important risk factor for infection.

In their Cochrane systematic review regarding the use of antibiotics in relation to orthognathic surgery, Brignardello-Petersen et al.⁸³ concluded that long-term antibiotic prophylaxis (before/during surgery and more than 1 day after surgery) probably decreases the risk of infection at the surgical site, and the information provided was insufficient to show whether any specific antibiotic was better than another. Therefore, it could be advisable to use long-term antibiotic prophylaxis, particularly in patients undergoing a surgical procedure that exceeds 3 hours and in patients who smoke. The exact preferred amount and type of prophylactic antibiotic to use exceeds the scope of this review.

Furthermore, possible precautions can be taken to prevent infection. Patients should be encouraged to stop smoking.⁴² Additionally, the occurrence of infection could possibly be further reduced by specific surgical precautions, such as using fibrin glue in the wound, instead of a drain.³⁷ When postoperative infection does occur, it is practically always effectively treated using a regiment of amoxicillin-clavulanate or clindamycin.⁸³

Removal of osteosynthesis material

The introduction of rigid fixation for BSSO has been an important development for this type of orthognathic surgery and has almost completely eliminated the need for intermaxillary fixation after BSSO.⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶ Removal of the titanium osteosynthesis material after BSSO can nevertheless be indicated because of the presence of several symptoms. We found a mean pooled incidence for removal of such material of 11.2% per patient.

When postoperative infection is present at the surgical site, it often requires removal of the hardware. Smoking is an important risk factor for removal of osteosynthesis material, based on infection. A thin layer of soft tissue covering the hardware could be more prone to result in wound dehiscence with subsequent infection. However, removal of osteosynthesis material can also be necessary because of subjective discomfort, palpability of the plates, or breakage of the material. There is thus some overlap between hardware removal and infection, but removal of osteosynthesis material is identified as a separate complication, requiring an additional surgical procedure.

After a comparison of studies reported in the literature, we found that removal of bicortical screws (4.3%) was necessary markedly less often than removal of titanium miniplates (15.7%). Possible explanations for this finding could be the fact that the design, size, and morphology of implanted material influences the risk of material-related infection or other complaints.⁵⁰ Miniplates, with monocortical screws, present much more 'foreign body material' than bicortical screws. This
enlarges the area for bacterial colonisation, which increases susceptibility of infection.⁸⁷ The size and position of miniplates also increase the chance that the material will be palpable, or other subjective complaints, which are indications for hardware removal. Based on the literature, we would therefore advise the use of bicortical screws to stabilise mandibular segments. If miniplates are used, it may be advisable to place the hardware closer to the caudal mandibular border to minimise the risk of complaints or wound healing problems.³⁸

Neurosensory disturbance

If any type of altered sensation is present one year after BSSO, it is considered permanent. These permanent NSD of the lower lip are probably the most important complication associated with BSSO. Many different subjective and objective tests are used in neurosensory examination.⁸⁸ In their literature review, Agbaje et al.⁸⁹ concluded that this lack of standardised assessment procedures results in a wide variation in the reported incidence of inferior alveolar nerve injury. The wide range of methods used also complicates the comparison between studies. Because this review aimed to provide a patient-focused approach to complications associated with BSSO, only studies reporting subjectively assessed NSD were included. We found a mean pooled incidence of 33.9% NSD per patient.

In their literature review, Ow et al.⁹⁰ reported persistent subjective IAN disturbance in 27.8% of cases, based on 14 articles, which is similar to our mean pooled incidence. Colella et al.⁹¹ reviewed seven studies, in which both objective and subjective neurosensory tests were used. They found an objective incidence of permanent NSD in 12.8% and a subjective incidence of 23.8%.⁹¹ Subjective assessment of NSD should thus be part of postoperative examination in order not to underestimate the incidence of neurosensory disturbances.

Based on the literature, age is probably the most important patient-related risk factor for NSD. Other characteristics of patients with NSD were unfortunately rarely mentioned in the previous papers, making further characterisation of the NSD group difficult. Some important factors could nevertheless help the surgeon in an attempt to prevent NSD after BSSO. Manipulation of the nerve during the surgical procedure generally increases the risk of NSD and should therefore be prevented.⁷¹ In their review, Mensink et al.⁹² investigated the risk of nerve damage due to the use of chisels along the buccal cortex and found higher reported rates of NSD after BSSO was performed with chisels instead of splitters and separators. Furthermore, after a successful sagittal split, it is advised that sharp bony spicules and trabeculae on the inside of the mandibular segments are carefully removed to prevent puncturing of the nerve during fixation. When fixating the proximal and distal mandibular segment, pressure that can crush the nerve should also be prevented.⁹³ These factors, combined with careful handling of the nerve by the surgeon during surgery, could help the surgeon minimise the risk of NSD as much as possible.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this systematic literature review and meta-analysis provides an overview of important common complications associated with BSSO. Pooled mean incidences were computed for bad splits (2.3% per SSO), postoperative infection (9.6% per patient), removal of osteosynthesis material (11.2% per patient), and NSDs of the lower lip (33.9% per patient). Regularly reported risk factors for complications are the patient's age, smoking habits, presence of third molars, the surgical technique and the type of osteosynthesis material.

REFERENCES

1. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. II. Operating methods for microgenia and distoclusion. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1957;10:787-92; contd.

2. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. I. Surgical procedures to correct mandibular prognathism and reshaping of the chin. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1957; 10:677-89; contd.

 Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism. J Oral Surg Anesth Hosp Dent Serv. 1961; 19:42-7.

4. Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. J Oral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

5. Epker BN, Wolford LM, Fish LC. Mandibular deficiency syndrome. II. Surgical considerations for mandibular advancement. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1978;45:349-63.

 White RP, Jr., Peters PB, Costich ER, Page HL, Jr. Evaluation of sagittal split-ramus osteotomy in 17 patients. J Oral Surg. 1969;27:851-5.

7. Guernsey LH, DeChamplain RW. Sequelae and complications of the intraoral sagittal osteotomy in the mandibular rami. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1971;32:176-92.

8. Behrman SJ. Complications of sagittal osteotomy of the mandibular ramus. J Oral Surg. 1972;30:554-61.

 Lindquist CC, Obeid G. Complications of genioplasty done alone or in combination with sagittal split-ramus osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1988;66:13-6.

 Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int J Surg. 2010;8:336-41.

11. Slim K, Nini E, Forestier D, Kwiatkowski F, Panis Y, Chipponi J. Methodological index for non-randomized studies (minors): development and validation of a new instrument. ANZ J Surg. 2003;73:712-6.

12. van Merkesteyn JP, Groot RH, van Leeuwaarden R, Kroon FH. Intra-operative complications in sagittal and vertical ramus osteotomies. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1987; 16:665-70.

 VandePerre JPA, Stoelinga PJW, Blijdorp PA, Brouns JJA, Hoppenreijs TJM. Perioperative morbidity in maxillofacial orthopaedic surgery: A retrospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 1996;24:263-70.

 Precious DS, Lung KE, Pynn BR, Goodday RH.
Presence of impacted teeth as a determining factor of unfavorable splits in 1256 sagittal-split osteotomies.
Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod.
1998;85:362-5. Acebal-Bianco F, Vuylsteke P, Mommaerts MY, De Clercq CAS. Perioperative complications in corrective facial orthopedic surgery: A 5-year retrospective study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2000;58:754-60.

 Mehra P, Castro V, Freitas RZ, Wolford LM. Complications of the mandibular sagittal split ramus osteotomy associated with the presence or absence of third molars. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2001;59:854-8; discussion 9.

 Panula K, Finne K, Oikarinen K. Incidence of complications and problems related to orthognathic surgery: a review of 655 patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2001;59:1128-36; discussion 37.

 Reyneke JP, Tsakiris P, Becker P. Age as a factor in the complication rate after removal of unerupted/impacted third molars at the time of mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:654-9.

19. Borstlap WA, Stoelinga PJW, Hoppenreijs TJM, van't Hof MA. Stabilisation of sagittal split advancement osteotomies with miniplates: A prospective, multicentre study with two-year follow-up Part I. Clinical parameters. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;33:433-41.

20. Teltzrow T, Kramer FJ, Schulze A, Baethge C, Brachvogel P. Perioperative complications following sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2005;33:307-13.

21. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2007;35:222-6.

22. Kim SG, Park SS. Incidence of complications and problems related to orthognathic surgery. J Otral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65:2438-44.

23. Kriwalsky MS, Maurer P, Veras RB, Eckert AW, Schubert J. Risk factors for a bad split during sagittal split osteotomy. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;46:177-9.

24. Veras RB, Kriwalsky MS, Hoffmann S, Maurer P, Schubert J. Functional and radiographic long-term results after bad split in orthognathic surgery. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;37:606-11.

25. Falter B, Schepers S, Vrielinck L, Lambrichts I, Thijs H, Politis C. Occurrence of bad splits during sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010;110:430-5.

26. Doucet JC, Morrison AD, Davis BR, Gregoire CE, Goodday R, Precious DS. The presence of mandibular third molars during sagittal split osteotomies does not increase the risk of complications. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:1935-43.

27. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco Bergsma J, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;51:525-9.

28. Aarabi M, Tabrizi R, Hekmat M, Shahidi S, Puzesh A. Relationship between mandibular anatomy and the occurrence of a bad split upon sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;72:2508-13.

29. Al-Nawas B, Kammerer PW, Hoffmann C, Moergel M, Koch FP, Wriedt S, et al. Influence of osteotomy procedure and surgical experience on early complications after orthognathic surgery in the mandible. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:e284-8.

30. Balaji SM. Impacted third molars in sagittal split osteotomies in mandibular prognathism and micrognathia. Ann Maxillofac Surg. 2014;4:39-44.

31. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:e359-63.

32. Camargo IB, Van Sickels JE, Curtis WJ. Simultaneous Removal of Third Molars During a Sagittal Split Does Not Increase the Incidence of Bad Splits in Patients Aged 30 Years or Older. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015.

33. Bouwman JP, Husak A, Putnam GD, Becking AG, Tuinzing DB. Screw fixation following bilateral sagittal ramus osteotomy for mandibular advancement—complications in 700 consecutive cases. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1995;33:231-4.

34. Lindeboom JA, Baas EM, Kroon FH. Prophylactic single-dose administration of 600 mg clindamycin versus 4-time administration of 600 mg clindamycin in orthognathic surgery: A prospective randomized study in bilateral mandibular sagittal ramus osteotomies. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;95:145-9.

35. Baqain ZH, Hyde N, Patrikidou A, Harris M. Antibiotic prophylaxis for orthognathic surgery: a prospective, randomised clinical trial. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;42:506-10.

 Becelli R, Fini G, Renzi G, Giovannetti F, Roefaro
Complications of bicortical screw fixation observed in 482 mandibular sagittal osteotomies. J Craniofac Surg. 2004; 15:64-8.t

37. Spacey YJ, Bettens RM, Mommaerts MY, Adriaens J, Van Landuyt HW, Abeloos JV, et al. A prospective study on infectious complications in orthognathic surgery. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2005;33:24-9.

38. Alpha C, O'Ryan F, Silva A, Poor D. The incidence of postoperative wound healing problems following sagittal ramus osteotomies stabilized with miniplates and monocortical screws. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;64:659-68.

39. Theodossy T, Jackson O, Petrie A, Lloyd T. Risk factors contributing to symptomatic plate removal following sagittal split osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;35:598-601.

40. Chow LK, Singh B, Chiu WK, Samman N. Prevalence of postoperative complications after orthognathic surgery: a 15-year review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65:984-92.

41. Jansisyanont P, Sessirisombat S, Sastravaha P, Bamroong P. Antibiotic prophylaxis for orthognathic surgery: a prospective, comparative, randomized study between amoxicillin-clavulanic acid and penicillin. J Med Assoc Thai. 2008;91:1726-31.

42. Kuhlefelt M, Laine P, Suominen AL, Lindqvist C, Thoren H. Smoking as a significant risk factor for infections after orthognathic surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:1643-7.

43. Wahab PU, Narayanan V, Nathan S, Madhulaxmi. Antibiotic prophylaxis for bilateral sagittal split osteotomies: a randomized, double-blind clinical study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42:352-5.

44. Bouchard C, Lalancette M. Infections after sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective analysis of 336 patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:158-61.

45. Lacey MS, Colcleugh RG. Infected screws in patients treated by mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1995;53:510-2; discussion 3.

46. O'Connell J, Murphy C, Ikeagwuani O, Adley C, Kearns G. The fate of titanium miniplates and screws used in maxillofacial surgery: a 10 year retrospective study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38:731-5.

47. Kuhlefelt M, Laine P, Suominen-Taipale L, Ingman T, Lindqvist C, Thoren H. Risk factors contributing to symptomatic miniplate removal: a retrospective study of 153 bilateral sagittal split osteotomy patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;39:430-5.

 Falter B, Schepers S, Vrielinck L, Lambrichts I, Politis C. Plate removal following orthognathic surgery. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2011;112:737-43.

49. van Bakelen NB, Buijs GJ, Jansma J, de Visscher JG, Hoppenreijs TJ, Bergsma JE, et al. Comparison of biodegradable and titanium fixation systems in maxillo-facial surgery: a two-year multi-center randomized controlled trial. J Dent Res. 2013;92:1100-5.

50. Verweij JP, Houppermans PN, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JP. Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients, and review of published papers. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;52:756-60.

51. Scheerlinck JP, Stoelinga PJ, Blijdorp PA, Brouns JJ, Nijs ML. Sagittal split advancement osteotomies stabilized with miniplates. A 2-5-year follow-up. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1994;23:127-31.

52. Posnick JC, Al-Qattan MM, Stepner NM. Alteration in facial sensibility in adolescents following sagittal split and chin osteotomies of the mandible. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1996;97:920-7.

53. August M, Marchena J, Donady J, Kaban L. Neurosensory deficit and functional impairment after sagittal ramus osteotomy: a long-term follow-up study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;56:1231-5; discussion 6.

54. Westermark A, Bystedt H, von Konow L. Inferior alveolar nerve function after mandibular osteotomies. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;36:425-8.

55. Westermark A, Bystedt H, von Konow L. Inferior alveolar nerve function after sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible: correlation with degree of intraoperative nerve encounter and other variables in 496 operations. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;36:429-33.

 Westermark A, Englesson L, Bongenhielm U. Neurosensory function after sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible: a comparison between subjective evaluation and objective assessment. Int J Adult Orthodon Orthognath Surg. 1999;14:268-75.

57. Becelli R, Renzi G, Carboni A, Cerulli G, Gasparini G. Inferior alveolar nerve impairment after mandibular sagittal split osteotomy: an analysis of spontaneous recovery patterns observed in 60 patients. J Craniofac Surg. 2002; 13:315-20.

58. Bothur S, Blomqvist JE. Patient perception of neurosensory deficit after sagittal split osteotomy in the mandible. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2003; 111:373-7.

59. Al-Bishri A, Dahlberg G, Barghash Z, Rosenquist J, Sunzel B. Incidence of neurosensory disturbance after sagittal split osteotomy alone or combined with genioplasty. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;42:105-11.

60. Nesari S, Kahnberg KE, Rasmusson L. Neurosensory function of the inferior alveolar nerve after bilateral sagittal ramus osteotomy: a retrospective study of 68 patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2005;34:495-8.

61. Espeland L, Hogevold HE, Stenvik A. A 3-year patient-centred follow-up of 516 consecutively treated orthognathic surgery patients. Eur J Orthod. 2008;30:24-30.

62. Phillips C, Kim SH, Essick G, Tucker M, Turvey TA. Sensory retraining after orthognathic surgery: effect on patient report of altered sensations. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2009; 136:788-94.

63. D'Agostino A, Trevisiol L, Gugole F, Bondi V, Nocini PF. Complications of orthognathic surgery: the inferior alveolar nerve. J Craniofac Surg. 2010;21:1189-95.

64. Hanzelka T, Foltan R, Pavlikova G, Horka E, Sedy J. The role of intraoperative positioning of the inferior alveolar nerve on postoperative paresthesia after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible: prospective clinical study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;40:901-6.

65. Jokic D, Jokic D, Uglesic V, Knezevic P, Macan D. Altered light-touch sensation after bilateral sagittal-split osteotomy: a prospective study of 50 patients. Angle Orthod. 2012;82:1029-32. 66. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

67. Bruckmoser E, Bulla M, Alacamlioglu Y, Steiner I, Watzke IM. Factors influencing neurosensory disturbance after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: retrospective analysis after 6 and 12 months. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2013; 115:473-82.

68. Gilles R, Couvreur T, Dammous S. Ultrasonic orthognathic surgery: enhancements to established osteotomies. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42:981-7.

69. Politis C, Sun Y, Lambrichts I, Agbaje JO. Self-reported hypoesthesia of the lower lip after sagittal split osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42:823-9.

 Alolayan AB, Leung YY. Risk factors of neurosensory disturbance following orthognathic surgery. PLoS One. 2014;9:e91055.

71. Politis C, Lambrichts I, Sun Y, Vrielinck L, Schepers S, Agbaje JO. Attachment rate of the inferior alveolar nerve to buccal plate during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy influences self-reported sensory impairment. J Craniofac Surg. 2014;25:2121-6.

72. Westermark A, Bystedt H, von Konow L. Patients' evaluation of the final result of sagittal split osteotomy: is it influenced by impaired sensitivity of the lower lip and chin? Int J Adult Orthodon Orthognath Surg. 1999; 14:135-9.

73. Van Sickels JE, Hatch J, Rugh J, Dolce C, Bays RA. Effects of age, amount of advancement and genioplasty on neurosensory distrubance following a BSSO. J Dent Res. 2002;81:A397-A.

74. Jonsson E, Svartz K, Welander U. Sagittal split technique I. Immediate postoperative conditions. A radiographic follow-up study. Int J Oral Surg. 1979;8:75-81.

75. Turvey TA. Intraoperative complications of sagittal osteotomy of the mandibular ramus: incidence and management. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1985;43:504-9.

76. Van Sickels JE, Jeter TS, Theriot BA. Management of an unfavorable lingual fracture during a sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1985;43:808-9.

77. Chrcanovic BR, Freire-Maia B. Risk factors and prevention of bad splits during sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012; 16: 19-27.

78. Akhtar S, Tuinzing DB. Unfavorable splits in sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1999;87:267-8.

79. Beukes J, Reyneke JP, Becker PJ. Variations in the anatomical dimensions of the mandibular ramus and the presence of third molars: Its effect on the sagittal split ramus osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42:303-7.

 Plooij JM, Naphausen MT, Maal TJ, Xi T, Rangel FA, Swennnen G, et al. 3D evaluation of the lingual fracture line after a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38:1244-9.

81. Muto T, Takahashi M, Akizuki K. Evaluation of the mandibular ramus fracture line after sagittal split ramus osteotomy using 3-dimensional computed tomography. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:e648-52.

82. Song JM, Kim YD. Three-dimensional evaluation of lingual split line after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in asymmetric prognathism. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;40:11-6.

83. Brignardello-Petersen R, Carrasco-Labra A, Araya I, Yanine N, Cordova Jara L, Villanueva J. Antibiotic prophylaxis for preventing infectious complications in orthognathic surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;1:Cd010266.

84. Spiessl B. [Osteosynthesis in sagittal osteotomy using the Obwegeser-Dal Pont method]. Fortschr Kiefer Gesichtschir. 1974; 18:145-8.

 Champy M, Lodde JP, Schmitt R, Jaeger JH, Muster D. Mandibular osteosynthesis by miniature screwed plates via a buccal approach. J Maxillofac Surg. 1978;6:14-21.

86. Lindorf HH. Sagittal ramus osteotomy with tandem screw fixation. Technique and results. J Maxillofac Surg. 1986; 14:311-6.

87. Moriarty TF, Schlegel U, Perren S, Richards RG. Infection in fracture fixation: can we influence infection rates through implant design? J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2010;21:1031-5. 88. Ylikontiola L, Kinnunen J, Oikarinen K. Comparison of different tests assessing neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;27:417-21.

 Agbaje JO, Salem AS, Lambrichts I, Jacobs R, Politis C. Systematic review of the incidence of inferior alveolar nerve injury in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy and the assessment of neurosensory disturbances. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;44:447-51.

90. Ow A, Cheung LK. Skeletal stability and complications of bilateral sagittal split osteotomies and mandibular distraction osteogenesis: an evidence-based review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;67:2344-53.

91. Colella G, Cannavale R, Vicidomini A, Lanza A. Neurosensory disturbance of the inferior alveolar nerve after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a systematic review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65:1707-15.

92. Mensink G, Gooris PJ, Bergsma JE, van Hooft E, van Merkesteyn JP. Influence of BSSO surgical technique on postoperative inferior alveolar nerve hypoesthesia: a systematic review of the literature. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:976-82.

 Fujioka M, Hirano A, Fujii T. Comparative study of inferior alveolar disturbance restoration after sagittal split osteotomy by means of bicortical versus monocortical osteosynthesis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1998; 102:37-41.



CHAPTER 3

Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in different age groups: a retrospective study of 263 patients

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR

Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in different age groups: a retrospective study of 263 patients

International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, 2016; 45: 898-903.

11

ABSTRACT

This study aimed to investigate the incidence of neurosensory disturbance (NSD) after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) in different age groups and assess the probability of sensory recovery in patients aged <19 years, 19–30 years and >30 years.

We subjectively and objectively assessed hypoaesthesia in the lower lip immediately, 1 week and 1, 6 and 12 months after BSSO. Hypoaesthesia was considered permanent if it was present one year after BSSO.

In older patients, the frequency of NSD immediately after surgery was significantly higher. The cumulative incidence of recovery at 1 year was lower and mean time to recovery was longer in the older patients, although these differences were not statistically significant. Older age was a significant risk factor for permanent hypoaesthesia with an incidence of 4.8% per patient <19 years; 7.9% per patient 19-30 years; and 15.2% per patient > 30 years.

The findings show that the risk of NSD after BSSO is significantly higher in older patients. These results can aid surgeons in pre-operative patient counselling and deciding the optimal age to perform BSSO.

INTRODUCTION

Neurosensory disturbance (NSD) of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) is one of the most frequently occurring complications of bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO). The most common manifestation is numbness of the lower lip (hypoaesthesia). In many patients, NSD resolves within several months after surgery.¹ However, if it is still present a year after surgery, it is considered permanent. This permanent hypoaesthesia leads to significant morbidity and is therefore an important complication of the elective BSSO procedure that should be explained to the patient before obtaining informed consent.²

During mandibular surgery, iatrogenic nerve damage and subsequent NSD can occur because of several factors. For example, IAN bruising can be caused by nerve compression during soft tissue dissection near the mandibular foramen, excessive nerve manipulation during splitting, the use of sharp instruments (chisels) during BSSO or the incorrect placement of screws.³⁻⁵ Large mandibular advancements and increasing age have also been described as risk factors for NSD.^{3, 4, 6, 7}

In our clinic, we perform BSSO using a sagittal splitter and separator (without the use of chisels) in an attempt to minimise the risk of hypoaesthesia.⁸ This retrospective study analysed the incidence of hypoaesthesia and time to recovery from hypoaesthesia after the use of this BSSO technique in different age groups.

The purpose of this study was to report the incidence of NSD of the IAN after BSSO in different age groups (<19 years, 19-30 years and >30 years) and further investigate NSD in these different age groups in order to provide information that will aid surgeons in explaining age-specific risks to patients and deciding the optimal age to perform BSSO.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

We conducted a retrospective cohort study, including patients who had undergone BSSO alone or bimaxillary procedures at the Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC). The patients' clinical records were screened for details of sex, age at surgery, pre-operative diagnosis and concomitant procedures. The surgical reports were reviewed to assess the intra-operative status of the IAN, which was classified as follows: not visible in the distal segment, less than half visible in the distal segment, more than half visible in the distal segment, prepared from the proximal segment either blunt or with a burr, and visibly damaged. The patients were divided into three groups on the basis of age: group A (<19 years); group B (19–30 years) and group C (>30 years).

Prospective collection of data regarding NSD after the BSSO procedure had started in our centre in 2004, so we included all consecutive patients undergoing BSSO between January 2004 and January 2014.³ Exclusion criteria included concomitant genioplasty, previous mandibular surgery and pre-existing hypoaesthesia. A minimum follow-up of six months was necessary for inclusion in this study.

The medical files of 320 patients were retrospectively reviewed. From this series, a total of 57 patients were excluded: 37 who required concomitant genioplasty, one with a previous history of orthognathic surgery, one with pre-existing hypoaesthesia and 18 who could be followed up for less than 6 months. All patients were treated according to the same procedures and the same clinical care was applied for all patients.

BSSO was performed using a sagittal splitter and separator according to the standard protocol in our centre.^{3, 8, 9} Fixation of the mandibular segments was performed with three bicortical position screws through the upper border of the buccal cortex into the lingual cortex (superior of the mandibular canal and nerve). BSSO was performed by one of seven maxillofacial surgeons on one side and by a resident under close supervision of the surgeon on the other side. All patients were discharged within a week after surgery and scheduled for clinical and radiographic evaluations at 1, 2 and 3 weeks and 1, 6 and 12 months after surgery. Although principally the last evaluation was performed 1 year after BSSO, not all patients wished to return after the 6 month evaluation moment. If patients experienced any NSD 6 months postoperatively, they were however always evaluated 1 year after surgery.

Neurosensory function was tested preoperatively, immediately after surgery and at clinical evaluation at 1 week and 6 and 12 months after BSSO. Hypoaesthesia was considered permanent if it was present 1 year after surgery. Neurosensory testing was performed in a standardised manner, using sensory testing methods that are most widely used in osteotomy studies.¹⁰ Sensory function was subjectively assessed by questioning the patient about altered sensation in the lower lip and by comparing contralateral sides. Light-touch detection was performed by the maxillofacial surgeon. It consisted of the surgeon softly touching the lower lip with cotton swabs and evaluating if the patient experienced reduced or altered sensation at the lower lip area. NSD was interpreted in as a binary outcome measure (absent/present). If any disturbance or altered sensation was noticed, hypoaesthesia was recorded as present.

This study was performed in accordance with the guidelines of our institution and followed the Declaration of Helsinki on medical protocol and ethics. Because of the retrospective nature of this study, it was granted a written exemption by the institutional review board of Leiden University Medical Center.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 20.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and R version 18 (The R Foundation, Vienna, Austria). Descriptive statistics were performed. Chi-squared tests and Student's t-tests were used when appropriate. Mixed models (GLMM) were used to study the effect of age group on the status of the nerve and the status of the third molar. The same model has been applied to investigate the effect of third molar status and nerve status on permanent hypoaesthesia. These models are required since the status of the nerve and the status of the third molar were assessed per side and mixed models are necessary to account for the correlated nature of the left and right side measurement within each patient.¹¹

The three age groups were retrospectively compared in this study, no control group was present. NSD was assessed at the patient level and therefore a univariate logistic regression model was employed to assess the effect of the three age groups on NSD after BSSO.

To study the effects of sex, type of malocclusion and concomitant Le Fort I osteotomy on the occurrence of NSD at the patient level, univariate logistic regression models are estimated.

To investigate the effects of age (age groups) on the time to recovery of nerve function, a Cox regression proportional hazards model was used. Recovery was defined as the absence of any sensory dysfunction. Therefore, the outcome was analysed on the patient level (NSD per patient). There was thus no correlated nature of the data (left and right side within one patient) in this analysis.

RESULTS

The study group comprised 263 patients (104 men and 159 women) who underwent 526 sagittal split osteotomies (SSOs/sites). Orthognathic surgery was performed to correct class II malocclusion in 226 patients (85.9%) and class III malocclusion in 37 patients (14.1%). In 86 patients (32.7%), BSSO was combined with Le Fort I osteotomy (bimaxillary procedure). Mandibular third molars were present at 196 sites (37.2%). The mean follow-up duration was 427.9 days (SD, 159.4; range, 188–1465 days).

	Group A (< 19 years)	Group B (19 – 30 years)	Group C (> 30 years)
Total number of patients	63 (24.0)	101 (38.4)	99 (37.6)
Mean (SD) age, age range (years)	17.1 (1.3), 13.8-18.9	22.7 (3.1), 19.0-29.8	40.6 (6.5), 30.1-55.6
Gender			
Male	19 (30.2)	50 (49.5)	35 (35.4)
Female	44 (69.8)	51 (50.5)	64 (64.6)
Malocclusion class			
II	54 (85.7)	78 (77.2)	94 (94.9)
	9 (14.3)	23 (22.7)	5 (5.1)
Third molars			
Present (%/site)	94 (74.6)	69 (34.2)	33 (16.7)
Absent (%/site)	32 (25.4)	133 (65.8)	165 (83.3)
Bimaxillary procedure	19 (30.2)	40 (39.6)	27 (27.3)
Mean (SD) follow-up time, range (days)	418.5 (136.2), 188-856	434.1 (194.9), 188-1465	427.6 (131.5), 212-904

Table 1: Groups' characteristics. Data represent the number of patients (%) unless otherwise indicated.

Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbance after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in different age groups: a restrospective study of 263 patients

	Group A (< 19 years)	Group B (19-30 years)	Group C (> 30 years)
Total number of sites	126	202	198
IAN not visible in the distal segment	21 (16.7)	36 (17.8)	24 (12.1)
Less than half of the IAN visible in the distal segment	30 (23.8)	35 (17.3)	27 (13.6)
More than half of the IAN visible in the distal segment	52 (41.2)	98 (48.5)	93 (47.0)
IAN prepared blunt from the proximal segment	11 (8.7)	15 (7.4)	31 (15.7)
IAN prepared with burr from the proximal segment	10 (7.9)	18 (8.9)	20 (10.1)
IAN visibly damaged	2 (1.6)	0 (0.0)	3 (1.5)
IAN not visible in the distal segment Less than half of the IAN visible in the distal segment More than half of the IAN visible in the distal segment IAN prepared blunt from the proximal segment IAN prepared with burr from the proximal segment IAN visibly damaged	123 21 (16.7) 30 (23.8) 52 (41.2) 11 (8.7) 10 (7.9) 2 (1.6)	36 (17.8) 35 (17.3) 98 (48.5) 15 (7.4) 18 (8.9) 0 (0.0)	170 24 (12.1) 27 (13.6) 93 (47.0) 31 (15.7) 20 (10.1) 3 (1.5)

Table 2: Status of the nerve during BSSO for the different groupsData represent the number of surgical sites (%).

The characteristics of the patients in groups A, B and C are presented in Table 1. The status of the nerve during BSSO in each group is represented in Table 2. There was a significant statistical association between the three age groups with regard to the presence of mandibular third molars (p < 0.01) and status of the nerve (p = 0.035). There was no significant effect of third molar status (p = 0.433) on hypoaesthesia. If the nerve was prepared from the proximal segment (either blunt or with a burr) or was visibly damaged during surgery, the risk of permanent NSD was significantly higher (p = 0.01).

Univariate logistic regression models for NSD at the patient level have been estimated. Risk factors used were sex (OR, 1.06; CI, 0.58–1.89; p = 0.87), type of malocclusion (OR, 1.12; CI, 0.51–2.49; p = 0.77), concomitant Le Fort I osteotomy (OR, 0.91; CI, 0.49–1.68; p = 0.76). The risk factors showed no significant association with permanent NSD.



Neurosensory disturbances (%/patient)

<u>Figure 1:</u> Bar chart showing the incidence of neurosensory disturbance in different age groups directly after BSSO and during clinical follow-up at 1 week, 1 month, 6 months and 1 year postoperatively.

The incidence of NSD in the three age groups during the clinical follow-up is represented in Figure 1. Immediately after BSSO, NSD was present in 132 patients (50.2%): 26 in group A (13 left side, eight right side, five bilateral), 43 in group B (12 left side, 15 right side, 16 bilateral) and 63 in group C (19 left side, 24 right side, 20 bilateral). Accordingly, the incidence of immediate post-operative NSD was 41.3% per patient in group A, 42.6% per patient in group B and 63.6% per patient in group C.

Logistic regression analysis to investigate the effects of age group on the occurrence of NSD immediately after BSSO was used. A significant association between age and NSD was found (p < 0.01). With group A as a reference group, the ORs for groups B and C were 1.06 (CI, 0.56–2.00) and 2.49 (CI, 1.30–4.76), respectively.

One year after BSSO, hypoaesthesia was observed in 26 patients (9.9%): three in group A (two left side, one right side), eight in group B (three left side, four right side, one bilateral) and 15 in group C (six left side, nine right side). Accordingly, the incidence of permanent hypoaesthesia was 4.8% per patient in group A, 7.9% per patient in group B and 15.2% per patient in group C. Logistic regression analysis to study the association between age group and permanent hypoaesthesia was employed. A significant association between age and permanent NSD was found (p = 0.05). With group A as a reference group, the ORs for groups B and C were 1.72 (CI, 0.44–6.74) and 3.57 (CI, 1.00–12.89), respectively.

The cumulative incidence of recovery at 1 year after BSSO was 0.833%, 0.702% and 0.593%, respectively, in groups A, B and C. The cumulative incidence of post-operative sensory recovery in each age group is shown in Figure 2. The hazard ratio decreased with increasing age, implying that the older group experienced recovery at a later stage compared with the younger groups. However, the difference among groups was not statistically significant (p = 0.33). The hazard ratios and mean time to recovery in each age group are shown in Table 3.

Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbance after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in different age groups: a restrospective study of 263 patients



<u>Figure 2:</u> Graph of the cumulative incidence of recovery of nerve function in different age groups, showing a lower cumulative incidence of recovery one year after BSSO in the older groups.

	Group A	Group B	Group C
	(<19 years)	(19-30 years)	(> 30 years)
Hazard ratio for recovery	reference category	0.95	0.74
(95% CI)		(0.50-1.80)	(0.17-3.18)
Mean time to recovery (days)	83.69	99.30	203.83
(95% CI)	(38.47-128.91)	(68.13-130-46)	(26.36-152.16)

Table 3: Recovery hazard ratios and mean time to recovery along with 95% CI corresponding to the three age groups.

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to analyse the incidence of NSD after BSSO in different age groups and investigate the time to recovery of nerve function. In the older patients, we found a significantly higher incidence of NSD immediately after surgery and permanent NSD. Although a trend for slower recovery and a lower probability of recovery was observed for the older patients 1 year after BSSO, this difference was not statistically significant.

During the assessment of NSD, both objective and subjective assessments are used to evaluate sensory function and the possibility of hypoaesthesia. In this study, we recorded hypoaesthesia if either objective or subjective tests indicated altered sensation in the lower lip area, in order to avoid underestimation of the incidence of NSD. We found that the overall incidence of permanent hypoaesthesia was 9.9% per patient (5.1% per site). In the literature, the reported incidence of permanent hypoaesthesia after BSSO varies between 0% and 85% patient.¹² Few studies have reported an incidence below 10%.^{4, 5, 13, 14} We speculate that the relatively low incidence of NSD in our study was due to our technique, which involved the use of sagittal splitters and separators to perform BSSO without the use of chisels.³

The frequency of NSD immediately after surgery was significantly higher in the oldest patient group (>30 years). This indicates that the difference between younger and older patients is already established during surgery. With increasing age, neurons show axonal atrophy and degeneration.¹⁵ Therefore, we believe that the loss of nerve fibres in older patients can play a role in the increased risk of nerve damage, and older patients are inherently more prone to iatrogenic damage during surgery. Furthermore, a lower probability of recovery and a longer time to recovery were observed in the older patients. Although this difference in recovery between age groups was not statistically significant, the trend was apparent. Functional recovery of nerve function depends on the survival of injured neurons and functional re-innervation of target tissue. Older patients have been reported to show decreased nerve regeneration and re-innervation.¹⁵ It may be hypothesised that older patients exhibit not only a higher risk of NSD after surgery but also decreased recovery, even though this study does not prove the latter part of this hypothesis.

The incidence of permanent NSD in specific age groups is rarely reported in the literature. Agespecific incidences are important and clinically relevant for the surgeon, particularly for preoperative counselling of individual patients about the risk of permanent hypoaesthesia. In our study, the incidence of permanent hypoaesthesia was 4.8% in patients aged <19 years, 7.9% in those aged 19–30 years and 15.2% in those aged >30 years.

Several different authors have reported a significant association between increasing age and an increased risk of permanent NSD. Westermark et al.¹⁶ reported that an older age significantly influenced IAN dysfunction. Ylikontiola et al.⁶ showed that hypoaesthesia was significantly associated with age, distance of mandibular movement and manipulation of the nerve. Van Sickels et al.⁷ also reported older age as a risk factor for NSD, particularly in patients undergoing large mandibular advancements or genioplasty. Borstlap et al.⁴ reported a significant effect of age on nerve recuperation, with the mean age of patients without and with hypoaesthesia being 24 and 31 years, respectively. Mensink et al.³ showed that the frequency of hypoaesthesia is higher in older patients, with a mean increased risk of 1.07 per year of increasing age. Politis et al.¹⁷ showed an increased risk of self-reported hypoaesthesia by 5% per year in his patients. All these findings are in concordance with the findings of our study. Therefore, we strongly believe that older age is an important risk factor for NSD. This information can also prove important for patients with obstructive sleep apnoea requiring BSSO, considering these patients are generally older.

Some authors also reported older age to be associated with an increased risk of other clinical complications after BSSO, such as bad splits, infection and non-union.¹⁸⁻²⁰ These reports are,

however, not always in concordance with other findings.^{4, 21} Therefore, the effects of age on clinical complications other than NSD remain unclear.

When investigating the influence of age on complications, it is important to consider any possible confounding factors that can hinder accurate interpretation of the observations, particularly when dealing with a complication that is difficult to assess, such as NSD. We decided to exclude patients who underwent additional genioplasty, because several authors have reported an increased risk of permanent hypoaesthesia due to genioplasty.^{3, 17} Some authors even reported associations among genioplasty, age and sensory deficits, confirming that genioplasty can be a confounding factor in the relationship between age and NSD.⁷

The status of the nerve during BSSO is another important factor for the development of permanent hypoaesthesia.^{3, 14, 21} This can also be associated with the surgical technique and osteotomy design. Therefore, BSSO was performed using the same technique in all patients.²² In this study, preparation of the nerve from the proximal segment was significantly associated with an increased risk of permanent NSD and the age groups were different with regard to the status of the IAN during BSSO. Increased manipulation of the nerve could therefore partially explain increased NSD in older patients. The anatomical position of the IAN in the ramus and body area was not assessed in this study, because earlier findings had shown no significant association between the position of the nerve in the ramus and body area and NSD.²³ Other surgical factors, such as duration of the procedure and experience of the surgeon have shown to not significantly influence NSD and were therefore not included in this study.²¹

Different authors have reported contradicting findings regarding the association between the presence of third molars and hypoaesthesia.^{24, 25} However, most authors reported no correlation between the presence of third molars and NSD.^{4, 21, 24} In our study group, the three age groups differed significantly with regard to the pre-operative presence of third molars. It is understandable that third molars are more often present in younger patients.²¹ Nevertheless, there was no significant association between the presence of third molars and the status of the nerve or NSD. We therefore believe that the presence of third molars did not significantly influence the incidence of hypoaesthesia in the different age groups. Other possible risk factors, such as sex, type of malocclusion and additional Le Fort I osteotomy showed no significant association with permanent hypoaesthesia in this study and were not considered influential in the development of NSD. Note that other confounding factors such as comorbidities or the use of medication could have influenced the outcomes in the different age groups; however, this was not investigated.

Permanent hypoaesthesia after BSSO negatively affects the patient's perceived quality of life and results in decreased patient satisfaction.^{2, 14} Therefore, it is one of the most important complications of BSSO. Older patients are considered more likely to experience interferences in daily life activities due to altered sensations after BSSO and are also at an increased risk of neuropathic pain, which is again responsible for patient dissatisfaction after BSSO.^{14,26}

Although the results of this study advocate the performance of BSSO at a younger age, the risk of relapse should also be considered. Borstlap et al.⁴ performed a prospective study and reported that a younger age (mean, 20.7 years) was a strong risk factor for the relapse of malocclusion. However, Den Besten et al.²⁷ reported no significant differences in skeletal stability after BSSO in patients under 18 years of age. In their literature review, Joss et al.²⁸ concluded that skeletal relapse after BSSO is multi-factorial and dependant on factors such as the amount of advancement, mandibular plane angle, soft tissue and muscles, future growth and pre-operative age. Therefore, BSSO can be performed in younger patients under certain circumstances; for example, when the amount of mandibular advancement required is less than 6 mm and/or when patients exhibit a low mandibular plane angle. Further research is necessary to investigate important considerations such

3

as the possibility of relapse in specific (younger) patients and the risk of (permanent) hypoaesthesia after BSSO.

In conclusion, the results of this study suggest that the incidence of NSD immediately after surgery and permanent NSD is lower in younger patients than in older patients. Furthermore, younger patients tend to exhibit a shorter recovery time and a higher hazard ratio for recovery. This information can aid surgeons in pre-operative counselling about the risk of hypoaesthesia and deciding the optimal age for BSSO.

REFERENCES

1. Monnazzi MS, Real-Gabrielli MF, Passeri LA, Gabrielli MA. Cutaneous sensibility impairment after mandibular sagittal split osteotomy: a prospective clinical study of the spontaneous recovery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:696-702.

2. Phillips C, Kim SH, Tucker M, Turvey TA. Sensory retraining: burden in daily life related to altered sensation after orthognathic surgery, a randomized clinical trial. Orthod & Craniofac Res. 2010; 13:169-78.

3. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

4. Borstlap WA, Stoelinga PJ, Hoppenreijs TJ, van't Hof MA. Stabilisation of sagittal split advancement osteotomies with miniplates: a prospective, multicentre study with two-year follow-up. Part I. Clinical parameters. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;33:433-41.

5. Becelli R, Fini G, Renzi G, Giovannetti F, Roefaro E. Complications of bicortical screw fixation observed in 482 mandibular sagittal osteotomies. J Craniofac Surg. 2004; 15:64-8.

6. Ylikontiola L, Kinnunen J, Oikarinen K. Factors affecting neurosensory disturbance after mandibular bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2000;58:1234-9.

7. Van Sickels JE, Hatch JP, Dolce C, Bays RA, Rugh JD. Effects of age, amount of advancement, and genioplasty on neurosensory disturbance after a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:1012-7.

8. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2007;35:222-6.

9. Verweij JP, Houppermans PN, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JP. Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients, and review of published papers. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;52:756-60.

10. Poort LJ, van Neck JW, van der Wal KG. Sensory testing of inferior alveolar nerve injuries: a review of methods used in prospective studies. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;67:292-300.

11. McCullagh PN, J.A. Generalized Linear Models: Chapman & Hall; 1989.

 Agbaje JO, Salem AS, Lambrichts I, Jacobs R, Politis C. Systematic review of the incidence of inferior alveolar nerve injury in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy and the assessment of neurosensory disturbances. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;44:447-51. 13. Wijbenga JG, Verlinden CR, Jansma J, Becking AG, Stegenga B. Long-lasting neurosensory disturbance following advancement of the retrognathic mandible: distraction osteogenesis versus bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38:719-25.

 Kuhlefelt M, Laine P, Suominen AL, Lindqvist C, Thoren H. Nerve manipulation during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases neurosensory disturbance and decreases patient satisfaction. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;72:2052 e1-5.

15. Verdu E, Ceballos D, Vilches JJ, Navarro X. Influence of aging on peripheral nerve function and regeneration. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2000;5:191-208.

16. Westermark A, Bystedt H, von Konow L. Inferior alveolar nerve function after sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible: correlation with degree of intraoperative nerve encounter and other variables in 496 operations. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;36:429-33.

 Politis C, Sun Y, Lambrichts I, Agbaje JO. Self-reported hypoesthesia of the lower lip after sagittal split osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42:823-9.

 Kriwalsky MS, Maurer P, Veras RB, Eckert AW, Schubert J. Risk factors for a bad split during sagittal split osteotomy. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;46:177-9.

 Bouchard C, Lalancette M. Infections after sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective analysis of 336 patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:158-61.

20. Teltzrow T, Kramer FJ, Schulze A, Baethge C, Brachvogel P. Perioperative complications following sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2005;33:307-13.

21. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:e359-63.

22. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PN, van Merkesteyn JP. Angled Osteotomy Design Aimed to Influence the Lingual Fracture Line in Bilateral Sagittal Split Osteotomy: A Human Cadaveric Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015.

23. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Morphological features of the mandible as predictors for neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2015.

24. Reyneke JP, Tsakiris P, Becker P. Age as a factor in the complication rate after removal of unerupted/impacted third molars at the time of mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:654-9.

25. Doucet JC, Morrison AD, Davis BR, Robertson CG, Goodday R, Precious DS. Concomitant removal of mandibular third molars during sagittal split osteotomy minimizes neurosensory dysfunction. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:2153-63.

26. Marchiori EC, Barber JS, Williams WB, Bui PQ, O'Ryan FS. Neuropathic pain following sagittal split ramus osteotomy of the mandible: prevalence, risk factors, and clinical course. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71:2115-22.

27. den Besten CA, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JP. Skeletal stability after mandibular advancement in bilateral sagittal split osteotomies during adolescence. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2013;41:e78-82.

28. Joss CU, Vassalli IM. Stability after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy advancement surgery with rigid internal fixation: a systematic review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;67:301-13.



CHAPTER 4

Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible performed with separators: retrospective study of 427 patients

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Bergsma JE, van Merkesteyn JPR

Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible performed with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients

British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 2013; 51: 525-529.

58

ABSTRACT

An unfavourable fracture, known as a bad split, is a common intra-operative complication in bilateral sagittal split ramus osteotomy (BSSO). The reported incidence of this complication ranges from 0.5 to 5.5% per site. Since 1994 BSSO has been performed in our clinic with sagittal splitters and separators, instead of chisels, in an attempt to prevent post-operative hypoesthesia. Theoretically, a higher percentage of bad splits could be expected with this technique. This retrospective study aimed to determine the incidence of bad splits associated with BSSO performed with splitters and separators. Furthermore, we assessed different risk factors for bad splits.

The study group consisted of 427 consecutive patients. The incidence of bad splits in this group was 2.0% per site. This is well within the range reported in the literature. The only predicting factor for a bad split was the removal of third molars concomitant with BSSO. There was no significant association between bad splits and age, sex, occlusion class, or the experience of the surgeon.

We believe that BSSO, performed with splitters and separators instead of chisels, does not increase the risk of a bad split and is therefore a safe technique with predictable results.

INTRODUCTION

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is one of the most frequently used operative techniques for correcting mandibular deformities.¹ Efforts to reduce complications associated with the procedure have led to several modifications, since it was first described by Trauner and Obwegeser.² However, the procedure still presents a certain degree of technical difficulty and is associated with several potential complications.

One such intra-operative complication associated with BSSO is an irregular osteotomy pattern or unfavourable fracture, known as a bad split.3 The reported incidence of bad split at a sagittal split osteotomy (SSO) site ranges from 0.5 to 5.5%.⁴⁻²⁰ This unwanted fracture is normally located in either the distal (lingual plate fracture) or proximal cortical plate (buccal plate fracture) of the mandible and more rarely affects the coronoid process or the condylar neck. When a bad split is adequately treated, the chances of functional success are good, though some limitations can occur.²¹ Therefore, the number of bad splits should be minimised.

Our clinic abandoned the use of chisels to minimise post-operative hypoesthesia.²² Instead, sagittal splitters and separators (i.e. elevators) are used.⁸ Theoretically, this technique could result in a higher percentage of bad splits. The purpose of this study is to retrospectively review bad splits of the mandible associated with BSSO using sagittal split separators, in a single centre over 17 years.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

We retrospectively analysed the clinical records and radiographs of 427 consecutive patients who underwent BSSO at our institution between July 1994 and December 2011. In 1994, we started to perform BSSO with sagittal splitters and separators instead of chisels. All planned BSSOs, single procedures, and those associated with other procedures were included (Table 1).

Procedure(s)	Patients	%
BSSO	229	53.6
BSSO + Le Fort I	124	29.0
BSSO + genioplasty	31	7.3
BSSO + Le Fort I + genioplasty	43	10.1

Table 1: Distribution of concomitant procedures in 427 patients. Data are presented as number (%) of operations.

The patients' medical files and orthopantomographs were screened for the patient's sex, age at surgery, pre-operative diagnosis, BSSO procedure (unilateral or bilateral), concomitant procedures, and presence of third molars. The status of third molars was classified as follows: absent at first consultation; removed prior to BSSO; removed concomitant with BSSO; or present after surgery. If third molars were left in situ, they were in occlusion with maxillary antagonists. Furthermore, we noted whether the BSSO was performed by a specialist or a resident, the occurrence of a bad split during surgery and type of bad split, the incidental use of chisels, and the method of postoperative fixation.

The patient sample consisted of 150 males and 277 females. The age at surgery ranged from 13.8 to 55.6 years (mean age, 27.3 [SD, 9.8 years]). In 363 cases, the mandible was moved ventrally to correct a class II malocclusion. A class III malocclusion was present in 59 patients, resulting in posterior movement of the mandible. Indications for BSSO are summarised in Table 2. Indications other than class II/III malocclusion (e.g. condylar hyperplasia or cleft lip and palate) were present in 5 cases.

Category	Patients	%
Class II malocclusion	363	85.0
Class III malocclusion	59	13.8
Other	5	1.2

Table 2: Indications for BSSO in our patients. Data are presented as number (%) of patients

BSSO was performed without the use of chisels, as first described by van Merkesteyn et al.^{8,22} Splitting forceps (Smith Ramus Separator 12 mm, Walter Lorentz Surgical, Jacksonville, FL, USA) and elevators were used. The procedures were performed while patients were under general anaesthesia. To reduce bleeding, the surgical area was infiltrated with epinephrine 1:160 000 (Ultracaine D-S, Aventis Pharma, Hoevelaken, The Netherlands). The mandibular ramus was exposed and the mandibular foramen was located. A periosteal elevator was placed subperiosteally just above the mandibular foramen, and the horizontal bone was cut with a Lindemann burr (2.3 × 22 mm) approximately 5 mm above the mandibular foramen. Subsequently, the sagittal and vertical cuts were made with a short Lindemann burr (1.4×5 mm). The inferior border was cut perpendicularly through the inferior cortex, just reaching the medial side. Splitting was done with an elevator positioned in the vertical bone cut and the splitting forceps in the sagittal bone cut. Once the superior aspect of the mandible started to split, the elevator was repositioned at the inferior end of the vertical cut, and splitting was completed. Care was taken to be certain that the inferior alveolar nerve was in the distal segment when the split was completed. A chisel was only used when a small bridge of cortical bone between the buccal and lingual segments remained at the inferior

border of the mandible, well below the level of the mandibular canal.

After mobilisation, the mandible was placed into the new intermaxillary relationship using a wafer, and intermaxillary wire fixation was applied. When possible, 3 bicortical screws (Martin GmbH, Tuttlingen, Germany; 9, 11, or 13 mm in length; 2.0 mm in diameter) were placed in the upper border of the mandible on both sides. Other fixation methods, such as Champy plates or upper wire fixation, were used if screw fixation was not optimal because of fragile bone, after removal of third molars or after a bad split. The temporary intermaxillary fixation was then removed, and the occlusion was checked. No elastic bands were used. Permanent intermaxillary fixation with upper border wiring was only used after a bad split or intra-oral vertical ramus osteotomy (IVRO).

All patients were discharged from the hospital within a week after the operation and were scheduled to return for evaluation approximately 1, 6, and 12 months after the discharge.

Statistical methods

All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 16.0 for Windows (SPSS, Inc.; Chicago, IL, USA). Crosstabs, Pearson's chi-square test, and logistic regression were used to assess associations between parameters. All statistical associations are reported with odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). A p-value smaller than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Out of 851 sagittal splits (427 patients), 17 bad splits occurred (2.0%). All the bad splits were unilateral, localised as 11 buccal plate fractures (64.7%), 5 lingual plate fractures (29.4%) and 1 condylar neck fracture (5.9%) (Figure 1 and 2). Although BSSO was planned in all cases, unilateral sagittal split osteotomy (USSO) was performed in 3 (0.7%) patients. One patient eventually underwent IVRO on both sides, after a large buccal plate fracture occurred during the first initial sagittal split. In 1 patient, a sagittal split was performed on one side and IVRO on the contralateral side, because of a very high mandibular foramen. In the third case, the operation was terminated after the first sagittal split, and fixation was completed without translocation of the mandible because of a large buccal plate fracture. The buccal plate was fixated and both lower third molars were removed. A successful BSSO was performed 6 months after the initial procedure.

The bad splits occurred in 6 males and 11 females (mean age, 29.3 years; range, 14.83–53.89 years). Sex (p = 0.988, OR 1.01, 95% CI 0.363–2.711) and older age (p = 0.399, OR 0.980, 95% CI 0.935–1.027) had no statistically significant association with bad splits during BSSO; however, bad splits occurred more in females than in males. Preoperative occlusion class was not a statistically significant factor either; bad splits occurred in 14 patients having a class II malocclusion and 2 patients having a class III malocclusion (p = 0.862, OR 1.143).

We analysed the duration between preoperative removal of third molars and bad splits. The preoperative status of third molars is summarised in Table 3. In 180 patients (328 sites), one or both third molars were absent at first consultation, making it impossible to determine the time of removal. Third molars were removed preoperatively in 177 patients (301 sites), with time of removal ranging from 1 month to 15 years prior to surgery (mean 10.4 months). Third molars were removed during BSSO in 120 patients (219 sites) and remained present after surgery in 4 patients (6 sites). The duration between removal of third molars and bad split had no statistically significant association with bad split (p = 0.149, OR 0.998, 95% CI 0.998–1.001). However, the removal of third molars concomitant with BSSO was positively associated with bad split (p = 0.041, OR 2.637). In 8 of the 17 bad splits, a third molar was present at the site of the split.

Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients

Category	Left side	%	Right side	%
Absent at first consultation	169	39.6	159	37.2
Removed prior to BSSO	148	34.7	153	35.8
Removed concomitant with BSSO	107	25.1	112	26.2
Present after surgery	3	0.7	3	0.7

Table 3: Status of lower third molars in our patients. Data are presented as number (%) of patients.

All patients were operated on by either experienced senior staff or a resident assisted by a senior staff member. In 165 (38.6%) patients, the sagittal splits on both sides were performed by senior staff; in 252 (59.1%) patients, senior staff performed the sagittal split on one side and a resident on the other side; and in 10 (2.3%) patients, a resident, supervised by senior staff, operated on both sides. The occurrence of bad splits was not associated with the residents' experience level (p = 0.472, OR 1.514, 95% CI 0.489–4.687).

Out of the 17 patients with a bad split, 2 patients (11.7% of the patients) experienced persistent neurosensory disturbances after at least 1 year.

In 403 (94.4%) patients, BSSO was performed with only spreaders and separators. A chisel was necessary in only 24 (5.6%) patients, because of a small bridge of cortical bone remaining at the inferior border of the mandible.

Bilateral screw fixation was used for postoperative mandibular fixation in 414 (97.4%) patients. In this group, 4 (0.9%) cases involved combined fixation with mini-plates, and 2 (0.4%) patients underwent screw fixation in combination with intermaxillary fixation (IMF). In 5 (1.2%) patients, unilateral plate fixation on 1 side was combined with screw fixation on the contralateral side, and bilateral plate fixation was used in 1 patient (0.2%). Plate fixation was used because of a bad split in 4 (0.9%) patients and fragile cortical bone in the other 6 (1.4%). Intermaxillary fixation was used on 9 (2.1%) patients (7 times after a bad split and twice after the IVRO).

All patients eventually recovered with good functional and aesthetic results.



Figure 1: The fracture lines and cuts of a BSSO including the most common unfavourable fractures. The incidence of the different types of bad splits in this study are mentioned in percentages.



Figure 2: Cone Beam Computed Tomography (CB-CT) scan of a horizontal buccal plate fracture of the left side of the mandible during a BSSO, reaching the incisura semilunaris (figure 1; type Ia). The proximal and distal segment of the mandibula were eventually fixated with two bicortical screws on the lower border of the mandible (in this CB-CT hidden behind the buccal segment), combined with plate fixation to attach the buccal segment.

DISCUSSION

The exact combination of factors resulting in bad split is unknown. Reported predictors for bad split are the presence of third molars and age at surgery. Advanced age has been reported to increase the risk of bad split.⁶ In our patients, age was not considered a complicating factor; we found no relationship between age and bad split.

No association between bad split and patient sex or surgeon experience has been reported, and our findings are consistent with the literature in this regard.^{10,11,12}

The removal of third molars before BSSO is controversial. Some suggest that if third molar removal is required, it should be done at least 6 months prior to orthognathic surgery.^{11,13,23} Other authors advise removal of third molars concomitant with surgery and describe fewer postoperative complications, like hypoesthesia, associated with this method.^{4,15,24} In our patients, there were significantly more bad splits during BSSO among those who had concomitant removal of the third molars.

Although one could expect that more healing time would reduce the risk of a bad split, our retrospective study did not allow us to infer an optimal timing for removing third molars prior to BSSO. In our clinic, most third molars that were present during the last five years before surgery were removed at the time of BSSO. This is because separate third molar removal is estimated to increase the risk of inferior alveolar nerve damage, and separate surgery was also more inconvenient for the patient as he/she would have to undergo multiple procedures instead of just one combined procedure.

One would expect bad splits to occur more often with less experienced surgeons, like residents. However, no such differences were found between senior staff members and residents, most likely because the latter were closely supervised during BSSO and corrected when necessary.

	Year of publication	Number of bad splits	SSO's (n)	Patients (n)	Incidence per site (%)	Incidence per patient (%)
Doucet et al ¹⁰	2011	21	677	339	3.1	6.2
Falter et al ¹¹	2010	14	2005	1008	0.7	1.4
Kriwalsky et al ¹²	2007	12	220	110	5.5	10.9
Kim and Park ¹³	2007	Ш		214		5.1
Van Merkesteyn et al ¹⁴	2007	2	222	111	0.9	1.8
Teltzrow et al ¹⁵	2005	12	2528	1264	0.5	0.9
Borstlap et al ¹⁶	2004	20	444	222	4.5	9.0
Reyneke et al ¹⁷	2002	4	139	70	2.9	5.7
Panula et al ¹⁸	2001	12		515		2.3
Mehra et al ¹⁹	2001	II	500	262	2.2	4.2
Acebal-Bianco et al ²⁰	2000	8		802		1.0
Precious et al ²¹	1998	24	1256	633	1.9	3.8
Van de Perre et al ²²	1996	97	2466	1233	3.9	7.9
Turvey ²³	1985	6	256	128	3.5	7.0
Martis ²⁴	1984	5		258		1.9
Macintosh ²⁵	1981	16		236		ó.8
Behrmann ²⁶	1972	10		600		1.7
White et al^{27}	1969	_	32	17	3.1	5.9

Table 4: Reported incidences of bad split during BSSO

In our study sample, a bad split occurred in 17 of 851 sagittal splits, which is consistent with the average reported in the literature (Table 4). Therefore, the use of splitters and separators without chisels does not lead to a higher risk of bad splits. The bad splits were localised as 11 (64.7%) buccal plate fractures, 5 (29.4%) lingual plate fractures, and 1 condylar neck fracture (Figure 1 and 2). When a bad split occurred, additional fixation was usually necessary. Buccal and lingual plate fractures could be fixated with screws and/or plates and sometimes IMF, depending on the fracture lines. The condylar neck fracture resulted from a bad split of the buccal segment, with the condylar neck attached to the distal segment. Therefore, the condylar process was purposely removed from the distal segment and fixation to the proximal segment was attempted. Because fixation to the proximal segment was not possible eventually upper border wiring and IMF were required. This procedure was almost similar, although accidently, to the recently discussed supraforaminal horizontal oblique osteotomy.²⁵

Although BSSO was planned in all patients, the procedure was converted to IVRO in 3 patients. IVRO is only possible during a setback and requires IMF, making it a suboptimal option. However, when a safe sagittal split is not possible, IVRO can be helpful in treating these difficult cases.

Since our goal in using splitters and separators was to reduce postoperative neurosensory disturbances after BSSO, the percentage of neurosensory disturbances after a bad split should not be increased. The incidence of persistent neurosensory disturbances after a bad split was 11.7% per patient in this study. Our reported incidence of neurosensory disturbances in previous studies using this technique was 10.5% per patient.²² Therefore bad splits using this technique do not introduce significantly more postoperative neurosensory disturbances.

The chances of good functional success after a bad split are high, and as such bad splits are regarded as complications without long-term consequences.^{5,21} Nevertheless, the number of bad splits should always be minimised because of negative short-term consequences, such as longer operation time, loss of surgeon concentration, use of intermaxillary fixation, and reoperation or conversion to IVRO with IMF. All patients in our group, including the patients with a bad split, functioned well after the operation(s).

CONCLUSION

The proportion of bad splits occurring during BSSO performed with splitting forceps and elevators is similar to the proportion of bad splits during conventional BSSO, performed with chisels. In our study, the only complicating factor that was predictive of a bad split was the removal of third molars concomitant with BSSO. The use of sagittal splitters and separators does not increase the risk of bad splits and is therefore a safe and predictable technique.

REFERENCES

 Wyatt WM. Sagittal ramus split osteotomy: literature review and suggested modification of technique. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1997: 35(2):137-141.

2. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. I. Surgical procedures to correct mandibular prognathism and reshaping of the chin. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1957: 10(7):677-689.

3. van Merkesteyn JP, Groot RH, van LR, Kroon FH. Intra-operative complications in sagittal and vertical ramus osteotomies. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1987: 16(6):665-670.

4. Doucet JC, Morrison AD, Davis BR, Gregoire CE, Goodday R, Precious DS. The presence of mandibular third molars during sagittal split osteotomies does not increase the risk of complications. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2012: 70(8):1935-1943.

5. Falter B, Schepers S, Vrielinck L, Lambrichts I, Thijs H, Politis C. Occurrence of bad splits during sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2010: 110(4):430-435.

6. Kriwalsky MS, Maurer P, Veras RB, Eckert AW, Schubert J. Risk factors for a bad split during sagittal split osteotomy. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2008: 46(3):177-179.

7. Kim SG, Park SS. Incidence of complications and problems related to orthognathic surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2007: 65(12):2438-2444.

8. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2007: 35(4-5):222-226.

9. Teltzrow T, Kramer FJ, Schulze A, Baethge C, Brachvogel P. Perioperative complications following sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2005: 33(5):307-313.

10. Borstlap WA, Stoelinga PJ, Hoppenreijs TJ, van't Hof MA. Stabilisation of sagittal split advancement osteotomies with miniplates: a prospective, multicentre study with two-year follow-up. Part I. Clinical parameters. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004: 33(5):433-441.

11. Reyneke JP, Tsakiris P, Becker P. Age as a factor in the complication rate after removal of unerupted/impacted third molars at the time of mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2002: 60(6):654-659.

12. Panula K, Finne K, Oikarinen K. Incidence of complications and problems related to orthognathic surgery: a review of 655 patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2001: 59(10):1128-1136.

 Mehra P, Castro V, Freitas RZ, Wolford LM. Complications of the mandibular sagittal split ramus osteotomy associated with the presence or absence of third molars. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2001: 59(8):854-858. Acebal-Bianco F, Vuylsteke PL, Mommaerts MY, De Clercq CA. Perioperative complications in corrective facial orthopedic surgery: a 5-year retrospective study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2000: 58(7):754-760.

 Precious DS, Lung KE, Pynn BR, Goodday RH.
Presence of impacted teeth as a determining factor of unfavorable splits in 1256 sagittal-split osteotomies. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1998: 85(4):362-365.

16. Van de Perre JP, Stoelinga PJ, Blijdorp PA, Brouns JJ, Hoppenreijs TJ. Perioperative morbidity in maxillofacial orthopaedic surgery: a retrospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 1996: 24(5):263-270.

 Turvey TA. Intraoperative complications of sagittal osteotomy of the mandibular ramus: incidence and management. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1985: 43(7):504-509.

 Martis CS. Complications after mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1984: 42(2):101-107.

 MacIntosh RB. Experience with the sagittal osteotomy of the mandibular ramus: a 13-year review. J Maxillofac Surg 1981: 9(3):151-165.

20. Behrman SJ. Complications of sagittal osteotomy of the mandibular ramus. J Oral Surg 1972: 30(8):554-561.

21. Veras RB, Kriwalsky MS, Hoffmann S, Maurer P, Schubert J. Functional and radiographic long-term results after bad split in orthognathic surgery. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2008: 37(7):606-611.

22. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: A multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg doi:10.1016/j/jcms.2012.02.2003.

23. Schwartz HC. Simultaneous removal of third molars during sagittal split osteotomies: the case against. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004: 62(9):1147-1149.

24. Precious DS. Removal of third molars with sagittal split osteotomies: the case for. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004: 62(9):1144-1146.

25. Kaduk WM, Podmelle F, Louis PJ. Revisiting the supraforaminal horizontal oblique osteotomy of the mandible. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2012: 70(2):421-428.



CHAPTER 5

Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients, and review of published papers

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Verweij JP, Houppermans PNWJ, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR

Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients, and review of published papers British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 2014; 52: 756-760.

ABSTRACT

Rigid fixation with either bicortical screws or mini-plates is the current standard to stabilise the mandibular segments after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO). Both techniques are widely used and the superiority of any one method is still under debate. One complication of rigid fixation is the need to remove the osteosynthesis material, due to associated complaints. The aim of this retrospective study was to analyse the incidence of symptomatic removal of bicortical screws after BSSO in our clinic. By reviewing the literature, we furthermore investigated the reported rates of screw and mini-plate removal. The mean (SD) follow-up duration of 251 patients (502 sites) was 432 (172) days. Incidence of bicortical screw removal in our clinic was 2.9% (14/486 sites). Alternative methods of fixation were used at 16 sites. No significant association was noted between bicortical screw removal and age, gender, presence of third molars, or bad splits. In the literature, reported rates of removal of bicortical screws and mini-plates are 3.1-7.2% and 6.5-22.2% per site, respectively. These findings show bicortical screw fixation after BSSO is associated with a low rate of symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material. Reported incidences in the literature imply a lower removal rate with screw fixation compared to miniplates.

INTRODUCTION

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO), first described by Trauner and Obwegeser¹, is a frequently used technique in orthognathic surgery. Dal Pont, Epker, and Hunsuck subsequently described widely used modifications of the original operative technique.²⁻⁴ Initially, the proximal and distal mandibular segments were fixed with a wire looped around the ramus, combined with jaw immobilisation and intermaxillary fixation (IMF).¹ In 1974, Spiessl introduced rigid fixation with lag screws, avoiding IMF.⁵ A few years later, Lindorff advocated placing position screws without compression, to prevent entrapment of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN).⁶ Rigid fixation with miniplates was popularised by Champy and has since become another method of choice for stabilising the mandibular segments after BSSO.⁷

Although rigid fixation has many advantages over the earlier techniques, post-operative complications associated with the osteosynthesis material can occur.⁸⁻¹⁰ One complication is the need to remove the osteosynthesis material because of related infection or irritation, or wound dehiscence. Although long-term consequences are rare, removal of the osteosynthesis material causes morbidity. Therefore, its incidence should be minimised, especially considering the elective nature of orthognathic surgery.

The aims of this retrospective study were to analyse the incidence of bicortical screw removal after BSSO in our clinic and compare in the literature reported rates of bicortical screw and mini-plate removal.

Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients and review of published papers

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The clinical records and radiographs of 259 consecutive patients who had undergone either BSSO or bimaxillary osteotomy, with or without genioplasty, were reviewed. The procedures had been performed between January 2004 and December 2011.



Figure 1: Intraoral view of the buccal cortex showing bicortical screw placement after BSSO.

The same procedures and clinical care had been applied in all cases. Preoperatively, the patients had received single-shot antimicrobial prophylaxis (penicillin, 1 × 106 units intravenously) and steroids (methylprednisolone intravenously, 2 × 25 mg on day 1, 2 × 12.5 mg on day 2, and 1 × 12.5 mg on day 3). Three senior staff surgeons operated in all cases, supervising a resident on the other side in almost all patients. BSSO had been performed with sagittal splitter and separators, without the use of chisels.^{11,12} After the sagittal split procedure, the mandible had been placed in the

new intermaxillary relationship and rigid fixation with 3 bicortical screws (Martin GmbH, Tuttlingen, Germany; 9, 11, or 13 mm in length and 2.0 mm in diameter) had been planned (Fig. 1). If fixation with bicortical screws had been unfavourable, mini-plates (Martin GmbH; 4- or 6-hole Champy mini-plates) had been used. The patients had been discharged 2 days after surgery and instructed to return to the clinic if they had any complaints. Clinical and radiographic evaluation had been planned at 1, 2, and 3 weeks and 3, 6, and 12 months post-operatively.

The patients' medical files were reviewed for information on the patients' gender, age, preoperative diagnosis, the status of the mandibular third molars, other simultaneous procedures, method of fixation, and post-operative removal of bicortical screws. If the osteosynthesis material had been removed, the reason had been noted: infection at the osteosynthesis site with inflamed tissue, granulation tissue, or intraoral fistula; wound dehiscence with visible osteosynthesis material; or radiographic bone loss around the material without symptoms. The osteosynthesis material could also be removed on the patient's request, usually because of irritation or tenderness at the osteosynthesis site without infectious symptoms.

Statistical analysis

Statistical evaluation was performed with SPSS version 20.0 for Windows software (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Cross tabulation, Pearson's chi-square test, Fisher's exact test, and logistic regression were used, as appropriate, to assess the significance of differences among the variables. All statistical associations are reported with the odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI). P-values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Of the 259 patients enrolled in the study, the records of 8 patients were excluded because of incomplete data. Therefore, the final study group comprised 251 patients. Their characteristics are listed in Table 1. The mean (SD) follow-up period was 432 (172) days. Twenty-one patients had not attended the clinical evaluation at 12 months and had been contacted by telephone.

Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients and review of published papers

Category	No of patients (%)	Mean (SD)	Range
Sex			
Male	90 (35.9)		
Female	161 (64.1)		
Age (years)		28 (11)	14-56
Occlusion Class			
II	219 (87.3)		
111	32 (12.7)		
Third molars (right side)			
Absent prior to BSSO	165 (65.7)		
Present during BSSO	86 (34.3)		
Third molars (left side)			
Absent prior to BSSO	168 (66.9)		
Present during BSSO	83 (33.1)		
Procedure			
BSSO	146 (58.2)		
+ Le Fort I	63 (25.1)		
+ genioplasty	11 (4.4)		
+ Le Fort I + genioplasty	31 (12.4)		
Follow-up time (days)		432 (172)	163-1465

Table 1: Patient characteristics.

Sagittal split osteotomy had been performed at 502 sites. Screw fixation had been performed in 246 patients (98.0%), bilaterally in 240 patients and unilaterally in 6 patients, with mini-plate fixation on the contralateral side. Mini-plates had been fixed on the right side in 5 patients and combined with one bicortical screw on the left side in 1 patient. The reasons for unilateral mini-plate fixation were bad splits (n = 3), decreased lingual cortical bone volume after third molar extraction (n = 1), a small mandibular body with possible danger to the IAN by bicortical screw fixation because of its anatomical position (n = 1), and burr malfunction and mini-plate fixation with other equipment (n = 1). Two patients (0.8%) had undergone bilateral mini-plate fixation because of decreased lingual cortical bone volume after third molar extraction. Three patients had undergone IMF because of bad splits.

	Patients	Sites
Screw fixation	246	486
Removal indicated (%)	12 (4.9)	14 (2.9)
Plate fixation	8	10
Removal indicated (%)	2 (25.0)	3 (30.0)
IMF	3	6

<u>Table 2</u>: Modes of fixation after BSSO with incidence of removal of osteosynthesis material. Removal of osteosynthesis material is indicated as number (%) of either patients or sites.

The different methods of fixation and incidence of removal of the osteosynthesis material are shown in Table 2. Removal of bicortical screws had been necessary at 14 of 486 sites. The incidence of screw removal was 2.9% per site. At 11 sites (78.6%), the reason for removal was related infection, including intraoral fistula in 6 cases. The screws at 3 sites had been removed on the patient's request, because of related irritation or tenderness. Of the 10 sites with mini-plates, removal of the osteosynthesis material had been necessary at 3 sites (2 patients). In one patient, bilateral mini-plates had been removed because of related infection with intraoral fistula on the left side. In the other patient, unilateral mini-plate fixation had been combined with one bicortical screw. The mini-plate had been removed because of intraoral fistula originating from the material, and the unaffected bicortical screw had been retained. In total, removal of the osteosynthesis material had thus been necessary in 14 of 248 patients (5.6%) at 17 of 496 sites (3.4%). All the patients had recovered well after removal of the osteosynthesis material.

Risk factors for screw removal were analysed between the removal and the non-removal groups of patients. Screw removal was indicated in 7 male and 5 female patients. The mean age in the removal group was 26.7 years (range, 15.0-37.7 years), compared with 27.8 years (range, 13.8-55.6 years) in the non-removal group. Gender (OR, 0.38; 95% CI, 0.12-1.23; p = 0.10) and age (OR, 0.99; 95% CI, 0.93-1.05; p = 0.71) were not significantly associated with removal of the osteosynthesis material. Further, pre-operative occlusion did not differ significantly in the removal group, consisting of 9 and 3 patients with class II and III malocclusions, respectively (OR, 2.87; 95% CI, 0.85-9.72; p = 0.08).

The association between presence of third molars during BSSO and post-operative removal of screws was also analysed. On the right side, screws had been removed at 7 sites, and third molars were present at 2 of these sites. On the left side, screw removal was indicated at 7 sites, but none of them contained third molars during BSSO. Presence of third molars was not significantly associated with screw removal (OR, 0.97; 95% CI, 0.92–1.03; p = 0.37).

Bad splits had occurred at 9 of the 502 sites (1.8%). These were sometimes an indication for an alternative method of fixation, but no osteosynthesis material had been removed in any of these patients.
DISCUSSION

In this study, the incidence of symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material after BSSO was analysed and compared with the reported rates of bicortical screw and mini-plate removal in the literature. The study showed a low incidence of symptomatic removal of bicortical screws (2.9% per site).

Rigid fixation has evident advantages over IMF in terms of function, patient comfort, stability, and relapse.¹³ Therefore, rigid fixation with bicortical screws or mini-plates and monocortical screws is the treatment of choice after BSSO and IMF is solely used if stabilisation of the bony segments cannot be achieved in another way. The superiority of any of these two fixation methods is controversial.^{14,15} Many different factors play a role in the choice for one osteosynthesis material and specific conditions sometimes require the application of one fixation technique instead of the other. The primary fixation method of choice in our clinic had been the placement of three bicortical positional screws in the superior border of the mandibular segments. In our opinion this provides a reliable rigid fixation specifically designed to fixate osteotomies. Bicortical screws seem to provide a more rigid fixation than mini-plates. Some authors therefore prefer screw fixation in asymmetric mandibles, although others specifically favour plate fixation in these cases.¹⁵ Further, a more natural seating of the condyle is achievable during bicortical screw fixation, because mini-plates could reduce the degree of adaption and thus induce changes in the condylar position. However, less rigid fixation with mini-plates creates less torque on the condylar process and minor occlusal discrepancies are probably adjusted more easily after surgery. Patients with mini-plates also tend to recover their masticatory function faster.¹⁶ Mini-plate fixation is furthermore indicated at sites with thin lingual cortex, such as after third molar extraction or bad splits.¹⁷

In this study, the patients had been scheduled to undergo rigid fixation with bicortical screws, which had been performed in almost all cases (96.8%). Fixation with mini-plates had been used when screw fixation had not been possible, for example, because of difficulty in achieving proper configuration of bicortical screws due to the mandibular anatomy or (in most cases) lack of the lingual cortex of the distal segment after third molar extraction or bad splits. IMF had been applied only after bad splits. The incidence of symptomatic removal of bicortical screws was 2.9% per site in our group. At three out of 10 sites, plate removal was necessary. The patients receiving plate fixation were however a small biased group, selected on the inability to use bicortical screws. Therefore, only screw removal was further analysed in our study.

First author	Year of publication	Number of patients	Number of sites	Screw removal (per patient)	Screw removal (per site)	Incidence per patient (%)	Incidence per site (%)
Bouwman ⁷	1995	667		20		3.0	
Lacey ¹⁷	1995	83	166	12	12	14.5	7.2
Becelli ⁸	2004	241	482	15	15	6.2	3.1
Verweij	Present study	246	486	12	14	4.9	2.9
<u>Table 3:</u> Reported	incidence of screw removal.						
First author	Year of publication	Number of patients	Number of sites	Plate removal (per patient)	Plate removal (per site)	Incidence per patient (%)	Incidence per site (%)
Brown ⁹	1989		18		4		22.2
Theodossy ¹⁸	2006	80	160	16	25	20	15.6
Alpha ¹⁹	2006	533	1066	54	70	10	6.5

<u>Table 4:</u> Reported incidence of plate removal.

2011

Falter²¹

18.2

18.6 25.8

- 56

29 80

306

159 310

Kuhlefelt²⁰ 2010

.

In the literature, the incidence of screw removal after BSSO varies between 3.1% and 7.2% per site (Table 3).^{8,9,18} The reported incidence of mini-plate removal after BSSO varies between 6.5% and 22.2% per site (Table 4).^{10,19-22} Infection is the main reason for removal of both screws and mini-plates.^{8-10,18-22} In the literature reported incidences of screw removal are remarkably lower than those of mini-plate removal. Research in the field of traumatology has shown that the design, size, and morphology of an implanted material influences the incidence of post-operative infection.²³ Mini-plates have multiple concavities and holes and are larger than screws. Their morphology thus enlarges the area for bacterial colonisation, increasing susceptibility to infection. If mini-plates are positioned too high in relation to the superior border of the mandible, necrosis and sequestration cranial to the material can occur.¹⁴ Furthermore, palpability of mini-plates could lead to irritation or sensitivity.

Removal of the osteosynthesis material is however only one measure of surgical outcome after BSSO and the key measures evidently are final occlusion and patient satisfaction. Moreover, other factors govern the choice between screw and mini-plate fixation after BSSO. After orthognathic surgery with rigid fixation, the condylar position in the glenoid fossa changes, leading to condylar remodelling and resorption.^{24,25} Bicortical screw fixation could increase the torque on the condyle. However, no comparative studies have been performed and the reported risk of condylar resorption after both fixation methods is similar.²⁴

The stab incision to place bicortical screws is not needed in mini-plate fixation, so no extra-oral scar can form and localised skin burns are avoidable. However, in our experience, the stab incision results in a small extra-oral scar, which is inconspicuous to the patient. Skin burns occur only because of the use of poor technique and are avoidable. Bouwman et al. reported a higher incidence of neurosensory disturbance with bicortical screw fixation than with IMF.⁸ Therefore, in bicortical screw fixation, care should be taken during screw placement with consideration of the IAN. Furthermore, the mandibular segments should be fixed with gentle force to prevent entrapment of the nerve, which can occur when the cortices are forcefully pressed together. These technical aspects depend mainly on the skill of the surgeon. Use of bicortical screws with the proper technique has been shown to be associated with a low incidence of neurosensory disturbances.^{11,12} However, the possibility of nerve injury remains; mini-plate fixation had been performed in one case to avoid this problem.

In conclusion, the findings of our retrospective review show that rigid fixation with 3 bicortical screws after BSSO is a reliable method with a low rate of post-operative removal of the osteosynthesis material. Reported incidences in the literature indicate a lower removal rate of bicortical screws compared to miniplates. These findings could help the surgeon to choose the appropriate method of fixation in the (controversial) decision between mini-plates and bicortical screws.

REFERENCES

 Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. I. Surgical procedures to correct mandibular prognathism and reshaping of the chin Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1957 Jul; 10(7):677-89.

2. Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism J Oral Surg Anesth Hosp Dent Serv 1961 Jan; 19:42-7.

3. Epker BN. Modifications in the sagittal osteotomy of the mandible J Oral Surg 1977 Feb;35(2):157-9.

4. Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism J Oral Surg 1968 Apr; 26(4):250-3.

5. Spiessl B. Osteosynthese bei sagittaler Osteotomie nach Obwegeser/Dal Pont. Fortschritte in Kieferund Gesichtschirurgie. XVIII. 1974. Stuttgart, Thieme. Schuchardt K.

6. Lindorf HH. Sagittal ramus osteotomy with tandem screw fixation. Technique and results J Maxillofac Surg 1986 Dec; 14(6):311-6.

 Champy M, Lodde JP, Schmitt R, Jaeger JH, Muster D. Mandibular osteosynthesis by miniature screwed plates via a buccal approach J Maxillofac Surg 1978 Feb;6(1):14-21.

 Bouwman JP, Husak A, Putnam GD, Becking AG, Tuinzing DB. Screw fixation following bilateral sagittal ramus osteotomy for mandibular advancement—complications in 700 consecutive cases Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1995 Aug; 33(4):231-4.

 Becelli R, Fini G, Renzi G, Giovannetti F, Roefaro E. Complications of bicortical screw fixation observed in 482 mandibular sagittal osteotomies J Craniofac Surg 2004 Jan; 15(1):64-8.

 Brown JS, Trotter M, Cliffe J, Ward-Booth RP, Williams ED. The fate of miniplates in facial trauma and orthognathic surgery: a retrospective study Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1989 Aug;27(4):306-15.

11. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2007 Jun; 35(4-5):222-6.

12. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2012 Dec;40(8):763-7.

13. Ellis E, III, Reynolds S, Carlson DS. Stability of the mandible following advancement: a comparison of three postsurgical fixation techniques Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1988 Jul;94(1):38-49.

14. Stoelinga PJ, Borstlap WA. The fixation of sagittal split osteotomies with miniplates: the versatility of a technique J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2003 Dec;61 (12):1471-6. 15. Ochs MW. Bicortical screw stabilization of sagittal split osteotomies J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2003 Dec;61(12):1477-84.

16. Yamashita Y, Otsuka T, Shigematsu M, Goto M. A long-term comparative study of two rigid internal fixation techniques in terms of masticatory function and neurosensory disturbance after mandibular correction by bilateral sagittal split ramus osteotomy Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2011 Apr;40(4):360-5.

17. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco BJ, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2013 Jan 8.

 Lacey MS, Colcleugh RG. Infected screws in patients treated by mandibular sagittal split osteotomy J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1995 May;53(5):510-2.

 Theodossy T, Jackson O, Petrie A, Lloyd T. Risk factors contributing to symptomatic plate removal following sagittal split osteotomy Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2006 Jul;35(7):598-601.

20. Alpha C, O'Ryan F, Silva A, Poor D. The incidence of postoperative wound healing problems following sagittal ramus osteotomies stabilized with miniplates and monocortical screws J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2006 Apr;64(4):659-68.

21. Kuhlefelt M, Laine P, Suominen-Taipale L, Ingman T, Lindqvist C, Thoren H. Risk factors contributing to symptomatic miniplate removal: a retrospective study of 153 bilateral sagittal split osteotomy patients Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2010 May;39(5):430-5.

22. Falter B, Schepers S, Vrielinck L, Lambrichts I, Politis C. Plate removal following orthognathic surgery Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2011 Dec; 112(6):737-43.

23. Moriarty TF, Schlegel U, Perren S, Richards RG. Infection in fracture fixation: can we influence infection rates through implant design? J Mater Sci Mater Med 2010 Mar;21(3):1031-5.

24. Cutbirth M, Van Sickels JE, Thrash WJ. Condylar resorption after bicortical screw fixation of mandibular advancement J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1998 Feb;56(2):178-82.

25. Borstlap WA, Stoelinga PJ, Hoppenreijs TJ, van't Hof MA. Stabilisation of sagittal split advancement osteotomies with miniplates: a prospective, multicentre study with two-year follow-up. Part III—condylar remodelling and resorption Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004 Oct;33(7):649-55.



CHAPTER 6

Are there risk factors for osseous mandibular inferior border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators?

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Verweij JP, van Rijssel JG, Fiocco M, Mensink G, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR

Are there risk factors for osseous mandibular inferior border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators?

Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery 2017; 45: 192-197.

80

ABSTRACT

Bone defects of the inferior mandibular border (osseous inferior border defects) can cause unaesthetic postoperative outcomes after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO). The aim of this study was to estimate the frequency of osseous inferior border defects after BSSO and identify risk factors for this complication.

This retrospective study included consecutive patients who underwent BSSO for mandibular retrognathia. The primary outcome was the presence/absence of osseous inferior border defects. Predictors included the mandibular movement, rotation of the occlusal plane, postoperative proximal segment position, pattern of the lingual fracture, occurrence of bad split, and presence of third molars.

The study sample consisted of 200 patients (mean follow-up of 13 months). The mean mandibular advancement and rotation was respectively 5.8 millimeters and 5.4 degrees clockwise. Osseous inferior border defects were present in 7.0% of splits and 12.5% of patients. Significant risk factors for inferior border defects included increased advancement, increased clockwise rotation, cranial rotation of the proximal segment, and a split originating in the lingual cortex.

In conclusion, osseous inferior border defects occur significantly more often in cases with large mandibular advancement, increased clockwise rotation of the occlusal plane, malpositioning of the proximal segment, and a split originating in the lingual cortex.

INTRODUCTION

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is a widely used orthognathic surgical technique for the correction of mandibular deformities. The main purpose of this elective procedure is the establishment of a class I occlusion with good function. Surgeons should also aim to establish a harmonious maxillofacial profile with good facial esthetics.

BSSO is associated with some well-known postoperative complications, including damage to the inferior alveolar nerve, bad split, postoperative infection, and symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material.¹ A less common postoperative complication of BSSO advancement is the occurrence of osseous mandibular inferior border defects. These bone defects occur at the inferior border of the mandible, near the vertical osteotomy site of the sagittal split.^{2, 3} They can cause visible and palpable dimples at the inferior border of the mandible and can result in an unaesthetic outcome of BSSO, leading to patient dissatisfaction.^{2, 4, 5} Inferior border defects can sometimes even necessitate secondary reconstruction using bone products or allogeneic implants.^{2, 4} These secondary procedures not only cause patient discomfort, but also pose a significant risk of iatrogenic damage.

Previously reported risk factors for the occurrence of osseous inferior border defects after BSSO include older age, increased extent of mandibular advancement, and inclusion of the full thickness of the mandibular inferior border in the split.² However, few studies have investigated this subject.

Surgeons should always attempt to avoid the occurrence of inferior border defects in order to increase patient satisfaction and minimize the risks associated with secondary procedures.

This study investigates the risk of osseous inferior border defects after BSSO according to the Hunsuck modification with sagittal splitter and separators. The investigators hypothesized that increased mandibular advancement, significant (clockwise) rotation of the occlusal plane, malpositioning of the proximal segment, the pattern of the lingual fracture, the occurrence of bad splits, and presence of third molars could play a role in the development of osseous inferior border defects. The specific aims of the study were to estimate the incidence of osseous inferior border defects and identify relevant risk factors associated with this complication.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study design/sample

To address the research purpose, the investigators designed and implemented a retrospective cohort study. The study population was composed of consecutive patients presenting for evaluation and management of retrognathia between July 2006 and March 2015 at the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery of the Leiden University Medical Center, the Netherlands. To be included in the study sample, patients had to have a class II malocclusion that was treated with BSSO according to the Hunsuck modification with sagittal splitter and separators. Single BSSO procedures as well as procedures combined with Le Fort I osteotomy and/or genioplasty were included in this study. Patients were excluded from this study if clinical follow-up was less than six months or radiographic evaluation was not available.

Surgical protocol

The BSSO procedures were performed by one of six consultant maxillofacial surgeons (specialists), usually closely supervising a resident operating on the contralateral side of the patient. All surgeons performed surgery according to the same surgical protocol, using the same osteotomy design and surgical technique, as reported in previous papers.^{6, 7} Residents performed surgery only under close supervision of the surgeon.

BSSO was performed according to the Hunsuck⁸ modification, using a sagittal splitter (Smith Ramus Separator 12 mm, Walter Lorentz Surgical, Jacksonville, FL, USA) and separators (Smith Sagittal Split Separators, curved, Walter Lorentz Surgical, Jacksonville, FL, USA). A short medial cut was placed just above the mandibular foramen. Subsequently, a sagittal cut was made over the anterior side of the ascending ramus towards the distal border of the second molar. The vertical osteotomy was always performed at the distal border of the second molar, perpendicular to the inferior border of the mandible. An inferior border cut was made completely passing through the inferior cortex and reaching the lingual cortex. The sagittal split was then performed using a splitter and separators without the use of chisels. The splitter was placed in the sagittal bone cut and the separator in the vertical bone cut, in order to guide the split. After successful splitting, the distal segment was fixed in its new position using an intermaxillary wafer. A small horizontal bone cut was performed in the medial side of the proximal segment, approximately at the midpoint of the vertical bone cut, and this mandibular segment was secured in its correct position using a Luniatschek ligature tucker. This technique was used to correctly secure the condyles in the glenoid fossa and, subsequently, position the proximal mandibular segment in line with the distal mandibular segment. The proximal segment was aligned with the distal segment by aligning the inferior mandibular border of both segments. Rigid fixation was then applied. Standard follow-up included clinical and radiographic evaluations at 1 week, 1 and 6 months, and 1 year after surgery.

Variables

The primary outcome variable in this study was the presence/absence of osseous inferior border defects. Osseous inferior border defects were defined as a bone defect in the inferior border of the mandible near the vertical osteotomy site. The occurrence of osseous inferior border defects was categorized on both sides of the patient as: 1) inferior mandibular border without relevant contour changes; 2) large contour changes of the inferior border equivalent to approximately one thickness of the inferior cortex; or 3) large contour changes of the inferior border corresponding to more than one cortical thickness. If a large contour change of the inferior border of more than one cortical thickness (category 3) was observed, an osseous inferior border defect was defined as 'present' during further analyses.

6

A set of predictor variables was used to investigate risk factors for osseous inferior border defects, including both operative and radiographic variables. Operative predictor variables included the presence/absence of bad splits. Radiographic predictor variables included the amount of mandibular movement (mm), the rotation of the occlusal plane (degrees), the postoperative position of the proximal segment, and the pattern of the lingual fracture. The position of the proximal segment was subcategorized as good anatomical position of the proximal segment, slight rotation of the proximal segment of less than one cortical thickness, or significant rotation of the proximal segment in a continuous line with the inferior mandibular border, this was defined as a good anatomical position of the lingual fracture was defined as either a type I or a type II split. A type I split (Figure 1) was defined when the inferior border had split on the lingual and buccal side with the cortical bone of the caudal cortex in both the proximal and distal segments. A type II split (Figure 2) was defined by a split originating in the lingual cortex (including the full thickness of the inferior border), leaving the complete bilateral caudal cortex attached to the proximal segment.

Patient and procedural characteristics were recorded. These characteristics included the age and sex of the patients, type of procedure (i.e., BSSO or bimaxillary procedure with or without genioplasty), and whether the procedure was performed by a specialist or by a resident under the close supervision of a specialist.



<u>Figure 1:</u> Type I split, with the lingual cortex attached to the distal mandibular segment.



Figure 2: Type II split, with the full thickness inferior cortex completely attached to the proximal mandibular segment.

Data collection methods

The occurrence of osseous inferior border defects was analyzed using preoperative radiographs and postoperative radiographs (orthopantomographic images) acquired at the latest follow-up (minimally 6 months after BSSO) (Figure 3). In the most recent orthopantomogram, a tangential line to the inferior mandibular border was visualized to assess if a contour change was present near the vertical osteotomy site. This contour change of the inferior mandibular border was measured relative to the thickness of the inferior cortex (i.e. more/less than one cortical thickness).

The presence/absence of third molars and the occurrence of bad splits during surgery had been recorded in surgical reports. The extent of mandibular advancement and the rotation of the occlusal plane were calculated from the pre- and postoperative lateral cephalograms by cephalometric measurement. The amount of mandibular advancement was measured as the distance (mm) between reference point pogonion in the pre- and postoperative cephalogram. In case of a genioplasty,

Are there risk factors for osseous mandibular inferior border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators

a reference point just above the chin-osteotomy was used. This distance between pogonion preoperatively and postoperatively was measured after precise superposition of the mandibular condyle and occlusal plane. The rotation of the occlusal plane was analyzed by superposing static reference points (mandibular condyle, sella, and nasion) and subsequently measuring the angle between the occlusal plane in the pre- and postoperative cephalogram. The assessment of the position of the proximal segment was performed through subjective evaluation by the surgeon, using orthopantomographic or cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) images acquired one week after surgery. The type of split was analyzed using orthopantomographic images that were recorded one week after surgery.

The findings are reported according to the STROBE guidelines for reporting on observational studies.⁹ The entire study was performed in accordance with the guidelines of our institution and followed the Declaration of Helsinki on medical protocol and ethics. Because of the retrospective nature of this study, it was granted an exemption by the Leiden University Medical Center institutional review board.



Figure 3a: Preoperative orthopantomographic image acquired a month before bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO).



<u>Figure 3b:</u> Orthopantomographic image acquired 2 days after BSSO, showing a defect on the right side. Note that the full thickness of the inferior cortex is attached to the proximal segment on the right side (type II split) and the proximal segment is positioned downwards and backwards (in line with the distal segment). On the left side, a type I split was present, and a forward and upward (cranial) rotation of the proximal segment is observed.



Figure 3c: Orthopantomographic image acquired a year after BSSO, showing an osseous inferior border defect on the right side.

Data analyses

Statistical analysis was performed with using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS version 23.0 for Mac; IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive analyses of the patient characteristics and specifics of the surgical procedures were performed first. The association between the risk factors and incidence of osseous inferior border defects was evaluated using generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) in order to account for the correlated nature of the data: repeated measures design involving the measurement of both the sagittal split osteotomy (SSO) on the right and left sides of each patient. Probabilities less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The medical records of 219 patients were evaluated, leading to the inclusion of 200 patients in this study. The exclusion of 19 patients was necessary because of follow-up durations of less than 6 months (10 patients) or absence of postoperative radiographs (9 patients). The patient characteristics of the final study group are represented in Table 1. The mean follow-up duration was 13 months (standard deviation [SD], 5 months; range, 6–38 months).

Category	n (%)
Sex	
Male	78 (39.0%)
Female	122 (61.0%)
Mean age (years)	29.7
SD, range	12.0, 13.8–55.6
Procedures	
BSSO	141 (70.5)
BSSO + Le Fort I osteotomy	40 (20.0)
BSSO + genioplasty	5 (2.5)
BSSO + Le Fort I osteotomy + genioplasty	14 (7.0)
Operating surgeon (SSO)	
Specialist	220 (55%)
Resident	180 (45%)
Mean mandibular advancement (mm)	5.8
SD, range	1.8, 1–11
Clockwise rotation (degrees)	5.4
SD, range	2.5, 0-13

<u>Table 1:</u> Patient characteristics. Data are represented as the number of patients (%) unless otherwise specified; SD, standard deviation; BSSO, bilateral sagittal split osteotomy.

The incidence of osseous inferior border defects is represented in Table 2. Third molars were present during surgery at 163 SSO (40.8%) and absent at 237 SSO (59.3%). During surgery, bad splits occurred at 9 of 400 SSO (2.3% per SSO). Buccal plate fractures of the lateral cortex accounted for 5 of the 9 bad splits and lingual plate fractures of the medial cortex accounted for the remaining 4. No bilateral bad splits were recorded. Rigid fixation was performed using bicortical screws in 380 splits and monocortical miniplates in 16 splits; intermaxillary fixation was necessary because of a bad split in 2 patients.

	No. of SSO, n (%)
Inferior mandibular border without relevant contour changes	317 (79.3)
Large contour change of the inferior border	55 (13.8)
Inferior border defect	28 (7.0)

Table 2: Incidence of inferior border defects. Data are represented as the number of SSO (%).

Postoperative radiography findings revealed a good anatomical position of the proximal mandibular segment at 272 SSO (68.0%). Slight cranial rotation of the proximal mandibular segment (less than one cortical thickness) was observed at 114 SSO (28.5%) and significant cranial rotation of the proximal segment at 14 SSO (3.5%). The results of analysis of the origin of the split revealed type I splits in 344 SSO (86.0%), wherein the sagittal split originated in the caudal cortex, running through the inferior border with the buccal and lingual cortices attached to respectively the proximal and distal segment. The remaining 56 splits (14.0%) were classified as type II splits, indicating splits originating in the lingual cortex, leaving the complete bilateral caudal cortex attached to the proximal segment.

Using GLMM, no significant association was observed between the incidence of inferior border defects and the presence of third molars (p = 0.14) or bad splits (p = 0.38). Statistically significant associations were observed between the incidence of inferior border defects and increased extent of mandibular advancement (p < 0.01) as well as increased clockwise rotation (p = 0.012). Similarly, the occurrence of inferior border defects was found to be statistically significantly associated with the cranial rotation of the proximal segment (p < 0.01) as well as the presence of a type II split (p < 0.01).

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to estimate the incidence of osseous inferior border defects after BSSO according to the Hunsuck modification with splitter and separators. Risk factors for this complication are furthermore assessed. In the current study group of 200 patients, the overall incidence of osseous inferior border defects was 12.5% per patient and 7.0% per SSO. Significant risk factors for osseous inferior border defects were larger mandibular advancements, increased clockwise rotation, cranial rotation (malposition) of the proximal segment, and a type II split originating in the lingual cortex (including the full thickness of the inferior cortex).

In a recent study, Agbaje et al.² reported a 36.5% incidence of inferior border defects per SSO after BSSO, which is significantly higher in comparison to the 7% incidence identified in our study. The discrepancy between the findings of these two studies could be related to the greater amount of mandibular advancement (10.7 mm vs. 5.8 mm) and higher percentage of type II splits (28% vs. 14%) in the study group of Agbaje, et al.² A smaller bone gap between the proximal and distal segment of the mandible could be less than the critical size defect, allowing healing of the bony gap, decreasing the evidence of inferior border defects. However, differences in the technique and the position of the vertical bone cut could also play a role in the different findings. Agbaje et al.² performed the vertical bone cut between the first and second molar as opposed to our technique, where the vertical bone cut was performed just distally of the second molar.

Advantages of placings the vertical bone cut distally of the second molar include a short (and therefore predictable) lingual fracture distance, and thus no need for an inferior border osteotomy.¹⁰ With this technique, the masseter muscle could furthermore cover inferior border defects, preventing a visible unaesthetic inferior border defect.⁵ Clinical studies show that BSSO according to this technique is associated with a low incidence of neurosensory disturbances.^{6, 7, 11, 12} However, placing the vertical bone cut behind the second molar could also have several disadvantages like: a limited maximum amount of advancement, and no additional control of the vertical position of the proximal segment.^{4, 5, 13}

Although the present study differed from the study by Agbaje et al.² with regard to the incidence of osseous inferior border defects, both studies identified a significant association between inferior border defects and large mandibular advancements or a type II split. This association between the extent of mandibular advancement and osseous inferior border defects could be explained by the basic principles of bone healing as well as the interference of the soft tissue during the healing process.¹⁴ The higher risk for osseous inferior border defects following increased clockwise rotation

of the occlusal plane is explained by the angle of the inferior border of the mandible created after the rotation. This angle is located near the vertical osteotomy site and, therefore, causes a contour change and sometimes even a slight dimple. Regular bone healing will not alter this angulation defect. Compromised bone healing in these cases would, however, rapidly lead to a noticeable inferior border defect.

Proximal segment positioning during BSSO remains an important part of surgery. In the present study, care was taken during surgery to secure the proximal segment correctly in the glenoid fossa and position the proximal segment in line with the distal mandibular segment. However, the results of our study indicated that, despite these precautions, 3.5% of the sagittal splits still showed significant cranial rotation of the proximal segment. Various authors have proposed different techniques to ensure correct positioning of the proximal segment. The use of additional positioning devices remains questionable.¹⁵ The results of the present study indicated with an increased risk of osseous inferior border defects, which is probably caused by the differences in the orientation of the cortex on both sides of the vertical osteotomy, thereby increasing the gap.

In this study, the presence of a type II split, wherein the full thickness of the inferior cortex is completely attached to the proximal mandibular segment, was found to be a significant risk factor for the occurrence of osseous inferior border defects. In a type I split, the lingual inferior cortex is attached to the distal mandibular segment, while the buccal inferior cortex is attached to the distal mandibular segment, while the buccal inferior cortex is attached to the proximal segment, which results in the presence of a continuous cortical bone of the inferior border of the mandible after advancement. A bone defect will, therefore, only occur in the case of bone resorption. However, in a type II split, the complete inferior cortex is attached to the proximal segment, resulting in a gap in the inferior border of the mandible after advancement. A bone defect can, therefore, easily result in case of insufficient bone healing. This study found that the risk of inferior border defects after BSSO is reduced when the sagittal split originates in the inferior cortex (i.e. a type I split), which is in line with the results of previous studies by Wolford et al.^{4, 16} and Agbaje et al.^{2, 3}

Whether a type I or type II split is preferable nevertheless remains debatable.^{4, 5, 13, 17} Some surgeons prefer a split that starts in the lingual cortex (i.e., type II split), so as to ensure safe splitting with a minimal chance of a bad split.¹⁷ Performing an inferior border cut could contribute to the development of this kind of split. Other authors, however, prefer a split traversing the inferior cortex (i.e., type I split), so as to ensure maximal bony contact of the mandibular segments.^{3, 4}

In a recent study, Agbaje et al.³ described a surgical technique that develops the inferior part of the vertical bone cut towards the mandibular angle. This technique appears somewhat similar to the inferior border osteotomy described by Wolford et al.¹⁶ However, in their technique, Agbaje et al.³ only partially cut the inferior border using an ultrasonic Piezo device, unlike the much longer inferior border osteotomy with a reciprocating saw described by Wolford et al.¹⁶ With their new technique, Agbaje et al.³ reported occurrence of inferior border defects in 5% of the operated mandibular sites, which is in sharp contrast to their earlier findings.² The low incidence of osseous inferior border defects reported in their study coincides with that identified in the present study.

The findings of this study with regard to osseous inferior border defects help identify a scarcely described surgical complication of BSSO. Nevertheless, several disadvantages of the current study need to be mentioned. The retrospective nature of this study is evidently a disadvantage, especially since 19 patients had to be excluded because of insufficient data or loss to follow-up. Since there were no remarkable differences between the excluded patients and the patients included in the study

group, we however believe the exclusion did not significantly affect the outcome of the study. BSSO was performed by one of six maxillofacial surgeons usually closely supervising a resident operating on the contralateral side of the mandible. All surgeons and residents performed BSSO according to the same surgical protocol, using the same technique and materials. However, small differences based on the surgeon/resident could be present because of the number of different physicians.

Further research is required for the investigation of the clinical consequences of the present findings and to assess the clinical importance of inferior border defects.

CONCLUSION

The overall incidence of osseous inferior border defects in the present study was found to be 12.5% per patient and 7.0% per SSO. Significant risk factors for osseous inferior border defects included large mandibular advancement, increased rotation of the occlusal plane, cranial rotation of the proximal segment, and a type II mandibular split. These findings could help surgeons increase the aesthetic outcome of BSSO and minimize the risks of secondary procedures.

REFERENCES

1. Verweij JP, Houppermans PNWJ, Gooris PJJ, Mensink G, Van Merkesteyn JPR. Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy, a literature review and meta-analysis. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2016.

2. Agbaje JO, Sun Y, Vrielinck L, Schepers S, Lambrichts I, Politis C. Risk factors for the development of lower border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71:588-96.

3. Agbaje JO, Gemels B, Salem AS, Anumendem D, Vrielinck L, Politis C. Modified Mandibular Inferior Border Sagittal Split Osteotomy Reduces Postoperative Risk for Developing Inferior Border Defects. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016.

4. Wolford LM. Influence of Osteotomy Design on Bilateral Mandibular Ramus Sagittal Split Osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:1994-2004.

5. Verweij JP, van Merkesteyn JP. Influence of Osteotomy Design on Bilateral Sagittal Split Osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:1666.

6. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2007;35:222-6.

7. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

8. Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. J Oral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

9. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61:344-9. 10. Marsell R, Einhorn TA. The biology of fracture healing. Injury. 2011;42:551-5.

11. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:e359-63.

12. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in different age groups: a retrospective study of 263 patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016.

13. Cillo JE, Stella JP. Selection of sagittal split ramus osteotomy technique based on skeletal anatomy and planned distal segment movement: current therapy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2005;63:109-14.

 Ellis E, 3rd, Carlson DS, Billups J. Osseous healing of the sagittal ramus osteotomy: a histologic comparison of rigid and nonrigid fixation in Macaca mulatta. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1992;50:718-23.

 Costa F, Robiony M, Toro C, Sembronio S, Polini F, Politi M. Condylar positioning devices for orthognathic surgery: a literature review. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2008; 106:179-90.

16. Wolford LM, Davis WM, Jr. The mandibular inferior border split: a modification in the sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1990;48:92-4.

17. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PN, van Merkesteyn JP. Angled Osteotomy Design Aimed to Influence the Lingual Fracture Line in Bilateral Sagittal Split Osteotomy: A Human Cadaveric Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015.



CHAPTER 7

Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR

Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications

Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery 2014; 42: e359-e363.

ABSTRACT

Timing of third molar removal in relation to bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is controversial, especially with regard to postoperative complications. We investigated the influence of mandibular third molar presence on complications after BSSO with sagittal splitters and separators by a retrospective record review of 251 patients (502 surgical sites).

Mandibular third molars were present during surgery at 169 sites and removed at least 6 months preoperatively in 333 sites. Bad splits occurred at 3.0 % (5/169) and 1.5% (5/333) of the respective sites. Presence of mandibular third molars significantly increased the risk of bad splits (OR 1.08, Cl 1.02-1.13, p < 0.01). The mean incidences of permanent neurosensory disturbances, postoperative infection, and symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material were 5.4% (OR, 0.89; 95% Cl, 0.79–1.00; p = 0.06), 8.2% (OR, 1.09; 95% Cl, 0.99–1.20; p = 0.63), and 3.4% (OR, 0.97; 95% Cl, 0.92–1.03; p = 0.35) per site, respectively, without a significant influence of mandibular third molar status.

In conclusion, the presence of mandibular third molars during surgery increases the possibility of bad splits, but does not affect the risk of other complications. Therefore, third molars can be removed concomitantly with BSSO using sagittal splitters and separators.

INTRODUCTION

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is one of the most popular techniques in orthognathic surgery nowadays. Since it was first described by Trauner and Obwegeser (1957), many attempts have been made to improve this technique in order to minimise post-operative complications.¹⁻⁶ The most common complications associated with BSSO are: an unfavourable fracture pattern during osteotomy, termed 'bad split'; neurosensory disturbances of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN), resulting in altered sensation of the lower lip; infection at the surgical site; and symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material.⁷

BSSO is often performed to correct malocclusion in relatively young patients.^{8, 9} These patients generally have third molars at the first consultation. If indicated, mandibular third molar removal is recommended at least 6 months before BSSO.¹⁰ Although concomitant removal with BSSO is also possible, the influence of this procedure on the incidence of post-operative complications is still under debate.^{11, 12} Therefore, timing of third molar removal in relation to BSSO is controversial.^{13, 14}

The aim of this retrospective study was to investigate the association between third molar status during and common complications after BSSO with sagittal splitters and separators.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Patients and surgical procedures

We reviewed the medical files and radiographs of 259 consecutive patients who had undergone BSSO at our centre between 2004 and 2011. Eight patients were excluded from this study due to incomplete records, so data concerning 251 patients were analysed.

BSSO was performed according to the Hunsuck modification with sagittal splitters and separators, without using chisels.^{5, 15} Additional procedures included Le Fort I osteotomy and/or genioplasty. Maxillary third molars were removed if indicated. Mandibular third molars were left in situ if they occluded with maxillary second molars, because of absent mandibular premolars or second molars. If mandibular third molar removal was indicated, the patients could choose removal at least 6 months before or concomitant with BSSO. The possibility of bad splits due to the presence of third molars during BSSO was explained.¹⁶

All the patients were discharged within a week after surgery. Follow-up examinations were performed at 1, 2, and 3 weeks and 3, 6, and 12 months. The patients were instructed to return to the clinic if they had any complaints.

Outcomes

The primary outcome variables were complications of BSSO: bad split, neurosensory disturbances of the IAN, infection at the surgical site, and symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material. The secondary outcome variables were intra-operative factors: IAN status, operative time, and blood loss. Independent variables were third molar status during BSSO, patient age and gender, and preoperative malocclusion class.

A bad split was defined as an irregular or unfavourable fracture pattern in the distal or proximal part of the mandible after osteotomy; it was recorded as present or absent. Neurosensory disturbances of the IAN were evaluated by objective tests and subjective assessment. The disturbances were considered permanent if they were present one year after BSSO. IAN status during BSSO was recorded as not visible in the distal segment, less than half visible in the distal segment, more than half visible in the distal segment, prepared out of the proximal segment with blunt instruments, or prepared out of the proximal segment with burr. Infection at the surgical site was defined as infectious symptoms (swelling with granulation tissue, pus, or intraoral fistula) treated with antibiotics. Osteosynthesis material was removed because of infection, wound dehiscence, or irritation/ tenderness at the osteosynthesis site.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS version 20.0 for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive analyses concerning the study population were performed at first. To study the effect of mandibular third molar status on bad splits, neurosensory disturbances, infection and removal of osteosynthesis material, respectively, a multivariate generalised linear mixed model had been employed to account for information on the left and right sides within the same patient. Gender, age at surgery and occlusion class had been incorporated in the mixed model. Linear regression models, adjusting for gender and age at surgery, were used to investigate the association of mandibular third molar status with operative time and blood loss.

RESULTS

General findings

In total, 502 sagittal split osteotomies (sites) were performed in 251 patients. The study population consisted of 90 male and 161 female patients, with a mean age of 27.7 years (SD, 10.8 years; range, 13.8–55.6 years). The surgical indications were mandibular advancement and setback for class II and III malocclusions in 219 and 32 patients, respectively. BSSO was performed singly in 146 patients and combinatorially with genioplasty, Le Fort I osteotomy, or Le Fort I osteotomy and genioplasty in 11, 74, and 20 patients, respectively. Mandibular third molars were present during surgery at 169 sites (Figure 1); they were congenitally absent or removed at least 6 months preoperatively at 333 sites (Table 1). The mean follow-up duration was 432 days (SD, 172 days; range, 163–1465 days).



Figure 1: Intra-operative photograph of a sagittal split osteotomy with the third molar present during the split.

The mean incidences (per site) of the complications of BSSO were as follows: bad splits, 2.0%; permanent neurosensory disturbances of the IAN, 5.4%; infection at the surgical site, 8.2%; and symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material, 3.4%.

Status	Mandibular thi	ird molars	Maxillary third	d molars
	Right	Left	Right	Left
Absent at first consultation	97 (38.6)	102 (40.6)	99 (39.4)	96 (38.2)
Removed >6 months preoperatively	68 (27.1)	66 (26.3)	49 (19.5)	54 (21.5)
Removed during BSSO	84 (33.5)	81 (32.3)	67 (26.7)	66 (26.3)
Present after BSSO	2 (0.8)	2 (0.8)	36 (14.3)	35 (13.9)

Table 1: Status of third molars in the study population. Data represent the number of teeth (%).

Group characteristics

Groups with and without mandibular third molars during BSSO were compared. No significant differences have been found, but patients' age (Table 2). Patients with mandibular third molars during BSSO were significantly younger. Table 3 shows the incidences of the complications in both groups, with and without third molars.

Parameter	Third molars present	Third molars absent	Significance*
Total number of patients	93 (37.1)	158 (62.9)	
Mean (SD) age, age range (years)	21.5 (8.1), 13.8–52.9	31.6 (10.5), 16.9–55.6	<0.01
Gender			0.52
Male	31 (33.3)	59 (37.3)	
Female	62 (66.7)	99 (62.7)	
Malocclusion class			0.65
II	80 (86.0)	139 (88.0)	
	13 (14.0)	19 (12.0)	
Additional procedures			0.20
BSSO	62 (66.7)	84 (53.2)	
BSSO + Le Fort I osteotomy	21 (22.6)	53 (33.5)	
BSSO + genioplasty	4 (4.3)	7 (4.4)	
BSSO + Le Fort I osteotomy + genioplasty	6 (6.5)	14 (8.9)	

<u>Table 2:</u> Groups' characteristics with and without mandibular third molars during BSSO. Data represent the number of patients (%) unless otherwise indicated. *p-values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Complication	Third molars present	Third molars absent
Bad splits (%)	3.0	1.5
Neurosensory disturbances of the IAN (%)	3.6	6.3
Infection at the surgical site (%)	10.7	6.9
Symptomatic removal of osteosynthesis material (%)	2.4	3.9

<u>Table 3:</u> Incidence of post-operative complications per site in the groups with and without mandibular third molars during BSSO.

Bad split

Bad splits occurred at five of the 169 sites with mandibular third molars (3.0%) and five of the 333 sites (1.5%) without mandibular third molars. Bilateral bad splits did not occur. A generalised mixed model had been employed to account for patient's information on the right and left side, adjusting for age and gender. Presence of mandibular third molars significantly increased the risk of bad splits (OR, 1.08; 95% CI, 1.02–1.13; p < 0.01). Age (OR, 1.03; 95% CI, 0.98–1.09; p = 0.22) and gender (OR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.97–1.05; p = 0.61) did not significantly influence the occurrence of bad splits.

IAN status and neurosensory disturbances

The IAN was visibly damaged unilaterally in seven patients; bilateral damage did not occur (Table 4). No significant association was present between mandibular third molar status and IAN status (OR, 1.00; 95% CI, 0.68–1.48; p = 0.98), with adjustment for age and gender.

IAN status	Third molars present	Third molars absent
Total number of surgical sites	169	333
IAN not visible in the distal segment	33 (19.5)	56 (16.8)
Less than half of the IAN visible in the distal segment	29 (17.2)	47 (14.1)
More than half of the IAN visible in the distal segment	74 (43.8)	148 (44.4)
IAN prepared blunt from the proximal segment	17 (10.1)	36 (10.8)
IAN prepared with burr from the proximal segment	12 (7.1)	43 (12.9)
IAN visibly damaged	4 (2.4)	3 (0.9)

<u>Table 4:</u> IAN status at the surgical sites with and without mandibular third molars during BSSO. Data represent the number of surgical sites (%).

Permanent neurosensory disturbances were present at six of the 169 sites (3.6%) with mandibular third molars and 21 of the 333 sites (6.3%) without mandibular third molars. No significant difference in neurosensory disturbances was found between the groups (OR, 0.89; 95% Cl, 0.79–1.00; p = 0.06). As before, patient's age and gender had been incorporated in the model. Further analysis revealed an increased risk of neurosensory disturbances when the IAN was prepared from the proximal segment (OR, 1.14; 95% Cl, 1.05–1.23; p < 0.01). Increasing age was also a significant risk factor for nerve dysfunction (OR, 1.05; 95% Cl, 1.02–1.08; p < 0.01). Gender (OR, 1.37; 95% Cl, 0.74–2.54; p = 0.31) and bad split status (OR, 0.90; 95% Cl, 0.61–1.35; p = 0.62) were not significantly associated with permanent neurosensory disturbances.

Infection

Infection was present at 18 of the 169 sites (10.7%) with mandibular third molars and 23 of the 333 sites (6.9%) without mandibular third molars. Two patients with mandibular third molars and one patient without mandibular third molars developed infection bilaterally. Presence of mandibular third molars did not significantly increase the risk of infection at the surgical site, adjusting for gender and age (OR, 1.09; 95% CI, 0.99–1.20; p = 0.09). Age (OR, 0.99; 95% CI, 0.97–1.03; p = 0.72), gender (OR, 1.02; 95% CI, 0.95–1.09; p = 0.63), and bad split status (OR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.72–1.41; p = 0.94) showed no significant association with the development of infection.

Removal of the osteosynthesis material

Symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material was indicated at 17 sites, including four of the 169 sites (2.4%) with mandibular third molars and 13 of the 333 sites (3.9%) without mandibular third molars. No significant association was found between mandibular third molar status and symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material (OR, 0.97; 95% CI, 0.92–1.03; p = 0.35), with adjustment for age and gender. Age (OR, 0.99; 95% CI, 0.93–1.05; p = 0.71) and gender (OR, 0.38; 95% CI, 0.12–1.23; p = 0.10) were not significantly associated with removal of osteosynthesis material.

Operative time and blood loss

The mean operative time and blood loss during BSSO in the groups with and without mandibular third molars are listed in Table 5. Mandibular third molar status had no significant influence on the total operative time (p = 0.80) and blood loss during surgery (p = 0.09).

Surgery	Third molars	present			Third molars	absent		
	Operative time (min)	Blood loss (ml)		Operative time	(min)	Blood loss (ml)	
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range
BSSO	147 (45)	60-295	349 (200)	40-900	131 (34)	65–221	360 (338)	50-2500
BSSO + genioplasty	192 (46)	140-235	335 (255)	150-690	158 (76)	105–300	358 (291)	100-900
BSSO + Le Fort I osteotomy	269 (48)	185–353	719 (347)	250-1600	271 (58)	161–397	858 (357)	250-1800
BSSO + Le Fort I osteotomy + genioplasty	315 (70)	210-408	992 (641)	150-1700	268 (68)	180–408	835 (484)	400-2000
<u>Table 5:</u> Operative time and blc	ood loss during vari	ous surgical proce	dures.					

DISCUSSION

Some authors advocate third molar removal during BSSO to avoid an additional surgical procedure and minimise unwanted post-surgical consequences.^{11, 13, 17} However, presence of third molars during surgery increases the surgical difficulty and third molar removal concomitant with BSSO is challenging even for experienced surgeons.^{10, 18} Other authors therefore recommend removal of third molars at least 6 months preoperatively.^{14, 19, 20} In this study, we analysed the influence of third molar status on the common complications of BSSO performed with sagittal splitters and separators. We found that the presence of mandibular third molars during BSSO significantly increased the risk of bad splits but not that of neurosensory disturbances of the IAN, infection at the surgical site, or symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material.

Mandibular third molar removal during BSSO significantly increased the risk of bad splits in our study. Third molar removal during surgery can weaken the bony cortex or cause bone defects near the alveolus, predisposing to a bad split. The patients with mandibular third molars during BSSO were significantly younger, but patient age did not have a significant influence on the incidence of bad splits. Age and gender have been included in all multivariate generalised mixed models to account for possible confounding effects, due to the significant difference in age between both groups. Reyneke et al. and Mehra et al. recorded an increased incidence of bad splits when third molars were present, especially in younger patients.^{10, 12} Further, Mensink et al. reported a significant association between presence of third molars and occurrence of bad splits independent of patient age.¹⁶ Other authors, however, reported no clinical influence of peri-operative third molar removal on the occurrence of bad splits. Kriwalsky et al. reported older age as a risk factor for bad splits without an association with third molar removal.²¹ Doucet et al., Precious et al. and Tucker et al. also found no significant association between the presence of third molars and the occurrence of bad splits.^{11, 17, 22} Patients generally recover well after a bad split.¹⁶ In our study, bad splits had no impact on patient recovery and all the patients had good functional outcomes one year after BSSO.

The IAN was manipulated during BSSO, but presence of mandibular third molars did not influence IAN status. This is in concordance with the findings of Doucet et al. who also reported no significant association between third molar removal and nerve manipulation.²³ In contrast, Reyneke et al. reported slightly more frequent manipulation of the nerve in patients with third molars.¹⁰ IAN manipulation is an important factor, because it increases the possibility of permanent neurosensory disturbances after BSSO.²⁴ In our study group the incidence of IAN manipulation of the nerve was similar between the patients with and without mandibular third molars during surgery, therefore being no influencing factor in the possible post-operative neurosensory disturbances.

The incidence of permanent neurosensory disturbances of the IAN was lower in the group with mandibular third molars (3.6% per site) than in the group without mandibular third molars (6.3% per site). Patients in the group without mandibular third molars were, however, significantly older, predisposing to neurosensory disturbances. The difference between these groups was not significant after adjusting for age and gender. Contradicting earlier findings, Doucet et al. and August et al. reported significantly less neurosensory dysfunction of the lip and chin area when third molars were removed concomitantly with BSSO.^{23, 25} Six months post-operatively, the reported incidence of neurosensory disturbances in their study was 32.1% per patient without third molars and 9.5% per patient with third molars during surgery.²³ The authors hypothesised that the presence of a third molar could result in distal positioning of the IAN, avoiding nerve manipulation during surgery. Given our findings, an association of mandibular third molar status with direct manipulation of the nerve seems unlikely.

The relationship between third molar removal concomitant with BSSO and post-operative infection has scarcely been examined. We noted a lower incidence of infection at the surgical site when mandibular third molars were absent before BSSO. However, this association was not significant. Lacey et al. reported increased incidence of infection associated with osteosynthesis material after third molar removal concomitant with surgery.²⁶ They hypothesised that the empty alveolus increases exposure of bicortical screws to bacteria, thus increasing the infection rate.

Bicortical screws were removed in only a few cases. Mandibular third molar status did not affect the incidence of symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material, in contrast with the findings of Lacey et al.²⁶ The osteosynthesis material was removed mainly because of infection, irritation, and tenderness.

Operative time and blood loss during surgery did not differ significantly between the patients with and without mandibular third molars. Other authors also report no clinically significant influence on the time to accomplish the osteotomy and peri-operative blood loss.^{10, 11}

CONCLUSION

We found only a slightly increased risk of bad splits when mandibular third molars were present during BSSO, without long-term consequences. Presence of mandibular third molars did not increase the risk of other post-operative complications. These results imply that mandibular third molar removal can be performed concomitantly with BSSO with sagittal splitters and separators; its timing depends on the surgeon's discretion and patient's choice. 100

REFERENCES

1. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. I. Surgical procedures to correct mandibular prognathism and reshaping of the chin. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1957; 10:677-89.

 Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism. J Oral SurgAnesthHospDentServ. 1961; 19:42-7.

3. Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. J Oral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

4. Epker BN. Modifications in the sagittal osteotomy of the mandible. J Oral Surg. 1977;35:157-9.

5. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

 Al-Nawas B, Kammerer PW, Hoffmann C, Moergel M, Koch FP, Wriedt S, et al. Influence of osteotomy procedure and surgical experience on early complications after orthognathic surgery in the mandible. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2013.

7. Guernsey LH, DeChamplain RW. Sequelae and complications of the intraoral sagittal osteotomy in the mandibular rami. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1971:32:176-92.

 Weaver N, Glover K, Major P, Varnhagen C, Grace M. Age limitation on provision of orthopedic therapy and orthognathic surgery. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 1998; 113: 156-64.

9. den Besten CA, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JP. Skeletal stability after mandibular advancement in bilateral sagittal split osteotomies during adolescence. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2013;41:e78-82.

10. Reyneke JP, Tsakiris P, Becker P. Age as a factor in the complication rate after removal of unerupted/impacted third molars at the time of mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:654-9.

11. Doucet JC, Morrison AD, Davis BR, Gregoire CE, Goodday R, Precious DS. The presence of mandibular third molars during sagittal split osteotomies does not increase the risk of complications. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:1935-43.

12. Mehra P, Castro V, Freitas RZ, Wolford LM. Complications of the mandibular sagittal split ramus osteotomy associated with the presence or absence of third molars. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2001;59:854-8.

13. Precious DS. Removal of third molars with sagittal split osteotomies: the case for. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;62:1144-6. 14. Schwartz HC. Simultaneous removal of third molars during sagittal split osteotomies: the case against. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;62:1147-9.

15. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2007;35:222-6.

16. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco BJ, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013.

 Precious DS, Lung KE, Pynn BR, Goodday RH.
Presence of impacted teeth as a determining factor of unfavorable splits in 1256 sagittal-split osteotomies.
Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod.
1998;85:362-5.

 Beukes J, Reyneke JP, Becker PJ. Variations in the anatomical dimensions of the mandibular ramus and the presence of third molars: its effect on the sagittal split ramus osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42:303-7.

19. Akhtar S, Tuinzing DB. Unfavorable splits in sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1999;87:267-8.

20. Schwartz HC. The timing of third molar removal in patients undergoing a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:132-3.

21. Kriwalsky MS, Maurer P, Veras RB, Eckert AW, Schubert J. Risk factors for a bad split during sagittal split osteotomy. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;46:177-9.

22. Tucker M. Sagittal ramus osteotomy with and without third molars. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1995;53:80-1.

23. Doucet JC, Morrison AD, Davis BR, Robertson CG, Goodday R, Precious DS. Concomitant removal of mandibular third molars during sagittal split osteotomy minimizes neurosensory dysfunction. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:2153-63.

24. Yoshioka I, Tanaka T, Habu M, Oda M, Kodama M, Kito S, et al. Effect of bone quality and position of the inferior alveolar nerve canal in continuous, longterm, neurosensory disturbance after sagittal split ramus osteotomy. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:e178-e83.

25. August M, Marchena J, Donady J, Kaban L. Neurosensory deficit and functional impairment after sagittal ramus osteotomy: a long-term follow-up study. J Oral MaxillofacSurg. 1998;56:1231-5.

26. Lacey MS, Colcleugh RG. Infected screws in patients treated by mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral MaxillofacSurg. 1995;53:510-2.



CHAPTER 8

Investigation of the influence of mallet and chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PNWJ, Frank MD, van Merkesteyn JPR

Investigation of the influence of malle tand chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles *Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery 2015; 43: 336-341.*

104

ABSTRACT

In bilateral sagittal split osteotomy the proximal and distal segments of the mandible are traditionally separated using chisels. Modern modifications include prying and spreading the segments with splitters. This study investigates the lingual fracture patterns and status of the nerve after sagittal split osteotomy (SSO) using the traditional chisel technique and compares these results with earlier studies using the splitter technique.

Lingual fractures after SSO in cadaveric pig mandibles were analysed using a lingual split scale and split scoring system. latrogenic damage to the inferior alveolar nerve was assessed.

Fractures started through the caudal cortex more frequently in the chisel group. This group showed more posterior lingual fractures, although this difference was not statistically significant. Nerve damage was present in three cases in the chisel group, but was not observed in the splitter group.

A trend was apparent, that SSO using the chisel technique instead of the splitter technique resulted in more posterior lingual fracture lines, although this difference was not statistically significant. Both techniques resulted in reliable lingual fracture patterns. Splitting without chisels could prevent nerve damage. Therefore, we propose a spreading and prying technique with splitter and separators. However, caution should be exercised when extrapolating these results to the clinic.

INTRODUCTION

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is commonly used in human orthognathic surgery. Since the introduction of this technique by Trauner and Obwegeser¹, several modifications have been suggested to maximise its safety and reliability.²⁻⁵ Traditional surgical techniques are based on the use of chisels to separate distal and proximal segments of the mandible.^{1-4, 6} Compression of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) during splitting with chisels has been shown to reduce sensory nerve reactions.⁷ Along with other authors, we therefore advocate prying and spreading of the segments of the mandible.^{5, 8, 9} BSSO with a sagittal splitter and separators is associated with less postoperative nerve dysfunction compared with splitting with chisels and mallets.^{5, 10} The use of a sagittal splitter and separators does not increase the incidence of bad splits.¹¹ However, little is known about fracture patterns with different techniques and avoiding chisels could promote a different splitting pattern on the lingual side of the mandible. Precise control of the lingual fracture is difficult and the concealed nature of this lingual fracture line makes it impossible to evaluate this aspect during surgery.¹²

To better understand the split patterns and possible side effects, investigation of the lingual fracture pattern and possible nerve damage with different BSSO techniques is important. This study is a continuation of earlier research published by Mensink et al.[†], investigating the lingual fracture line after sagittal split osteotomy (SSO) with sagittal splitter and separators. In this study, we aimed to further analyse the lingual fracture patterns and status of the nerve after SSO, comparing the traditional chisel technique with the splitter technique. We compared the risk of direct visible damage to the IAN associated with each splitting technique.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Sagittal split osteotomy was performed on cadaveric pig mandibles. The mandibles were obtained from female pigs aged 6-7 months, with a mean weight of approximately 100 kg and a mixed dentition phase. Soft tissues were used for consumption, and the mandibles were boiled to remove any soft tissue residues. Mandibles were cut in the midline, and then refrigerated at 1-3 °C. The average length of the hemimandibles was 20 cm (range, 17-23 cm), and they contained at least one unerupted molar, two erupted molars and two erupted premolars. The pig mandibles were scheduled for destruction, therefore we did not need to obtain approval from our institution to use them in our study. One mandible, used as a splitting control, was not boiled and the soft tissues were removed from it by hand.

Sagittal split osteotomy (SSO) was performed as described by Hunsuck.³ Since only intramandibular forces were applied, the mandibles were easily stabilised by hand. Horizontal, sagittal and vertical bone cuts were performed with a long Lindemann burr (2.3 ´ 22.0 mm; Meisinger, Neuss, Germany). The horizontal cut was made approximately 3–5 mm above the mandibular foramen, ending in the deepest point of the concavity of the mandibular foramen. The vertical cut was made just posterior to the most distal erupted molar, perpendicular to the caudal border of the mandibular body. Subsequently, the sagittal cut and the inferior cortex cut through the caudal border, reaching 1–2 mm in the lingual cortex, were made with a short Lindemann burr (1.4 ´ 5.0 mm, Meisinger).

SSO was performed according to the traditional chisel technique, using a 7 mm wide chisel (Seward Thackray, Rhymney, Gwent, UK). Chisels were used as described by Bruckmoser et al.⁶ First, the horizontal bone cut was chiselled to achieve better definition. Subsequently, the sagittal bone cut was chiselled to 5–10 mm in depth. The chisel was torqued in the sagittal cut, to see if the proximal segment split accordingly. Then, at the distal end of the sagittal cut, an elevator was slid along the inner side of the buccal cortex, to separate the cortex from the inner side of the mandible. Using a mallet, a chisel was directed along the vertical bone cut through the inferior cortex, again keeping close contact with the inner side of the buccal cortex to avoid damaging the IAN. This was repeated until the inferior cortex had split approximately 20 mm. The split was completed by applying moderate pressure with curved Obwegeser elevators (Stryker Leibinger, Pusignan, France) to separate the segments. If required, the remaining part of the (dorsal) inferior border was split under direct visibility of the IAN, with the additional use of a chisel.

We investigated fracture patterns after SSO according to the traditional technique with chisels and mallets. Lingual fracture patterns were evaluated based on their origin, relation to the mandibular canal and completion of the fracture lines. The lingual split scale (LSS) described by Plooij et al.¹was used to categorise the different lingual splitting patterns. In that scale, LSS1 represents a 'true Hunsuck' lingual fracture inferior to the mandibular canal, LSS2 describes a more posterior fracture line through the caudal and dorsal border of the ramus ('Obwegeser' split) and LSS3 describes a more anterior fracture line through the mandibular canal. Unfavourable fracture patterns and impact on the IAN were also examined. To further assess our primary outcome variable (the lingual fracture patterns (Figure 1). The start of the split was defined as either extending from the inferior border cut in the lingual cortex (3 points) or through the canal (4 points), less than 1/3 inferior to the canal (3 points), 1/3-2/3 inferior to the canal (2 points), predominantly inferior to the canal (1 point) or entirely inferior to the canal (0 points). The end of the split was defined as either in the mandibular foramen (1 point) or ending more dorsally (0 points).



<u>Figure 1:</u> A drawing of the pig mandible model. An anterior lingual fracture line originating from the inferior border cut and extending through the mandibular canal into the mandibular foramen is shown, as is a posterior lingual fracture line starting from the inferior border, continuing inferior to the mandibular canal and ending in the concavity of the mandibular foramen.

The fracture patterns with the traditional technique after SSO with chisels were subsequently compared with fracture patterns after SSO with splitter and separators, as described by Mensink et al.¹³ In this second group, SSO was performed using a similar technique with the same horizontal, sagittal and vertical bone cuts, but instead of chisels a sagittal splitter and curved Smith Ramus separators (Walter Lorentz Surgical, Jacksonville, Florida, USA) were used.¹⁴ Both groups each consisted of 20 hemimandibles: 10 left-sided and 10 right-sided SSOs. We further evaluated the fracture patterns with the sagittal split scale and assessed possible iatrogenic nerve damage after SSO with both techniques.

This study was performed in accordance with the guidelines of our institution and followed the Declaration of Helsinki on medical protocol and ethics. Due to the ex-vivo nature of this study, it was granted an exemption in writing (reference number P14.189) by the Leiden University Medical Center institutional review board.

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS version 21.0 for OSX (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive analyses of the different aspects of the fracture patterns and nerve status were performed. Student's t-test was used to calculate differences between the two techniques investigated. Associations between the fracture patterns and the outcome of the SSS were analysed using linear regression techniques. Associations between the techniques investigated and nerve damage were calculated with a logistic regression model. A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

Investigation of the influence of mallet and chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles

RESULTS

Chisel group

Regarding the start of the split, in the chisel group 40% of splits originated directly from the inferior border cut in the lingual cortex, without splitting the caudal cortex, and 60% continued through the caudal border of the mandible. The mean length of the fracture line in the caudal cortex was 19.5 mm (range, 9.0–43.0 mm). The subsequent pattern of lingual fractures in relation to the mandibular canal was: 40% directly through the mandibular canal; 35% initiating inferior to the mandibular canal and extending through the canal; and 25% continuously inferior to the mandibular canal. The lingual split patterns in the chisel group were 60% LSS1 and 40% LSS3.

One impending unfavourable fracture was avoided, when the chisel was hit through the buccal cortex. Retracting the chisel and carefully replacing it closer to the inferior cortex successfully completed this split. The IAN was also visible after all splits. In three cases (15%), the IAN was visibly affected after chiselling through the inferior cortex, resulting in partial laceration of the IAN.

One additional mandible was not boiled or otherwise prepared, and BSSO was performed on this 'fresh' mandible as a control for preparation effects. Subjective evaluation by the operator confirmed there was no clear difference between the fresh mandible, and the cooked and refrigerated mandibles.

Splitter group

In the splitter group, 60% of the splits originated from the sagittal cut in the lingual cortex, and 40% originated from the caudal border and continued through it. The mean length of the fracture line in the caudal cortex was 17.9 mm (range, 7.0–34.0 mm). The lingual fracture pattern originated from the mandibular canal and continued through it in 60% of cases; originated inferiorly and extended through the canal in 35%; and remained predominantly inferior to the canal in 5%. Of these fracture patterns, 40% were LSS1 and 60% were LSS3. All but one (95%) of the lingual fracture lines ended in the concavity of the mandibular foramen. The only lingual fracture line not ending in the concavity of the mandibular canal and ending ventral to the mandibular foramen. The IAN was visible after all splits, with no laceration of the nerve in any cases in the splitter group.

Linaual					
fracture pattern	Split scoring system (points)		Splitter group	Chisel group	Significance
			Total score (mean)	Total score (mean)	p value
Start of split	From inferior border cut	(3)	36 (1.80)	24 (1.20)	0.22
	Continuing through inferior cortex	(0)			
Relation to mandibular canal	Directly through canal	(4)	63 (3.15)	50 (2.50)	0.10
	Through canal from first $1/3$	(3)			
	Through canal from second $1/3$	(2)			
	Through canal in last 1/3	(1)			
	Remaining inferior to canal	(0)			
End of split	In mandibular foramen	(1)	20 (1.00)	19 (0.95)	0.32
	Behind mandibular foramen	(0)			
Total score (mean)			119 (5.95)	93 (4.65)	0.14

<u>Table 1:</u> Split scoring system for lingual fracture patterns, showing total score per group for each aspect of the lingual fracture line. A higher score indicates a more anterior fracture pattern.
Chisel group vs. splitter group

Logistic regression showed no significant difference between the types of fractures (LSS1 or LSS3) in the two groups (p = 0.12; OR = 2.79; 95% CI, 0.77–10.05). The SSS, designed to distinguish between anterior and posterior fracture patterns, recorded lower scores for each aspect of the split in the chisel group compared with the splitter group (Table 1). In the chisel group, 12 out of 20 fracture lines scored 0–4 points, corresponding to a relatively posterior split (Figure 2) and the other eight fracture lines scored 4–8 points indicating a more anterior split. In the splitter group, eight 'posterior splits' (0–4 points) and 12 'anterior splits' (4–8 points) were recorded (Figure 3). Linear regression showed no significant difference (p = 0.14; 95% CI, -0.46 to 3.06) in mean or median total score between the groups (Figure 4). Although increased scores were observed for the relation to the mandibular canal after SSO with splitters, the difference between the groups was not significant (p = 0.10; 95% CI, -0.14 to 1.44). latrogenic nerve damage occurred only with the chisel technique, but the difference in incidence between the groups was not significant (p = 0.07; OR = 1.17; 95% CI, 0.71–1.02).

The reliability and reproducibility of the two techniques investigated did not differ significantly, with no significant difference in the mean (p = 0.35), comparable standard deviations (2.89 vs. 2.56) and comparable variances (8.35 vs. 6.68).



Figure 2: Photograph of a posterior lingual fracture line in a cadaveric pig mandible, after sagittal split osteotomy with a chisel and mallet.

8



<u>Figure 3:</u> Photograph of an anterior lingual fracture line in a cadaveric pig mandible, after sagittal split osteotomy with a sagittal splitter and separators.



Technique

<u>Figure 4:</u> Boxplot of the mean total scores in the chisel and splitter groups, showing no statistically significant difference between the groups, but a trend of higher scores in the splitter group (a more anterior fracture pattern).

Investigation of the influence of mallet and chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to analyse the lingual fracture patterns after SSO in cadaveric pig mandibles, with the chisel and mallet technique. The traditional chisel technique was furthermore compared with the widely used splitter technique. Although statistical analysis revealed no significant difference between the techniques, a tendency for a more posterior splitting pattern was observed after SSO with a chisel and mallet, compared with SSO with a splitter and separators. Assessment of possible nerve damage revealed three cases of visible iatrogenic nerve damage in the chisel group and no visible nerve damage in the splitter group.

Our findings showed a tendency of the fracture line through the caudal border to be longer in the chisel group than in the splitter group. This difference could be due to chiselling through the inferior cortex in the chisel group resulting in a longer fracture line through the caudal border. In the splitter group, more fracture lines extended through the mandibular canal or crossed the canal, than in the chisel group. This could be due to the more anterior centre of rotation in the splitting process when using the sagittal splitter and separators. With the splitter technique, the sagittal splitter is used to apply force to the superior cortex in the sagittal bone cut, and a separator is placed in the buccal bone cut (near the inferior cortex) to guide the split. The primary leverage is near the separator at the inferior part of the buccal bone cut. No intra-mandibular instruments are used. The centre of rotation with this technique is between the superior aspect of the mandibular body and the buccal bone cut. With the chisel technique, the chisel is placed in the sagittal split and chiselled along the inside of the buccal plate, up to 1-2 cm dorsally through the inferior cortex. Therefore, the centre of rotation during the splitting procedure using chisels is situated more towards the mandibular angle, particularly when elevators are placed between the proximal and distal segment to complete the split.

In their clinical study, Plooij et al.¹² attempted to achieve a dorsally placed 'true Hunsuck' split (LSS1) after BSSO with a chisel. The lingual fracture line, however, progressed more anteriorly (LSS3) than was intended, in one third of all cases. This variability shows that the lingual fracture line is not precisely controlled, possibly due to the limited accessibility and visibility of this fracture line during the procedure. A path of least resistance could also be hypothesised, through the mylohyoid groove or mandibular canal, resulting in relatively more 'anterior' lingual fractures independent of the technique; however, this has not been confirmed.¹⁵ Nevertheless, when running through the mylohyoid groove and/or the mandibular canal, it has been reported that there is a six-fold greater incidence of LSS3 than when it is not running through this groove and/or canal.^{13, 15}

Muto et al.¹⁶ investigated the influence of the bone cuts in SSO on the lingual splitting pattern. Favourable fracture patterns were achieved with a short horizontal bone cut just above the lingula, and an inferior border cut reaching into the lingual cortex. In our study, similar bone cuts were made in the chisel and splitter groups, so the bone cuts did not influence the lingual fracture patterns differently in the two groups.

Bockmann et al.¹⁷ and Schoen et al.¹⁸ demonstrated the use of an added osteotomy at the inferior border of the mandible. The aims of this added osteotomy were reduction of the torque required to complete the split, and a splitting pattern through the inferior border. In this current study, 70% and 60% of the fracture lines in the splitter and chisel groups respectively continued through the inferior cortex, without an added osteotomy. All other fracture lines originated from the superior extension of the inferior lingual border cut. In our opinion, it is therefore not necessary to perform this (difficult) added osteotomy.

It could be suggested that a more posterior lingual fracture is favourable, because a more anterior fracture line decreases the bony contact between the proximal and distal segment. Sufficient contact surface of the cortical plates was present in all the mandibles in our study, even in the mandibles with the most anteriorly positioned lingual fracture line. In our clinic, rigid fixation with three bicortical

screws is applied after BSSO with a sagittal splitter and separators. No cases of insufficient bony contact have occurred in our clinic, and this technique reportedly results in good skeletal stability and few complications.¹⁹ Some authors advocate a more posterior lingual split, to facilitate distal repositioning of the mandible.¹⁷ In our opinion, persisting bone at the dorsal part of the mandible could in theory create difficulties, but this does not seem to form any impediment in the clinic. This was also the case in our study, and setback of the mandible seemed possible in all mandibles of both groups.

Although the operation technique with a sagittal splitter and separators thus possibly affects the lingual fracture pattern, it reportedly does not increase the risk of a bad split.^{20, 21} Unfavourable fracture patterns (bad splits) are an important complication of the BSSO procedure. In this study, with the chisel technique one impending buccal plate fracture could be saved and with the splitter technique one unfavourable fracture line ended just in front of the mandibular foramen. It could be hypothesised that the chisel technique is more prone to buccal plate fractures, because the fracture line runs through the inferior cortex and the risk of running the chisel through the buccal cortex is present; as opposed to the splitter technique being more prone to lingual plate fractures, due to the force exerted on lingual cortex during the split and a more anterior lingual fracture pattern.

Wolford et al.⁸ described the basic principles of the prying and spreading technique to decrease the risk of unfavourable fracture patterns. This design innovation placed modified preliminary bone cuts, directed toward strengthening the posterior aspect of the distal segment and decreasing the risk of a vertical fracture in the lingual cortex. The modification furthermore emphasised the importance of an inferior border cut completely through the inferior cortex and 2–3 mm into the lingual cortex, in order to prevent buccal plate fractures. This is similar to the findings by Muto et al.²² Wolford et al.⁸ further minimised the risk of a buccal bad split by applying the majority of pressure with an osteotome at the inferior border, similar to the split performed with our splitter-technique. In a later publication, Wolford et al.²³ reported another modification, adding an inferior border osteotomy with a reciprocating saw, to improve predictable splitting of the inferior mandibular border. This inferior border osteotomy is similar to the modification described by Bockmann et al.¹⁷ and Schoen et al.¹⁸, which was discussed earlier. In our study the preliminary bone cuts were the same in the chisel group and the splitter group, to prevent the osteotomy design influencing the lingual fracture patterns and the occurrence of bad splits.

It has been reported previously that the use of a splitter and separators results in a low incidence of neurosensory disturbances (5.1% per side).¹⁴ In our study, visible nerve damage occurred in three cases in the chisel group. One explanation for the higher incidence of nerve dysaesthesia with the chisel technique might be the possibility of nerves coming into contact with the chisel when chiselling near the IAN, and subsequent nerve damage. The technique using a sagittal splitter and separators did not result in any visible nerve damage in our study, probably because they were not used near the IAN. Fiamminghi and Aversa²⁴ provided the first evidence for the risk of IAN lesions after the use of chisels in an experimental study. In a clinical study, Teerijoka et al.⁷ showed that laceration of the nerve can occur during BSSO with chisels, resulting in disturbed IAN conduction. Ylikontiola et al.²⁵ demonstrated a strong correlation between manipulation of the nerve and neurosensory disturbances after BSSO. Although nerve manipulation between both segments of the mandible can occur during BSSO with a sagittal splitter and separators, no intra-mandibular instruments are used with this technique, thus preventing direct iatrogenic nerve damage.

Pig mandibles have proven to be a useful model in dental and orofacial research.²⁶ Study designs using cadaveric pig mandibles for maxillofacial research have been used successfully in many studies.^{13, 17, 18, 27} Pig mandibles, nevertheless, differ from human mandibles in several ways and caution must be exercised when extrapolating results based on this fundamental research model to a clinical setting. Pig mandibles are longer, and contain more teeth. Fully-grown pig mandibles

contain three molars, four premolars, one canine and three incisors. In our study, all the mandibles contained one unerupted molar and two erupted molars. The follicular space of the unerupted third molar had a bony margin. Although unerupted molars are part of the surgical field during BSSO, in the clinical setting their presence does not influence the splitting pattern or nerve damage.^{12, 28} In this study, none of the splits fractured near the bony margin, therefore the fracture patterns were not influenced by unerupted molars. In pig mandibles, the mandibular canal is larger than it is in human mandibles. In our study, the IAN was visible in the proximal segment in all mandibles, making clinical evaluation of nerve damage possible in all cases. The larger canal may affect the risk of nerve involvement during BSSO, nevertheless this does not account for the nerve laceration associated with the chisel technique in this study. Our operating technique incorporated the Hunsuck modification³ with the horizontal bone cut reaching as far as the concavity of the mandibular foramen (and not further towards the dorsal border), which promotes the ending of lingual fracture lines near the foramen. The more robust cortical bone in the angle region and dorsal border of pig mandibles as compared with human mandibles may also contribute to preventing a more dorsal pattern of the lingual fracture line during BSSO.

In this study, the preparation of the mandibles included a short boiling process to remove soft tissues, after which the mandibles were refrigerated at 1-3 °C. The potential effects of the preparation process on bones were considered, and were described previously by Mensink et al.¹³ No effect of the preparation can be expected. This was confirmed by the subjective evaluation of BSSO on a fresh mandible.

Thus, while pig mandibles are a useful and informative basic research model for the study of fracture patterns, these results must be regarded as a first step in acquiring knowledge about lingual fracture lines after BSSO. The assumptions and conclusions must be interpreted with caution, because this model does not refer to the clinical situation in living human individuals. Therefore, care must be taken when extrapolating these results to the clinic and evidently further research, for example on human mandibles, is necessary to confirm and clarify our findings.

CONCLUSION

In this study, performing SSO with a chisel did not result in a significantly more posterior lingual fracture line compared with SSO with a splitter, however, that tendency was observed. The technique with chisels and the technique with splitters both resulted in a reliable and reproducible lingual fracture pattern. Furthermore, splitting without the classic 'mallet and chisel' technique may prevent direct iatrogenic damage to the IAN. Therefore, we propose a spreading and prying technique, for example with a sagittal splitter and separators.

114

REFERENCES

1. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. I. Surgical procedures to correct mandibular prognathism and reshaping of the chin. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1957; 10:677-89.

 Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism. JOral Surg Anesth Hosp Dent Serv. 1961; 19:42-7.

3. Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. J Oral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

4. Epker BN. Modifications in the sagittal osteotomy of the mandible. J Oral Surg. 1977;35:157-9.

5. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

6. Bruckmoser E, Bulla M, Alacamlioglu Y, Steiner I, Watzke IM. Factors influencing neurosensory disturbance after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: retrospective analysis after 6 and 12 months. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2013; 115:473-82.

7. Teerijoki-Oksa T, Jaaskelainen SK, Forssell K, Forssell H, Vahatalo K, Tammisalo T, et al. Risk factors of nerve injury during mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. Int JOral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;31:33-9.

8. Wolford LM, Bennett MA, Rafferty CG. Modification of the mandibular ramus sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1987;64:146-55.

9. Mehra P, Castro V, Freitas RZ, Wolford LM. Complications of the mandibular sagittal split ramus osteotomy associated with the presence or absence of third molars. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2001;59:854-8.

10. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco BJ, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013.

11. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco Bergsma J, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;51:525-9.

 Plooij JM, Naphausen MT, Maal TJ, Xi T, Rangel FA, Swennnen G, et al. 3D evaluation of the lingual fracture line after a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38:1244-9.

13. Mensink G, Gooris PJ, Bergsma JE, Wes JT, van Merkesteyn JP. Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles: evaluation of the lingual fracture line based on the use of splitters and separators. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2013; 116:281-6. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

15. Mensink G, Gooris PJ, Bergsma EJ, Frank MH, van Gemert JT, van Merkesteyn JP. Is the Lingual Fracture Line Influenced by the Mandibular Canal or the Mylohyoid Groove During a Bilateral Sagittal Split Osteotomy? A Human Cadaveric Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013.

16. Muto T, Takahashi M, Akizuki K. Evaluation of the mandibular ramus fracture line after sagittal split ramus osteotomy using 3-dimensional computed tomography. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:e648-52.

17. Bockmann R, Schon P, Frotscher M, Eggeler G, Lethaus B, Wolff KD. Pilot study of modification of the bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) in pig mandibles. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2011;39:169-72.

 Schoen P, Frotscher M, Eggeler G, Kessler P, Wolff KD, Boeckmann R. Modification of the bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) in a study using pig mandibles. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;40:516-20.

 den Besten CA, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JP. Skeletal stability after mandibular advancement in bilateral sagittal split osteotomies during adolescence. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2013;41:e78-82.

20. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

21. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco Bergsma J, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;51:525-9.

22. Muto T, Takahashi M, Akizuki K. Evaluation of the mandibular ramus fracture line after sagittal split ramus osteotomy using 3-dimensional computed tomography. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:e648-52.

23. Wolford LM, Davis WM, Jr. The mandibular inferior border split: a modification in the sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1990;48:92-4.

24. Fiamminghi L, Aversa C. Lesions of the inferior alveolar nerve in sagittal osteotomy of the ramus — experimental-study. J Maxillofac Surg. 1979;7:125-8.

25. Ylikontiola L, Kinnunen J, Oikarinen K. Factors affecting neurosensory disturbance after mandibular bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2000;58:1234-9. Investigation of the influence of mallet and chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles

26. Wang S, Liu Y, Fang D, Shi S. The miniature pig: a useful large animal model for dental and orofacial research. Oral Dis. 2007; 13:530-7.

27. Papadaki ME, Troulis MJ, Glowacki J, Kaban LB. A minipig model of maxillary distraction osteogenesis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;68:2783-91.

28. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014.



CHAPTER 9

Angled osteotomy design aimed to influence the lingual fracture line in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a human cadaveric study

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PNWJ, van Merkesteyn JPR

Angled osteotomy design aimed to influence the lingual fracture line in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a human cadaveric study

Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 2015; 73: 1983-1993.

118

ABSTRACT

The traditional osteotomy design in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy includes a horizontal lingual bone cut, a connecting sagittal bone cut and a vertical buccal bone cut perpendicular to the inferior mandibular cortex. The buccal bone cut extends as an inferior border cut into the lingual cortex.

This study investigated a modified osteotomy design including an angled oblique buccal bone cut that extended as a posteriorly aimed inferior border cut near the masseteric tuberosity.

We implemented a randomised controlled study. The study sample comprised 28 cadaveric dentulous mandibles. The primary outcome variable was the pattern of lingual fracture induced using the conventional (n = 14) and modified osteotomy (n = 14) designs. The secondary outcome variables included the incidence of bad splits and status of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN). Descriptive and bivariate statistics were computed.

The angled osteotomy design resulted in a significantly higher number of lingual fractures originating from the inferior border cut (OR 1.54; 95%CI 1.27–1.86; p < 0.01), with a significantly more posterior relation of the fracture line to the mandibular canal (OR 2.11; 95%CI 1.22–3.63; p < 0.01) and foramen (OR 1.99; 95%CI 1.28–3.08; p < 0.01). No bad splits occurred with the angled design, whereas three bad splits occurred with the conventional design, although this difference was not statistically significant (OR 1.11; 95%CI 0.99–1.25; p = 0.07). IAN status was comparable between designs, although the nerve more frequently required manipulation from the proximal mandibular segment when the conventional design was used (OR 1.21; 95%CI 0.99–1.47; p = 0.06).

The results suggest that the angled osteotomy design promotes a more posterior lingual fracture originating from the inferior border cut and a trend was apparent that this may also possibly decrease the incidence of bad splits and IAN entrapment. These results must be carefully extrapolated to the clinical setting, with future studies clarifying our findings.

INTRODUCTION

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is a popular orthognathic surgical technique introduced by Trauner and Obwegeser.¹ Initially, the sagittal split of the ramus was induced by placing a horizontal bone cut in the lingual cortex just above the mandibular foramen and a parallel bone cut in the buccal cortex approximately 25 millimeters (mm) below the posterior mandibular border. These bone cuts were connected by sawing the ramus in the sagittal plane, thus completing the split.

Subsequently, modifications in the osteotomy pattern were suggested to increase the reliability of this technique. Dal Pont² advanced the buccal bone cut towards the second molar to increase bony contact between the mandibular segments. Hunsuck³ suggested a shorter horizontal lingual bone cut and an inferior border cut completely through the inferior mandibular cortex, completing the sagittal split with a lingual fracture between these bone cuts.

These modifications included all the components of the contemporary osteotomy design.⁴ This conventional osteotomy design includes three preliminary bone cuts: a horizontal lingual cut ending just posterior to the mandibular foramen, a connecting sagittal bone cut down the anterior border of the ascending ramus and a vertical buccal bone cut just distal to the second molar, running perpendicular to the inferior mandibular border. The buccal bone cut progresses as an inferior border cut through the inferior cortex, making an angle of 90° with the inferior cortex and reaching into the lingual cortex. Since the last modification by Hunsuck in 1968, the introduction of rigid fixation has further increased the stability and success rate of BSSO.⁵⁻⁷ Furthermore, different instruments and techniques have been suggested to successfully complete the split, minimising

complications.⁸⁻¹⁰ Although these developments improved the BSSO technique, the osteotomy design remains mostly consistent.

We developed a modified osteotomy design aimed at increasing the predictability and reliability of the lingual fracture and minimising complications. This angled osteotomy design differs from the conventional design in that it includes an oblique buccal bone cut originating at the distal border of the second molar and ending inferiorly near the masseteric tuberosity. This angled buccal bone cut extends as a posteriorly aimed inferior border cut into the lingual cortex, making an angle of approximately 45° with the inferior cortex.

In this study, we aimed to analyse the lingual fracture patterns, incidence of bad splits and status of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) after BSSO using the conventional design and our modified design in cadaveric mandibles.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

This randomised controlled study included a total of 28 cadaveric dentulous mandibles randomised into the conventional osteotomy and angled osteotomy groups. All mandibles were fully grown and contained an adult dentition. They were obtained from anonymous post-mortem donors who had donated their bodies for research purposes. The donors' bodies were embalmed in formaldehyde for preservation purposes. The mandibles were surgically resected and soft tissues were separated by hand. Before surgery, the status of individual teeth and the mandibular dimensions, including mandibular body height and -width in the second molar region and the ramus breadth at the level of the mandibular foramen were recorded.

Mandibles from both groups were randomly divided between two surgeons, performing BSSO using a sagittal splitter and separator as described by Mensink et al.¹⁰ In the conventional osteotomy group, BSSO was performed as described by Hunsuck³ (Figures 1 a and 1b). The horizontal lingual bone cut was placed approximately 3–5 mm above the mandibular foramen, ending in the deepest point of the concavity of the mandibular foramen. The sagittal connecting bone cut was placed to extend down the anterior border of the ascending ramus towards the distal border of the second molar, passing just medial to the lateral oblique ridge. The vertical buccal bone cut was a straight cut, perpendicular to the inferior mandibular border and just distal to the second molar. The inferior border cut was placed perpendicular to the inferior cortex, just extending into the lingual cortex.



Figure 1a: A schematic of the conventional osteotomy design described by Hunsuck.



<u>Figure 1b</u>: Bone cuts placed during conventional bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. A vertical buccal bone cut perpendicular to the inferior border of the mandible progresses as an inferior border cut perpendicular to the inferior mandibular cortex.

In the angled osteotomy group, our modified osteotomy design was used (Figures 2a and 2b), which included the same horizontal lingual and connecting sagittal bone cuts. The modification was the use of an angled vertical buccal bone cut making an angle of approximately 45° with the inferior border of the mandible. This angled buccal bone cut originated from the distal border of the second molar, extending towards the mandibular angle and ending near the masseteric tuberosity. The inferior border cut was therefore positioned near the masseteric tuberosity and was subsequently aimed in a posterior direction.



Figure 2a: A schematic of the angled osteotomy design. A modified buccal bone cut is placed towards the anterior border of the masseteric tuberosity, with a posteriorly aimed inferior border cut.



<u>Figure 2b</u>: Bone cuts placed during angled bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. An oblique buccal bone cut originating from the second molar and progressing towards the masseteric tuberosity, extending as an inferior border cut making an angle of approximately 45° with the inferior cortex.

Care was taken that both groups were to the greatest extent possible similar with regard to all other aspects of the osteotomy design such as for example the length of the medial horizontal osteotomy into the retrolingular fossa and the depth of the inferior border osteotomy in the lingual depression of the mandible. In both groups, the buccal bone cut was bevelled to enhance easy splitting of the mandible. The splitting technique with sagittal splitter and separator was the same in both groups.

The pattern of lingual fracture was evaluated in both groups. The start of the split was assessed as either originating from the inferior border cut and coursing through the lingual cortex or originating within and running through the inferior mandibular cortex. In the latter case, the mean length of the inferior cortex fracture was measured. The progressing lingual fracture line was analysed in relation



to the mandibular canal and categorised as follows: coursing through the entire length of the canal, progressing through approximately two-thirds of the canal, progressing through approximately one-third of the canal and remaining posterior to the mandibular canal. The end of the split was recorded in relation to the mandibular foramen and defined to be either within the mandibular foramen or posterior to the mandibular foramen. We also categorised the fracture lines using a lingual split scale, previously described by Plooij et al.¹¹ In this scale, LSS1 represent a true Hunsuck fracture that remains posterior to the mandibular canal, LSS2 represents an even more posterior Obwegeser fracture that passes through the posteroinferior mandibular border, LSS3 represents a more anterior fracture that passes through the mandibular canal or mylohyoid groove and LSS4 represents unfavourable fractures, also known as bad splits.

We analysed the incidence of bad splits and assessed the status of the inferior alveolar nerve (IAN). The visibility of the nerve was defined as follows: not visible, less than 50% visible in the distal segment, more than 50% visible in the distal segment and completely visible in the proximal mandibular segment. If the IAN required manipulation from the proximal segment, this was recorded, and we assessed visible damage to the IAN in such cases.

This study was performed in accordance with the guidelines of our institution and followed the Declaration of Helsinki on medical protocol and ethics. Due to the ex-vivo nature of this study, it was granted an exemption in writing by the Leiden University Medical Center institutional review board.

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were computed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS version 21.0 for OSX, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) software. Descriptive analyses were used to evaluate the different aspects of the lingual fracture lines, the incidence of bad splits and the IAN status. Pearson's chi-squared tests and Student's t-test were used to assess associations between the two techniques. Generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) were used to analyse significance of differences between the techniques, taking into account the repeated measurement design (left and right measurement within one mandible). Odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated. A probability value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Sample characteristics

The mean number of teeth in each mandible was 11.8 (SD, 3.5; range, 4–16). There was no significant difference in the number of individual teeth between the two groups (Table 1). Third molars were included in 10 SSOs in the conventional osteotomy group and five SSOs in the angled osteotomy group; there was no significant difference between groups (OR, 0.39; 95% CI, 0.11–1.35; p = 0.13).

The mean height and width of the mandibular body were 23.7 mm (SD, 4.2; range, 15.0–35.0) and 14.3 mm (SD, 2.3; range, 8.0–19.0) and the mean breadth of the ramus was 7.7 mm (SD, 1.4; range, 5.0–11.0). No significant difference in mandibular dimensions was recorded between the two groups (Table 1). The mandibles were similar with regard to the horizontal lingual bone cut intro the retrolingular fossa, the sagittal connecting bone cut and the depth of the inferior border cut.

	Conventional osteotomy	Angled osteotomy	p-value
Number of teeth (n)	11.50	12.07	0.67
Incisors	3.29	3.93	0.10
Cuspids	2.00	2.00	1.00
Premolars	3.29	3.71	0.27
Molars	2.79	2.43	0.68
Body height (mm)	23.07	24.34	0.26
Body width (mm)	13.88	14.68	0.19
Ramus breadth (mm)	7.93	7.55	0.31

<u>Table 1:</u> Mean number of individual teeth and mean mandibular dimension values in the conventional osteotomy and angled osteotomy groups.

Conventional osteotomy design

After splitting according to the conventional osteotomy design, the lingual fracture line originated from the inferior border cut and coursed through the lingual cortex in 15 fractures, while it originated within the inferior mandibular cortex in 13. The mean length of the fracture through the inferior cortex was 10.42 mm (SD, 4.76; range, 3.00–18.00). Progression of the lingual fracture in relation to the mandibular canal was as follows: completely through the canal in 10 cases, originating inferiorly and subsequently progressing through at least two-thirds of the canal in seven cases, progressing through one-third of the canal in four cases and remaining posterior to the canal in six cases. Twenty-one fractures ended in the mandibular foramen and six ended posterior to the foramen. A total of 12 and 13 lingual fracture lines were classified as LSS1 and LSS3, respectively. Three bad splits (LSS4) occurred, including two lingual plate fractures and one buccal plate fracture originating within the inferior cortex and extending to the semilunar incisure (Figure 3).

The IAN was not visible in two cases, less than 50% visible in the distal segment in four cases and more than 50% visible in 14 cases. The nerve had to be manipulated from the proximal segment in seven cases.



<u>Figure 3:</u> A bad split after conventional bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. It appears as a buccal plate fracture originating within the inferior cortex of the mandible and extending to the semilunar incisure.

Angled osteotomy design

In the angled osteotomy group, the lingual fracture line of 27 fractures originated from the inferior border cut and coursed through the lingual cortex. One lingual fracture originated within the inferior cortex and extended for a length of 5.00 mm. The progression of the split in relation to the mandibular canal was as follows: completely through the canal in four cases, originating inferiorly and progressing through at least two-thirds of the canal in two cases, progressing through one-third of the canal or less in 13 cases and remaining posterior to the canal in nine cases. Four fractures ended in the mandibular foramen and 24 posterior to the foramen. A total of 23 lingual fracture lines were classified as LSS1 and five fracture lines were classified as LSS3. No bad splits occurred.

The IAN was less than 50% visible after 11 splits and more than 50% visible after 15 splits. The nerve had to be prepared from the proximal segment after two splits.

Conventional vs. angled osteotomy design

In the angled osteotomy group, a significantly higher number of lingual fracture lines originated from the inferior border cut and coursed completely through the lingual cortex (OR, 1.54; 95% CI, 1.27–1.86; p < 0.01). Furthermore, the lingual fracture subsequently progressed posterior to the mandibular canal in a significantly higher number of splits in this group (OR, 2.11; 95% CI, 1.22–3.63; p < 0.01). The end of the fracture line was posterior to the foramen in a significantly higher number of splits in the angled osteotomy group (OR, 1.99; 95% CI, 1.28–3.08; p < 0.01). The lingual split scale identified a significantly higher number of LSS1 splits in the angled osteotomy group (OR, 2.44; 95% CI, 1.53–3.89; p < 0.01), while the conventional osteotomy group showed a greater number of LSS3 splits (Figures 4 and 5).

Three bad splits occurred in the conventional osteotomy group as opposed to none in the angled osteotomy group, although this difference was not statistically significant (OR, 1.11; 95% CI, 0.99–

1.25; p = 0.07). There was no significant difference in IAN visibility between the two techniques (OR, 1.34; 95% CI, 0.92–1.94; p = 0.12). Although the nerve required manipulation from the proximal segment more frequently in the conventional osteotomy group, there was no significant difference between groups (OR, 1.21; 95% CI, 0.99–1.47; p = 0.06). There was no visible damage to the IAN in both groups.



<u>Figure 4:</u> Lingual fracture after conventional bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. It is classified as an LSS3 fracture, which progresses completely through the mandibular canal.



<u>Figure 5:</u> Lingual fracture after angled bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. It is classified as an LSS1 split or a true Hunsuck split, which progresses posteriorly to the mandibular canal.

DISCUSSION

This randomised preclinical trial using cadaveric mandibles analysed the lingual fracture pattern and IAN status after BSSO using the angled osteotomy design and the conventional osteotomy design.

Our hypothesis was that a change in the angle of the buccal bone cut in BSSO could give a more predictable outcome with a posteriorly developing lingual fracture pattern. We found that the lingual fracture was more posteriorly located with the angled osteotomy design, as shown by the significantly more posterior relation of the fracture line to the mandibular canal and -foramen and the occurrence of more true Hunsuck (LSS1) splits. The use of the angled buccal bone cut, which resulted in a more distally placed (angled) inferior border cut, could explain this difference. With both osteotomy designs, the inferior border cut is placed at the end of the buccal bone cut progressing through the inferior cortex into the lingual cortex. However, with the angled osteotomy design, the inferior cortex is placed near the masseteric tuberosity and is aimed in a posterior direction. It makes sense that the fact that this osteotomy through the inferior cortex is located more posteriorly, could explain the lingual fracture pattern subsequently developing more posteriorly. The position and angulation of the bone cut thus resulted in a more posterior origin of the split, explaining the more posterior lingual fracture pattern.

9

With the angled osteotomy design, all but one lingual fracture originated from the inferior border cut (96.4%), compared with slightly more than 50% with the conventional osteotomy design (53.6%). When the sagittal split does not originate from the inferior border cut, but originates and courses through the inferior cortex, it provides the advantage of additional bony contact between both mandibular segments. Furthermore, it decreases the probability of creating a defect at the inferior mandibular border.¹² Especially with the Dal Pont lateral cut, where an inferior border cut is placed at a 90 degrees angle reaching into the lingual cortex, there is an increased risk the technique will result in this unaesthetic defect. However, a fracture through the inferior cortex is accompanied by the risk of the fracture line turning towards the buccal cortex, resulting in a buccal plate fracture. This occurred in one case in the conventional osteotomy group in this study (Figure 3). With the conventional osteotomy design, a total of three bad splits occurred, as opposed to none in the angled osteotomy group. Clinical studies have shown that conventional BSSO using sagittal splitter and separators does not result in a higher number of bad splits compared with other techniques.¹² It can be hypothesised that the angled osteotomy design further decreases the incidence of bad splits, thus increasing the reliability of the technique. In this study, a trend was apparent that the angled osteotomy could result in less bad splits but this difference was not statistically significant. Although the splits originated from the inferior border cut in almost all cases in the angled osteotomy aroup, this design can also decrease the risk of inferior border defects because the inferior border cut is placed more posteriorly (near the masseteric tuberosity). Therefore, the masseter muscle can mask unaesthetic defects, preventing visible inferior border defects in the masseter muscle region.

We hypothesised a more posterior lingual fracture with the angled osteotomy design, which can prevent IAN entrapment in the proximal segment. If the fracture develops more posteriorly it should involve the mandibular canal (and therefore the nerve) less than with a more anterior lingual fracture pattern. In this study we found no significant difference between the two groups regarding the visibility of the IAN after the split. Although the nerve had to be manipulated from the proximal segment less frequently with the angled osteotomy design, the difference was not statistically significant.

Several authors have described the influence of the osteotomy design on the lingual fracture line. Plooij et al.¹¹ showed that a longer horizontal lingual bone cut ending behind the anterior border of the mandibular foramen resulted in more LSS1 splits, i.e. a more posterior splitting pattern. In both groups in our study, we placed similar horizontal lingual bone cuts in the concavity of the foramen that ended behind the anterior border of the foramen. The horizontal lingual bone cuts were therefore the same with both the conventional and angled osteotomy design. Muto et al.¹³ investigated the influence of the lateral (buccal) bone cut on the splitting pattern and reported a favourable split in the lingual cortex when the lateral bone cut extended through the inferior border into the lingual cortex, similar to the inferior border cut used in this study. Muto et al.¹³ and Song et al.¹⁴ further showed that a lateral bone cut remaining in the buccal cortex increased the risk of bad splits by causing unfavourable buccal plate fractures. In both osteotomy designs used in this study, the lateral bone cut did not remain in the buccal cortex but extended into the lingual cortex. With both the conventional and the angled osteotomy design, care was taken to make sure the inferior border cut completely reached into the lingual cortex and the buccal bone cut was bevelled exactly the same in both groups to prevent confounding effects of the different bone cuts in the osteotomy design.

Mensink et al.¹⁵ hypothesised a path of least resistance through the mylohyoid groove, although they could not confirm this hypothesis. In their study, they performed conventional BSSO using sagittal splitters and separators in cadaveric mandibles 16 and reported that 72.5% lingual fractures ended in the mandibular foramen; this value was 75% in our study. Other aspects of the splits were also roughly similar. Mensink et al.¹⁶ also reported a reliable splitting pattern after BSSO using sagittal splitters and separators, without an increased risk of bad splits, which was confirmed by clinical studies.^{12, 17}

The conventional osteotomy design has been used since 1968.¹⁻³ Over the years, several modifications in this design have been suggested. In 1987, Wolford et al. suggested that the horizontal lingual bone cut should be placed close to the lingula because increased medullary bone between the buccal and lingual cortical plates at this level could facilitate an easier split.¹⁸ Furthermore, they advanced the buccal bone cut towards the distal border of the first molar to minimise the probability of encountering a nerve near the buccal cortex and to increase bony contact between the mandibular segments. We also advocate a horizontal lingual bone cut close to the lingula, preferably 3–5 mm above the lingula and ending in the concavity of the mandibular foramen. However, it remains controversial whether the advanced buccal bone cut, which leads to increased bony contact, is necessary to enhance the success of the procedure. This is particularly questionable when rigid fixation is used, which oissubly reduces the need for increased bony contact. A reliable and predictable result is expected with rigid fixation using either mini-plates or bi-cortical screws inserted through the superior border of the mandibular body.¹⁹ An example, where the advanced buccal bone cut could be useful is when a BSSO procedure with the angled osteotomy design requires a large advancement of the proximal mandibular segment. It could be hypothesised that a more posteriorly located inferior border cut could limit the amount of possible advancement. In these BSSO cases with large advancements of the mandible the surgeon could consider using an advanced buccal cut towards the distal border of the first molar to facilitate the advancement.

In a later publication, Wolford et al.⁸ suggested a parallel bone cut through the inferior cortex using a reciprocating saw to enhance the split through the inferior border. Schoen et al.²⁰ later reported a similar bone cut to decrease the magnitude of resistance encountered during splitting. The goal of using this additional bone saw in the inferior cortex was to increase the predictability and control of the split. This is supposedly accomplished by the decreased distance between the end of the inferior bone cut and the end of the horizontal bone cut, which results in an easy lingual fracture with little force. A similar mechanism resulting in a more predictable split because of a decreased distance between the preliminary bone cuts is observed with the angled osteotomy design. Wyatt⁴ later advocated the extension of the buccal bone cut further anteriorly over the external oblique ridge, curving inferiorly near the first molar-second bicuspid region. The rationale for this anteriorly placed buccal bone cut was a wider mandibular body and a more lingual location of the IAN in this region, thus preventing nerve encounter and subsequent damage (as earlier mentioned by Wolford et al.¹⁸). A more anterior position of the buccal bone cut can also be considered with the angled osteotomy design; however, it is not necessary. Wyatt⁴ advocated the use of a fine, flexible cement spatula chisel in all areas, thus increasing the need to prevent a nerve encounter with this sharp chisel. The requirement of this advanced buccal bone cut during BSSO using sagittal splitters and separators without any sharp instruments is therefore debatable.

Keeping the abovementioned modifications in mind, some authors advocated the use of the original horizontal mandibular osteotomy.^{21, 22} This supraforaminal horizontal osteotomy includes an oblique bone cut through the ramus, placed above the mandibular foramen to prevent damage to the IAN. The most evident disadvantage of this challenging technique is the short proximal segment, making effective condylar positioning difficult and decreasing reliability. We therefore prefer BSSO as the treatment of choice in orthognathic surgery.

During BSSO using the angled osteotomy design, the buccal bone cut should be cautiously placed just through the buccal cortex without extending into the medullary bone to prevent damage to the IAN, which can be positioned near the buccal cortex as mentioned earlier. Additional preoperative three-dimensional cone-beam computed tomography can be considered to assess the position of the IAN in relation to the buccal cortex. Furthermore, surgeons should cut completely through the inferior cortex. We prefer using Piezo-electric surgery to cut the inferior cortex, which prevents damage to the IAN and allows for an inferior border cut that extends completely into the

lingual cortex. With the angled osteotomy design, we aim the inferior border cut in a posterior direction to achieve a posterior lingual fracture (LSS1 or true Hunsuck split).

The results of cadaveric studies should be carefully interpreted in relation to the actual clinical setting. Extrapolating these preclinical results based on a cadaveric study with fixation artefacts and bone behaviour differences to the clinic is always difficult. Cadaveric mandibles are formalinised for preservation purposes and have furthermore an increased visibility of the mandibular foramen because of the absence of soft tissues, thus making the clinical conditions easier. We tried to maximise the reliability of this study by using only dentulous mandibles in a simulated clinical setting. We therefore believe this study to be a suitable pilot for investigating the angled osteotomy design and we believe the observations are valuable for the clinician performing mandibular orthognathic surgery.

In conclusion, the angled osteotomy design promotes a reliable posteriorly developing lingual fracture pattern originating from the inferior border cut and furthermore a trend (although not statistically significant) was apparent suggesting this may decrease the incidence of bad splits and IAN entrapment. Further studies in the clinic, for example using cone-beam computed tomography, are required to evaluate the pattern of lingual fractures after BSSO and associated complications. This will eventually increase the reliability of the procedure and further decrease the complications of BSSO, such as bad splits and neurosensory disturbance caused by IAN damage.

REFERENCES

1. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. I. Surgical procedures to correct mandibular prognathism and reshaping of the chin. Oral SurgOral MedOral Pathol. 1957;10:677-89.

2. Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism. JOral SurgAnesthHospDentServ. 1961; 19:42-7.

3. Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. JOral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

4. Wyatt WM. Sagittal ramus split osteotomy: literature review and suggested modification of technique. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1997;35:137-41.

5. B S. Osteosynthese bei sagittaler Osteotomie nach Obwegeser/Dal Pont. Fortschritte in Kieferund Gesichtschirurgie. Stuttgart: Thieme; 1974. p. XVIII.

 Champy M, Lodde JP, Schmitt R, Jaeger JH, Muster D. Mandibular osteosynthesis by miniature screwed plates via a buccal approach. JMaxillofacSurg. 1978;6:14-21.

 Lindorf HH. Sagittal ramus osteotomy with tandem screw fixation. Technique and results. J Maxillofac Surg. 1986; 14:311-6.

8. Wolford LM, Davis WM, Jr. The mandibular inferior border split: a modification in the sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1990;48:92-4.

 Sanders KJ. The Withington osteotomes: an aid to sagittal split osteotomies. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1997;35:52-3.

10. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

11. Plooij JM, Naphausen MT, Maal TJ, Xi T, Rangel FA, Swennnen G, et al. 3D evaluation of the lingual fracture line after a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. IntJOral MaxillofacSurg. 2009;38:1244-9.

12. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco Bergsma J, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;51:525-9.

 Muto T, Takahashi M, Akizuki K. Evaluation of the mandibular ramus fracture line after sagittal split ramus osteotomy using 3-dimensional computed tomography. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:e648-52.

14. Song JM, Kim YD. Three-dimensional evaluation of lingual split line after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in asymmetric prognathism. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;40:11-6.

15. Mensink G, Gooris PJ, Bergsma JE, Wes JT, van Merkesteyn JP. Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles: evaluation of the lingual fracture line based on the use of splitters and separators. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2013;116:281-6.

16. Mensink G, Gooris PJ, Bergsma EJ, Frank MH, van Gemert JT, van Merkesteyn JP. Is the Lingual Fracture Line Influenced by the Mandibular Canal or the Mylohyoid Groove During a Bilateral Sagittal Split Osteotomy? A Human Cadaveric Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013.

17. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014.

 Wolford LM, Bennett MA, Rafferty CG. Modification of the mandibular ramus sagittal split osteotomy. Oral SurgOral MedOral Pathol. 1987;64:146-55.

19. Verweij JP, Houppermans PN, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JP. Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients, and review of published papers. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;52:756-60.

20. Schoen P, Frotscher M, Eggeler G, Kessler P, Wolff KD, Boeckmann R. Modification of the bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) in a study using pig mandibles. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;40:516-20.

21. Kaduk WM, Podmelle F, Louis PJ. Revisiting the supraforaminal horizontal oblique osteotomy of the mandible. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:421-8.

22. Seeberger R, Asi Y, Thiele OC, Hoffmann J, Stucke K, Engel M. Neurosensory alterations and function of the temporomandibular joint after high oblique sagittal split osteotomy: an alternative technique in orthognathic surgery. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;51:536-40.



CHAPTER 10

Influence of the inferior border cut on lingual fracture pattern during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators: a prospective observational study

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Houppermans PNWJ*, Verweij JP*, Mensink G, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR

^{(*}both authors contributed equally)

Influence of the inferior border cut on lingual fracture pattern during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators: a prospective observational study

Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery 2016; 44: 1592-1598.

132

ABSTRACT

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is a widely used orthognathic surgery technique. This prospective observational study investigated the correspondence between the planned inferior border cut and the actually executed inferior border cut during BSSO. The influence of the performance of the inferior border cut on lingual fracture patterns was also analysed.

Postoperative cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) scans of 41 patients, representing 82 sagittal split osteotomies were investigated. The inferior border cut was intended to penetrate completely through the caudal cortex. Descriptive statistics were used to analyse the planned and executed inferior border cuts. Mixed models were employed to investigate the influence of independent variables as the surgeon's experience on the inferior border cut and secondarily the inferior border cut on lingual fracture patterns and the incidence of bad splits.

The inferior border cut reached the caudal cortex in all cases, but only reached the lingual cortex in 38% of the splits. There was no significant relationship between the inferior border cut and a specific lingual fracture line.

In this study, postoperative CBCT analysis revealed that the bone cuts during BSSO were often not placed exactly as planned. Despite this, no significant relationship between the inferior border cut and lingual fracture patterns or bad splits was detected. Further research is needed to identify factors that could make the sagittal split more predictable.

INTRODUCTION

Orthognathic procedures are widely used for the correction of maxillofacial deformities. One of the most popular techniques is the bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO). The technique originates from Schuchardt¹ (1942), who introduced a modification of the horizontal subcondylar osteotomy previously described by Blair² in 1907. This modification consisted of two horizontal cortex osteotomies in the mandibular ramus, with the aim of bilaterally splitting the mandibular ramus. The first horizontal cut was placed just above the mandibular foramen at the lingual side of the ramus, and the second cut was positioned approximately 10 mm caudally at the buccal side.¹ This first version of the BSSO was subsequently popularised and further developed by Trauner and Obwegeser³ in 1957. They extended the horizontal cut at the buccal side more caudally, so the distance between the bone cuts was approximately 25 mm.

Since then, several modifications have been suggested to improve the technique. Dal Pont⁴ extended the buccal bone cut more ventrally towards the second molar, in order to increase bony contact and stability. Hunsuck⁵ proposed a shorter horizontal bone cut at the medial side in order to achieve a controlled fracture in the lingual cortex, and was the first to complete the sagittal split by performing a controlled lingual fracture. Epker⁶ later emphasised the importance of an inferior border cut that extended completely through the inferior cortex, for ease of splitting. Several authors subsequently advocated a cut through the inferior cortex of the mandible.⁷⁻⁹ With this technique the full thickness of the lower border of the mandible remains on the proximal segment. The aim of this is to strengthen the proximal segment and thereby increase control of the lingual fracture and prevent unfavorable splits.¹⁰

The influence of the osteotomy design and orientation of the bone cuts on the lingual fracture pattern during BSSO have been the subject of recent research.¹¹⁻¹³ Modification of the osteotomy design can increase the predictability of the sagittal split.¹² An altered orientation of the bone cuts or incomplete bone cuts can, on the other hand, increase the risk of a bad split.^{14, 15} Recent reports show that accomplishing the bone cuts completely as planned is a challenge, due to limited visibility during BSSO.^{11, 14, 15} The course of the lingual split results from the design and the extent of the

cortical bone cuts, including the type of manipulation during the splitting technique. Evaluation of the position of the bone cut as a factor in the sagittal split procedure is therefore important. Visualisation of the lingual part and inferior border of the mandible is compromised during surgery, and is only possible using (postoperative) cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) scanning. The chance of an incomplete bone cut due to limited visibility could therefore be high when performing the inferior border cut that was proposed by Epker.⁶

In this study, the position of the inferior border cut was investigated and secondarily the influence of this inferior border cut on lingual fracture patterns and unfavorable fractures was analysed.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study group

This study prospectively observed a consecutive group of 43 patients who received a BSSO alone or bimaxillary procedures either with or without genioplasty. The procedures were performed between January 2013 and July 2014 at the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery of the Leiden University Medical Center. The procedure was always performed by one of four experienced surgeons, usually supervising a resident on the contralateral side. All procedures were performed according to the same treatment protocol that included the use of postoperative CBCT as part of standard clinical follow-up.

The patients' medical files were screened for age at surgery, gender, malocclusion class, and simultaneous procedures (i.e. Le Fort I osteotomy or genioplasty). The postoperative CBCT scan was used to evaluate the position of the mandibular segments and the lingual fracture pattern within the first week after BSSO.

All consecutive patients that received BSSO in the aforementioned time period were included. Patients were excluded when alternative surgical techniques were used and in the case of incomplete data, for example when postoperative scans were not performed correctly and the bone cuts or fracture lines could not be visualised adequately.

The main outcome variable in this study was the position of the inferior bone cut, defined as either in the buccal cortex, in the inferior border or through the inferior border reaching into the lingual cortex. Secondary outcome variables were the lingual split pattern and the occurrence of a bad split possibly influenced by the inferior border cut.

Evaluation of the CBCT

A postoperative CBCT scan (Planmeca Promax®3D Max, 96 kV, 11 mA) was performed within the first week after BSSO. The patients' CBCT images were uploaded into Osirix v.5.7.1 32 in the form of DICOM files in order to generate a 3D reconstruction of the mandible. The view settings used were: WL/WW; CT bone, CLUT; 16 bit CLUT, opacity; linear table.

The mandible was separated from the scan and positioned in a symmetrical position by aligning the inferior borders, occlusal plane, and temporomandibular joints. A crop cube was generated and aligned with the inferior border of the mandible (Figure 1). The caudal position of the crop cube and the aligned mandible were not changed. The cube and mandible where subsequently rotated 90 degrees in order to get a perpendicular view of the caudal side of the mandible. This view was exported and subsequently used to derive measurements at the inferior border. The crop cube was then aligned with the buccal and lingual cortex of the distal segment and rotated to achieve a view perpendicular to the buccal and lingual side of the mandible. Once aligned, the region of interest was further explored by using the crop tool. Points of interest were specified in the CBCT and checked from the different views. Acquired projections were exported in standard format

and subsequently used to derive further measurements. Contrast corrections were only used when difficulties involving split pattern tracing were present.



Figure 1: Alignment of the inferior borders, occlusal plane, and temporomandibular joints of the mandible in the crop cube.

Measurements

The inferior border cut was categorised as either ending in the buccal cortex, in the caudal cortex, or in the lingual cortex. If the inferior border cut was performed completely through the caudal cortex and extended into the lingual cortex, the length of the inferior border cut in the lingual cortex was measured.

The postoperative CBCT was evaluated in the abovementioned standardised lingual view, caudal view, and buccal view. First, the lingual view (constructed perpendicular to the lingual cortex, with the inferior borders exactly aligned) was assessed. When the inferior border cut was visible from the lingual view, the lingual corticalis was thus affected and the inferior border cut was categorised as ending in the lingual cortex. Second, the caudal view (constructed perpendicular to the tangent to the caudal border) was assessed. When the inferior border cut was not visible from the lingual view, but was visible in the caudal view, the cut was categorised as ending in the caudal cortex. When the inferior border cut was not visible from the lingual view, but was visible in the caudal view, the cut was categorised as ending in the caudal cortex. When the inferior border cut was not visible from the lingual cortex, it was categorised as a cut ending in the buccal cortex.

The measurement of the inferior border cuts that extended into the lingual cortex was performed in the standardised lingual view (Figure 2). This measurement was defined as the distance in the cranial dimension from the inferior border of the distal segment to the end of the cut. In cases where difficulties were encountered in differentiating between the end of the cut and the beginning of the split in the perpendicular views, the reconstructed mandible was rotated in different directions to get a clear view of the end of the cut and beginning of the split. In unclear cases, the axial, coronal, and transversal views of the plain CBCT scans could furthermore be consulted in order to define this transition. A point of interest was placed at the end of the inferior border cut of the reconstructed mandible. This point was automatically transferred to all standardised views of the reconstructed mandible and enabled exact positioning of the end of the inferior border cut.



<u>Figure 2:</u> Measurement of the inferior border cut in the lingual cortex. (a) LSS1 fracture pattern that did not initiate from the (end of the) inferior border cut, but started from the caudal cortex, extending dorsally before reaching the lingual cortex. The red line represents the measured length of the inferior border cut. (b) LSS3 fracture pattern that initiated from the end of the inferior border cut. A clear transition from the inferior border cut into the lingual fracture is visible. The red line represents the measured length of the inferior border cut.

The lingual fracture line was evaluated using the lingual split scale (LSS).¹¹ A LSS1 split was defined as a fracture line originating through the caudal cortex and progressing caudal and dorsal to the mandibular canal ('true' Hunsuck). A LSS2 split was defined as a fracture line through the caudal and posterior cortex of the ramus. A LSS3 split was defined as a fracture line originating from the inferior border and progressing through the mandibular canal. A LSS4 split was defined as any other (unfavorable) fracture pattern (Figures 3 and 4). The lingual fracture patterns were scored by two observers, who evaluated the lingual fractures of every scan separately. Differences were subsequently discussed and classified based on a consensus between both investigators. If a consensus could not be reached, a third observer could be consulted.



Figure 3: Different lingual fracture patterns according to the lingual split scale (LSS), as previously described by Plooij et al. (a) LSS1 fracture line originating from the caudal cortex and progressing through the caudal cortex, caudally and dorsally of the mandibular canal ('true" Hunsuck). (b) LSS2 fracture line through the caudal and posterior cortex of the ramus. (c) LSS3 fracture line originating from the inferior border (cut) and progressing through the mandibular canal.





Figure 4: 3D reconstructed models of the mandible from a lingual view. (a) LSS1 fracture line. In this case the inferior border cut was not visible from this lingual view as it ended in the caudal cortex.

(b) LSS3 fracture line progressing through the mandibular canal. The inferior border cut is not visible as it ended in the caudal cortex.



(c) LSS4 fracture line, or unfavorable split. Although the inferior border cut reached in the caudal cortex, the initiation of the fracture line was in the buccal cortex.

Surgical procedure

All BSSOs were performed according to the same treatment protocol, using the same surgical technique that was previously described by van Merkesteyn et al.¹⁶ Splitting forceps and separators (Smith ramus separator, sagittal separators curved left and right, Walter Lorentz Surgical, Jacksonville, FL, USA) were used to perform all BSSO procedures without the use of chisels. The procedures were performed under general anesthesia, and local anesthetic was infiltrated (1:160000 Ultracaine D-S; Aventis Pharma, Hoevelaken, Netherlands).

The medial side of the ramus was exposed and a periosteal flap was elevated with a periosteal elevator to identify the mandibular foramen. The first bone cut was performed with a long Lindemann burr (2,3 mm x 22 mm), approximately 5 mm above the mandibular foramen and just dorsal of the mandibular foramen. The subsequent sagittal and vertical bone cuts were performed with a short Lindemann burr (1,4 mm x 5 mm). Based on surgical preference either a Lindemann burr or a Piezo

(Mectron, Piezosurgery 3) was used for the inferior border cut. The inferior border cut was aimed perpendicular to the caudal cortex of the mandible. In all cases, the surgeon attempted to perform the inferior border cut completely through the inferior cortex and reaching into the lingual cortex. A dental probe was used to check the extent of the inferior border cut.

To initiate the split, the splitting forceps and separator were placed in the vertical and sagittal cut respectively. First, the mobility of the fragments was checked vertically and horizontally by spreading the sagittal splitter and rotating the separator. Subsequently, the sagittal separator was replaced at the inferior border of the mandible and rotated again. The sagittal split was completed with the alternating use of the splitter and the separator.

When the inferior alveolar nerve was attached to the proximal segment, it was freed with blunt instruments or with the help of either a burr or Piezo. The nerve was always released before completing the sagittal split. Care was taken to prevent nerve damage by sharp bony spicules or instruments. Sharp bony spicules or edges of the mandibular canal were thoroughly removed via a round burr. Chisels were not used to perform BSSO, unless a small bridge of cortical bone at the inferior border between the proximal and distal segment was present.

After mobilisation of the mandibular segments, the mandible was placed into its new intermaxillary position using a wafer. Rigid fixation was performed with three bicortical screws in the upper border of the mandible (Martin GmBH, Tuttlingen, Germany: 9, 11, 13, or 15 mm long; diameter 2.0 mm). Champy plates (Martin GmBh, Tuttlingen Germany) where only used in the cases with a lingual fracture or fragile lingual bone due to removal of third molars.

Patients were discharged from our clinic within 2-4 days after surgery. Standard follow-up consisted of evaluations at 1 week, 3 weeks, and 6, and 12 months after BSSO.

Ethical statement

This study was performed in accordance with the guidelines of our institution and followed the Declaration of Helsinki on medical protocol and ethics. The study protocol was reviewed by the institutional review board (IRB) of the Leiden University Medical Center and because of the observational nature of this study, it was granted exemption in writing from IRB approval.

Statistical methods

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS version 22.0 for Mac, SPSS inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics were performed. Generalised linear mixed models (GLMM) were used to study the effect of the surgeon's experience on the classification of the inferior border cut, lingual fracture pattern, and the occurrence of a bad split. The same models were employed to study the effect of the classification of the inferior border cut on the lingual fracture pattern and the occurrence of bad splits. As all factors were assessed per side, mixed models were required to account for the correlated nature of the left and right side measurements within each patient. Probabilities of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 43 consecutive patients were prospectively included in this study. Two patients were excluded, because BSSO was performed by a (guest) surgeon using alternative techniques. The total study group was thus comprised of 41 patients.

The 82 sagittal split osteotomies were performed by a specialist on 40 sides (48.8%) and by a resident under close supervision of a specialist on 42 sides (52.2%). The inferior border cut was performed with Piezo in 36 (43,9%) sagittal splits and with Lindemann burr in 46 (56,1%) sagittal splits. Patient characteristics are shown in Table 1.

Age (years)	26.8 (10.6), 14.2-55.4		
Mean (SD), range			
Gender			
Male	20 (48.8)		
Female	21 (51.2)		
Malocclusion class			
Ш	33 (80.5)		
III	8 (19.5)		
Procedures			
BSSO	28 (68.3)		
BSSO + Le Fort I	12 (29.3)		
BSSO + Le Fort I + genioplasty	1 (2.4)		

n	(%)

Table 1: Patient characteristics. The data represent the number of patients (%), unless otherwise specified.

CBCT revealed 51 inferior border cuts (62.2%) remaining in the caudal cortex and 31 inferior border cuts (37.8%) cutting completely through the caudal cortex and reaching into the lingual cortex. Of the 31 inferior border cuts in the lingual cortex, 19 (61.3%) were performed with Piezo and 12 (38.7%) were performed with a Lindemann burr. None of the bone cuts remained in the buccal cortex.

Of the cases where the inferior border cut reached into the lingual cortex, the mean length of the cut was 1.0 mm (SD 0.7, range 0.1–2.4). Of the 82 lingual fractures, 39 splits (47.6%) were classified as LSS1, 40 (48.8%) were classified as LSS3, and 3 (3.7%) were unfavorable fracture patterns classified as LSS4. No LSS2 fractures occurred (Table 2). In two sagittal splits, additional (partial) lingual fracture lines were recorded. The three LSS4 splits that were classified as bad splits all ran through the buccal cortex of the proximal mandibular segment. No bilateral bad splits occurred. No additional measures (i.e. different fixation methods) were necessary in any of the cases of a bad split. All sagittal splits were completed successfully. All lingual fracture patterns were classified from the CBCT images based on a consensus between the two primary investigators. The third observer did not need to be consulted.

	LSS1	LSS3	LSS4	Total
Inferior border cut in the lingual cortex	16	13	2	31 (37,8%)
Inferior border cut in the caudal cortex	23	27	1	51 (62,2%)
Total	39 (47,6%)	40 (48,8%)	3 (3,7%)	82 (100%)

Table 2: Lingual fracture patterns. The data represent the number of sagittal splits (%).

GLMMs were employed to investigate the influence of different factors while adjusting for the correlated nature of the data (left and right side within each patient). The experience of the surgeon was not statistically significantly associated with the classification of the inferior border cut (p = 0.59) or the lingual fracture pattern (p = 0.28). Bad splits occurred on the specialist's side in one patient, and on the resident's side in two patients. The surgeon's experience was not significantly associated with the occurrence of bad splits (p = 0.08).

Inferior border cut classification was not statistically significantly associated with lingual fracture pattern (p = 0.53). Bad splits occurred with the inferior border cut ending in the caudal cortex in one patient, and with the inferior border cut extending lingually in two patients. There was no significant association between inferior border cut classification and bad splits (p = 0.31).

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to assess the location of the inferior border cut during BSSO.

Subsequently, the association between the end of the inferior border cut and the lingual split pattern after BSSO was investigated. A complete inferior border cut was attempted in all patients, but achieved in little over 40% of the sagittal splits. When the inferior border cut did reach the lingual cortex, this did not significantly influence the lingual fracture pattern or the occurrence of bad splits.

To date, the investigation of human fracture patterns associated with BSSO has been limited to cadaveric studies, because of the concealed nature of the lingual fracture.¹¹ The use of CBCT now facilitates clinical evaluation of the different patterns of lingual fractures in living patients. Plooij et al.¹¹ recently described a lingual split scale to differentiate between a 'true Hunsuck' fracture (LSS1), a posterior 'Obwegeser' fracture (LSS2), an anterior lingual fracture line (LSS3), and an unfavorable fracture line (LSS4).

Using this scale, we evaluated lingual fracture patterns and found no significant association between them and the inferior border cut. We believe this is mainly due to the fact that none of the inferior border cuts remained in the buccal cortex, and all cuts ended in either the caudal cortex or extended through the caudal cortex into the lingual cortex of the mandible. Thus, the buccal cortex was cut completely in all cases. In a previously published study by Muto et al.¹⁴, the occurrence rate of bad splits was 15%, and in all of those cases the vertical cut ended in the buccal cortex without extending into or through the caudal cortex. This is concordant with Song et al.¹⁵, who reported no bad splits if the inferior border cut ran through the caudal cortex and into the lingual cortex, and they also detected bad splits only when the inferior border cut was not thoroughly placed through the inferior cortex.

In a recently published report by Agbaje et al.¹⁰, the authors suggest performing an inferior border cut into the caudal cortex that does not extend into the lingual surface, to prevent possible inferior border defects. However, we believe that with alternative osteotomy designs, a complete inferior border cut is possible especially when the cut is placed more dorsally near the masseter, and soft

tissue can camouflage possible inferior border defects.¹² Further studies investigating inferior border defects are needed to clarify these findings.

In the current study, the inferior border cut was placed through the caudal cortex as planned in approximately 40% of the sagittal splits. In the other cases the completeness, orientation, or location of the inferior border cut was not precisely in accordance with the standard planning of this bone cut. Plooij et al. 11 described a comparable outcome for the medial bone cut in their study. They planned this horizontal bone cut just dorsal of the mandibular foramen, but actually placed this cut more ventrally in 66% of the cases. This disparity between the planned and actual placement of the bone cuts in BSSO is probably due to limited visibility during surgery, and emphasises the importance of postoperative CBCT usage in the contexts of both research and education. In this study a dental probe was used to check the extent of the inferior border cut as a tool to overcome the limited visibility. In this current study a complete inferior border cut through the caudal cortex was only observed in approximately 40% of the sagittal splits, which makes the use of the dental probe at least questionable.

Plooij et al.¹¹ also reported a significant association between the end of the medial bone cut and the split pattern. In that study, a horizontal bone cut ending just in front of the mandibular foramen resulted in LSS1 ('true Hunsuck') in 45% of cases, and LSS3 in 43%. A horizontal bone cut ending dorsal to the mandibular foramen resulted in LSS1 in 63% of cases, and LSS3 in 11%. In the current study, we attempted to place the horizontal bone cut just dorsal of the mandibular foramen, and observed 47.6% LSS1 fractures and 48.8% LSS3 fractures. Our technique using sagittal splitters and separators may account for the differences in fracture patterns.¹⁶

An association between the split pattern and third molar presence has been reported by both Reyneke et al.¹⁷ and Kriwalsky et al.¹⁸. Furthermore, Verweij et al.¹⁹ reported a significantly increased risk of bad splits when third molar removal was performed during BSSO. Zamiri et al.²⁰ reported that a smaller buccolingual thickness of the ramus was a risk factor for an unfavorable fracture in the lingual surface. Hou et al.²¹ investigated cortical bone thickness dorsal to the mandibular canal, and reported that 75.38% of their splits proceeded as described by Hunsuck⁵. They also classified the shapes of the mandibular ramus in the axial plane into three categories, half-crescent moon, sim-triangle, and a well distributed shape. In that study, they reported that the half-crescent moon and sim-triangle shapes were associated with more LSS2 splits as was reported by Plooij et al.¹¹ Hou et al.²¹ showed that a split in mandibles with a high mandibular angle showed more LSS2 split patterns.¹¹

This study evaluated the position of the inferior border cut using postoperative CBCT scans. The development of the lingual fracture from the end of this bone cut can however cause a smooth transition impeding the exact definition of the end of the inferior border cut. When evaluating the sagittal views of the plain CBCT-scans, the differentiation between the end of the bone cut and the beginning of the fracture seemed difficult. In the reconstructed mandible, the transition from bone cut to lingual fracture was however clearly visible in almost all cases. The standardised views of the plain CBCT-scans. If difficulties in the interpretation of the end of the bone cut were encountered in one view, the different views always clearly showed the exact position of the end of the inferior border cut and this point of interest could be indicated in the reconstructed mandible.

The visibility of the cuts on the lingual, caudal and buccal side of the reconstructed mandible is dictated by the orientation of the reconstructed mandible. To avoid measurement errors, the reconstructed mandible was symmetrically placed in a crop cube and the different views of the mandible were standardised according to the crop cube. By rotating the crop cube, the mandible was rotated simultaneously and could easily be placed in a perpendicular lingual, caudal and buccal view. A simple reproducible view was obtained by using this method.

This study revealed slightly more inferior border cuts extending through the lingual cortex by using Piezo compared with a Lindemann burr, (61.3% and 38.7% respectively). This could suggest that Piezo predisposes a complete inferior border cut into the lingual cortex. Although this relevant topic exceeds the scope of this study, future research should include the investigation of the influence of surgical instruments (e.g. Piezo versus burr) on the inferior border cut and subsequent lingual fracture patterns.

Based on the results of the current study, it is questionable whether or not an inferior border cut extending into the lingual cortex increases the predictability of a sagittal split. A potential explanation for these findings is that the bone cuts are often not performed as planned and an inferior border cut extending into the lingual cortex does not necessarily extend completely through the full thickness of the caudal cortex.

In conclusion, this study shows that postoperative CBCT imaging can facilitate the visualisation of concealed parts (e.g. the inferior border and lingual split patterns), and reveals discrepancies between planned bone cuts and actual bone cuts. The study also suggests that an inferior border cut extending through the lingual cortex does not necessarily lead to higher predictability of a split in BSSO.

142

REFERENCES

1. Schuchardt G. Ein Beitrag zur chirurgischen Kieferorthopardie unter Berucksichtiging ihrer fur die Behandlung angeborener und erworbener Kiefer defomitaten bie Soldaten. Dtsch Zahn Mund Kieferheilkd. 1942;9:73-89.

2. Blair VP. Operations of the Jaw-bone and Face. SurgzGynecol Obstet. 1907;4:67-78.

3. Trauner R, Obwegeser H. The surgical correction of mandibular prognathism and retrognathia with consideration of genioplasty. II. Operating methods for microgenia and distoclusion. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1957;10:787-92; contd.

4. Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism. J Oral Surg Anesth Hosp Dent Serv. 1961; 19:42-7.

 Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. J Oral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

6. Epker BN. Modifications in the sagittal osteotomy of the mandible. J Oral Surg. 1977;35:157-9.

 Epker BN, Wolford LM, Fish LC. Mandibular deficiency syndrome. II. Surgical considerations for mandibular advancement. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1978;45:349-63.

 Wolford LM, Bennett MA, Rafferty CG. Modification of the mandibular ramus sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1987;64:146-55.

9. Reyneke JP. Basic guidelines for the surgical correction of mandibular anteroposterior deficiency and excess. Clin Plast Surg. 2007;34:501-17.

 Agbaje JO, Sun Y, Vrielinck L, Schepers S, Lambrichts I, Politis C. Risk factors for the development of lower border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71:588-96.

11. Plooij JM, Naphausen MT, Maal TJ, Xi T, Rangel FA, Swennnen G, et al. 3D evaluation of the lingual fracture line after a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38:1244-9.

12. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PN, van Merkesteyn JP. Angled Osteotomy Design Aimed to Influence the Lingual Fracture Line in Bilateral Sagittal Split Osteotomy: A Human Cadaveric Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015.

13. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PN, Frank MD, van Merkesteyn JP. Investigation of the influence of mallet and chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2015;43:336-41.

14. Muto T, Takahashi M, Akizuki K. Evaluation of the mandibular ramus fracture line after sagittal split ramus osteotomy using 3-dimensional computed tomography. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:e648-52.

 Song JM, Kim YD. Three-dimensional evaluation of lingual split line after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in asymmetric prognathism. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;40:11-6.

16. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2007;35:222-6.

 Reyneke JP, Tsakiris P, Becker P. Age as a factor in the complication rate after removal of unerupted/impacted third molars at the time of mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:654-9.

 Kriwalsky MS, Maurer P, Veras RB, Eckert AW, Schubert J. Risk factors for a bad split during sagittal split osteotomy. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;46:177-9.

 Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:e359-63.

20. Zamiri B, Tabrizi R, Shahidi S, Pouzesh A. Medial cortex fracture patterns after sagittal split osteotomy using short versus long medial cuts: can we obviate bad splits? Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015.

21. Hou M, Yu TP, Wang JG. Evaluation of the mandibular split patterns in sagittal split ramus osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:985-93.


CHAPTER 11

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in a mandible previously reconstructed with a non-vascularized bone graft

This chapter is based on the manuscript:

Mensink G, Verweij JP, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in a mandible previsouly reconstructed with a non-vascularized bone graft International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 2013; 42: 830-834.

146

ABSTRACT

This case reports of a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) in a reconstructed mandible. A 28year old woman underwent a segmental mandibulectomy, due to a multicystic ameloblastoma in the left jaw. After primary plate reconstruction, final reconstruction was performed with a left posterior iliac crest cortico-cancellous autograft. Because of a pre-existing Class II malocclusion, the patient was analysed for combined orthodontic-surgical treatment. Subsequently, after one year of orthodontic treatment, the BSSO was planned. The sagittal split was performed in the remaining right mandible and on the left side in the iliac crest cortico- cancellous autograft. Ten months later, oral rehabilitation was completed with implant placement in the neo-mandible as well. Follow-up showed a Class I occlusion, with good function. The patient was very satisfied with the functional and aesthetic results. This shows that a BSSO can be performed in a reconstructed mandible, without side effects and with good functional and aesthetic results.

INTRODUCTION

The bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) is a frequent procedure in correcting a Class II malocclusion. Although the technique still presents a certain degree of technical difficulty, it has become a reliable procedure in orthognatic surgery. Reports of BSSO in a mandible, reconstructed with a non-vascularised bone graft, after hemimandibulectomy (because of an ameloblastoma), have not been published previously.

Multicystic ameloblastoma (MA) is an uncommon benign odontogenic neoplasm of the jaws. This cystic tumour is most often found in the mandible in the region of the molars and ramus. Ameloblastoma usually progresses slowly, but are locally invasive and, uncontrolled, may cause significant morbidity and sometimes death. The MA is the most common ameloblastoma and is considered the most aggressive variant. As curative treatment segmental mandibulectomy with a 1- to 1.5 cm linear bony margin is the treatment of choice in these cases.¹

After (partial) resection of mandible, due to large benign tumours, reconstruction is necessary. Several reconstructive procedures, such as vascularised and non-vascularised bone flaps, can be considered.^{2,3} A common technique is reconstruction with a non-vascularised iliac crest bone graft.⁴

After mandibular reconstruction, oral rehabilitation can be completed with implant placement. High survival and success rates after implant placement in autogenous bone grafts are reported, with an excellent prognosis of implant-supported prostheses.⁵

This study reports a case of a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy, in combination with implant rehabilitation in the non-vascularised iliac crest bone graft in a 33-year old woman after hemimandibulectomy, due to a multicystic ameloblastoma.

CASE REPORT

A healthy, 28-year old, female patient was diagnosed with a follicular type multicystic ameloblastoma in the body of the mandible, near the mandibular angle on the left side (Figure 1). The patient underwent a segmental mandibulectomy, starting between the first and second premolar to the ramus, with preservation of the left condyle.

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in a mandible previously reconstructed with a non-vascularized bone graft



Figure 1: Three-dimensional image of the multicystic ameloblastoma in the body and angle of the left hemimandible.

Primary reconstruction was performed with a plate (UniLOCK Plate 2.4, angled, TiCP, SYNTHES, Oberdorf, Germany). Seven months later, after recovery and confirmation of clear pathologic margins, the mandible was reconstructed as described by Marx.4 Restoration of the left hemimandible was performed with a left posterior iliac crest cortico-cancellous autograft. The defect of the mandible was measured (17 mm by 56 mm) preoperatively, using an orthopantomogram (OPT). Via extra-oral approach the initial reconstruction plate was visualised and freed, because it had been fractured, due to trauma. A new similar plate was placed to support and fixate the bone graft. The cortico-cancellous graft was adjusted to the lingual side of the plate and kept in place by primary closure of the soft tissues in several layers. Recovery was uneventful and the graft consolidated in a slightly inferior position (Figure 2).



11

<u>Figure 2</u>: Three-dimensional image of the mandible after reconstruction with a plate and autologous bone from the left posterior iliac crest. The cortico-cancellous autograft consolidated in a slightly inferior position.

Postoperative follow-up showed a pre-existing Class II malocclusion with traumatic gingival recession in the maxillary incisors and generalised periodontitis (Figure 3 and 4). The second molar in the upper left jaw was absent. The second premolar and first molar of the upper left jaw showed no occlusion because of missing antagonists, after the hemimandibulectomy.



<u>Figure 3:</u> Lateral cephalogram taken one month before bilateral sagittal split osteotomy, showing a pre-existing class 2 malocclusion.



<u>Figure 4:</u> Photograph taken before BSSO, showing the contour of the successfully reconstructed mandible, resulting in a class II profile, with a shortened vertical length of the face.

Due to her Class II malocclusion with palatal soft tissue trauma, she was analysed for a combined orthodontic-surgical treatment and occlusal rehabilitation with implants. Radiographic examination in preparation for BSSO showed a bony union of the cortico-cancellous graft, diffuse periodontal reduction of bone and an impacted third molar in the right mandible. Initial treatment of the periodontitis was started.

Preceding the orthognatic surgery, one year previous to BSSO, the reconstruction plate was removed, combined with remodelling of the left hemimandible with autogenous bone from the right anterior iliac crest and removal of the impacted third molar (Figure 5). After successful treatment and stabilisation of the periodontitis, staged orthodontic and surgical treatment was initiated to restore occlusion and prevent further palatal and periodontal trauma.



<u>Figure 5:</u> Three-dimensional image of the reconstructed mandible after removing the reconstruction plate and remodelling of the left hemimandible with autologous bone from the right anterior iliac crest.

After uneventful healing the patient was planned for orthognatic treatment, five years after the first operation. The bilateral sagittal ramus split on the right side was performed, with the use of sagittal splitters and separators instead of chisels, as first described by Van Merkesteyn and Mensink.^{6,7} In the neomandible, the distal end of the iliac crest graft was found to be the site with the highest bone quality and quantity, therefore the split was planned in this section of the mandible. Horizontal, sagittal and vertical cuts were made with a saw (sagittal cut) and Lindemann burr (horizontal and vertical cut) and the split was completed with chisels in combination with sagittal splitters and separators. Chisels were necessary due to the small consistent cortical bone and could be used, because of the absence of the inferior alveolar nerve after hemimandibulectomy. After complete mobilisation of the proximal and distal parts, the mandible was placed into the new intermaxillary relationship using a wafer and intermaxillary wire fixation was applied.

After precise placement of the proximal segments, with normal clinical support of the temporomandibular joints, the right side was fixated with three bicortical screws in the upper border of the mandible. Then the iliac crest graft was subsequently fixated with two bicortical screws. After removal of the temporary intermaxillary fixation a new symmetrical Class I occlusion was created (Figure 6 and 7).



Figure 6: Lateral cephalogram showing a class 1 occlusion after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy and subsequent implant placement.



<u>Figure 7:</u> Photograph taken after BSSO, showing a class I profile as a result of the operation, with a normalized vertical length of the face.

11

Three months after BSSO, the initial stage of implant treatment took place. Two submucosal implants (length 13 mm, diameter 3.8 mm, Branemark, Nobel biocare, Houten, the Netherlands) were placed in the position of the former second premolar and first molar of the left mandible. Seven months after implant placement, the implants were recovered to place 2 healing abutments. Subsequently the prosthetic phase started, after healing of the wound.

From the first operation to the Class I occlusal rehabilitation took about six years. At the last followup the patient had a good function and was satisfied with the result.

DISCUSSION

The different treatment options for patients with ameloblastoma range from enucleation and curettage to more radical surgical management, such as marginal or segmental resection. Multicystic ameloblastomas (MA) are more aggressive and associated with a higher rate of recurrence in comparison with unicystic or peripheral ameloblastoma.¹ MA of the follicular type shows the highest percentage of recurrence. Because this patient was diagnosed with a MA of the follicular type, radical surgical management was indicated. Segmental mandibulectomy with histopathologically clear bony margins is the most effective in preventing recurrence and was therefore the treatment of choice in this case.¹

After segmental resection of the mandible, different methods of reconstruction can be chosen. The two most frequently used techniques are reconstruction with a vascularized bone flap (VBF) or a non-vascularized bone graft (NVBG). VBF, often in the form of a vascularized fibular free flap, is the most commonly used technique for reconstruction, with high success rates and high endosseous implant success.⁸ In patients with prior radiation therapy or very large defects (>60 mm), reconstruction with a VBG is the therapy of choice, because these factors significantly decrease success rates of NVBG.⁹

However, NVBG are widely used as well and can be very useful, especially in secondary reconstructions. Non-vascularized bone grafts allow for an easier reconstruction, with higher functional success and create a better contour and bone volume for facial aesthetics and subsequent implant insertion than VBF.^{9,10} In this case, no prior radiation therapy was necessary because of the nature of the tumor and the mandibular defect was less than 60 mm. Primary reconstruction with a plate was performed in order to be able to confirm histopathologically clear bony margins before secondary reconstruction. Because of the mentioned advantages, secondary reconstruction was subsequently done with a non-vascularized iliac crest posterior autograft.

The most common complication after BSSO is damage to the inferior alveolar nerve, resulting in neurosensory disturbances of the lip and/or chin, also known as hypoesthesia. In this patient hypoesthesia was already present on the left side, due to the previous hemimandibulectomy. This made the use of chisels in addition to our conventional technique favorable, because of small cortical bone in the iliac crest autograft. On the right side the inferior alveolar nerve was not damaged using only sagittal splitters and separators and no hypoesthesia was present after BSSO. Other complications after BSSO, such as bad splits, infection, non-union, bleeding complications and osteomyelitis are not very frequent and were not present in this patient.

Oral rehabilitation with implant placement is often an important part of the dental reconstruction after mandibular reconstruction and helps prevent recurrence of malocclusion. High success and survival rates after implant placement in bone grafts have been reported.8 Dental implants placed in a non-vascularized bone graft provide a reliable basis for dental rehabilitation.5 The moment of implant placement is normally several months (3-4 months) after bone augmentation or reconstruction. In this case implant placement concomitant with BSSO was considered, but postoperative implant

placement was preferred, because of the altered position of the mandible after BSSO. When the patient discovered she was pregnant, placement of dental implants was delayed. Dental implant placement was nevertheless necessary, because of the proceeding bone reduction and was thus commenced later than planned, after more than five months of pregnancy.

In our patient, occlusion class I remained present after BSSO, with good functional and aesthetic results. Hypoesthesia on the left side was pre-existent after hemimandibulectomy and hypoesthesia was absent on the right side. No other complications after BSSO were present and successful implant placement resulted in full oral rehabilitation. This shows the bilateral sagittal split osteotomy can be performed in a reconstructed mandible, with no side effects and a good result.

REFERENCES

1. Carlson ER, Marx RE. The ameloblastoma: primary, curative surgical management. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2006 Mar;64(3):484-494.

2. Wells MD. Part I. Mandibular reconstruction using vascularized bone grafts. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1996 Jul;54(7):883-888.

3. Carlson ER, Marx RE. Part II. Mandibular reconstruction using cancellous cellular bone grafts. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1996 Jul;54(7):889-897.

4. Marx RE. Mandibular reconstruction. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1993 May;51(5):466-479.

5. Chiapasco M, Colletti G, Romeo E, Zaniboni M, Brusati R. Long-term results of mandibular reconstruction with autogenous bone grafts and oral implants after tumor resection. Clin Oral Implants Res 2008 Oct; 19(10): 1074-1080.

6. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2007 Jun; 35(4-5):222-226.

7. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: A multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2012 Mar 20.

8. Foster RD, Anthony JP, Sharma A, Pogrel MA. Vascularized bone flaps versus nonvascularized bone grafts for mandibular reconstruction: an outcome analysis of primary bony union and endosseous implant success. Head Neck 1999 Jan;21(1):66-71.

9. Handschel J, Hassanyar H, Depprich RA, et al. Nonvascularized iliac bone grafts for mandibular reconstruction—requirements and limitations. In Vivo 2011 Sep; 25(5):795-799.

 Pogrel MA, Podlesh S, Anthony JP, Alexander J. A comparison of vascularized and nonvascularized bone grafts for reconstruction of mandibular continuity defects. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1997 Nov;55(11):1200-1206.



CHAPTER 12

Discussion and future perspectives

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Aims of the thesis

This thesis aimed to investigate the risk of complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO), performed with a splitter and separators. Specific risk factors for intra- and postoperative complications as well as factors influencing the predictability of the technique were analysed in order to increase predictability of the split and minimise the risk of complications.

The elective nature of BSSO demands a reliable and predictable procedure with minimal risk of complications. Individual patient counselling using patient-specific information regarding the benefits and risks of the procedure are also vital in this process.

In this thesis, risk factors for common complications associated with BSSO were assessed through a systematic review of the literature. Furthermore, the occurrence of complications with the splitterseparator technique and risk factors for these complications were investigated through retrospective studies. The patterns of lingual fractures during BSSO and the predictability of the lingual fracture with our splitter-separator technique was investigated and compared with techniques using other instruments (i.e. mallet and chisels) or other osteotomy designs (i.e. angled osteotomy design) in cadaveric studies.

General considerations regarding the technique

In the research that was conducted in this thesis, BSSO was performed according to the Hunsuck¹ modification using a sagittal splitter and separators.^{2, 3} Rigid fixation was usually performed using three bicortical screws unless the use of miniplates was indicated.

When the BSSO technique was introduced by Schuchardt⁴ and Obwegeser⁵, the sagittal split was performed with a mallet and chisels. Since then, different modifications of the osteotomy design have been proposed. Dal Pont⁶ suggested advancing the buccal bone cut towards the distal border of the second molar to increase bone contact surface between the mandibular segments. Hunsuck¹ modified the lingual bone cut and was the first to complete the sagittal split with a controlled lingual fracture instead of completely chiselling through the mandible. In this design, an inferior border cut through the caudal cortex was performed. The importance of this bone cut in the caudal mandibular cortex, aimed to promote predictable splitting, as well as the importance of biological factors, such as minimal periosteal elevation, were subsequently emphasised by Epker⁷. With these improvements, the basic components of the contemporary osteotomy design for the sagittal split were in place.⁸ However, important innovations were still to come.

The first decades after its introduction, BSSO was fixed using wires and intermaxillary fixation.^{1, 4-7} Innovations in fixation techniques, however, introduced the use of rigid fixation by bicortical screws or monocortical miniplates.⁹⁻¹¹ This minimised the need for intermaxillary fixation, thereby reducing patient discomfort and making the procedure much more patient friendly. Rigid fixation furthermore improved the stability and reliability of the outcome after BSSO.⁹⁻¹¹

The introduction of BSSO using prying and spreading techniques meant another important innovation for the procedure.² The most important reason for this improvement was the risk of iatrogenic damage to the inferior alveolar nerve when using chisels during BSSO.¹² Different instruments can be used in these prying and spreading techniques.^{13, 14} In our opinion and experience, the sagittal splitter and separator are the most well-designed instruments to perform a prying and spreading technique.³

Nevertheless, complete control over the lingual fracture during BSSO is still not achieved and complications do still occur. This thesis aims to elucidate the factors influencing the lingual fracture and common complications associated with BSSO.

Neurosensory disturbances

Permanent neurosensory disturbance of the lower lip is one of the most important complications associated with BSSO, especially since neurosensory alteration has a serious impact on the patient's daily life.¹⁵ It presents as either dysesthesia (pain), paresthesia (altered sensation), hypoesthesia (reduced sensation) or anesthesia (no sensation), of which hypoesthesia is the most common presentation.¹⁶ In most cases, normal sensation returns shortly after BSSO.¹⁷ If neurosensory disturbances are still present one year after surgery, they are considered permanent.¹⁸

Altered sensation is a side effect of BSSO that was described shortly after the introduction of the technique.^{19, 20} The inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) runs through the mandible and therefore the risk of iatrogenic nerve damage during splitting of the mandible was soon evident. Early techniques performed the sagittal split with chisels, which is still the norm in several clinics today.²¹⁻²³ The use of sharp instruments near the mandibluar canal is associated with a risk of direct iatrogenic nerve damage, especially when tapping chisels along the inner side of the buccal cortex.^{24, 25} Sudden forces that are exerted on the mandible when hitting an instrument through the bone, can furthermore cause indirect damage to the IAN.²⁶ More subtle prying and spreading techniques cause less sudden forces around the nerve and minimise the risk of altered sensation.^{2, 3} These prying and spreading techniques are generally accompanied by a lower risk of permanent neurosensory disturbance after BSSO.¹²

Nevertheless, the occurrence of neurosensory disturbances after BSSO is multifactorial. Important surgical factors that can cause nerve damage include: stretching of the IAN during medial dissection near the mandibular foramen, laceration of the IAN during the vertical bone cut when the nerve is positioned near the buccal cortex, puncturing of the IAN due to sharp bone spicules between the mandibular segments, or compression on the IAN due to rigid fixation.^{27, 28} The surgeon should be aware of these important factors in order to prevent neurosensory disturbances as much as possible.

Several patient factors might also play a role in the development of altered sensation. These factors are furthermore vital in individual patient counselling, when informing patients about their risk of complications associated with BSSO. Specific mandibular morphology, for example a long mandibular angle or low body height, could predispose neurosensory disturbance of the IAN.²⁸⁻³⁰ However, the most frequently mentioned risk factor for altered sensation after BSSO is the patient's age. Older patients report significantly more neurosensory disturbance after BSSO than younger patients.³¹⁻³³ Older patients have furthermore been reported to experience more burden in daily life because of persisting neurosensory disturbance.³⁴ The effect of age on the risk of altered sensation after BSSO is clearly demonstrated in Chapter 3. The incidence of neurosensory disturbances after BSSO was especially low in patients that were younger than 19 years (4.8% per patient).³⁵ Therefore considering BSSO at a young age can be advocated, in an attempt to reduce the risk of this complication. These findings furthermore enable correct preoperative counselling and provides patient-specific information.

Bad splits

Unfavourable fracture patterns, also known as bad splits, can complicate the sagittal splitting procedure.^{19, 20, 36, 37} This can be frustrating for the surgeon, but usually causes no long-term consequences for the patient.³⁸ Bad splits do however frequently necessitate additional fixation techniques, including intermaxillary fixation in rare cases.^{38, 39} Seldom, the operation even has to be ceased and re-BSSO can be performed at least six months later.

Bad splits are subdivided in relatively frequently occurring buccal- or lingual plate fractures, and more infrequently occurring fractures of the coronoid process or condylar neck with possible extension into the condyle. Buccal- and lingual plate fractures are further subdivided in horizontal or vertical fractures.⁴⁰

The surgical technique plays an important role in the development of bad splits.⁴¹ Careful application and subsequent control of the bone cuts is necessary to assess the completeness of the performed bone cuts before using the splitting forceps.⁴² An incompletely cut inferior border or too high horizontal bone cut could predispose bad splits. It could furthermore be hypothesised that the surgical technique with splitter and separators is accompanied with a different risk of bad split than traditional techniques with chisels. This thesis therefore investigated the incidence of bad split after BSSO with splitter and separators. Chapter 4 showed that the splitter-separator technique is associated with an incidence of bad split of 2.0% per sagittal split osteotomy (SSO). This is well within the range that is reported in the literature (0.5-5.5% per SSO).⁴³ BSSO with splitter and separators is thus associated with a risk of bad split that is similar to the risk of bad split with other techniques.

Several risk factors for bad splits have been reported. Increasing age has been reported as a risk factor for bad split.³⁹ However, there is still no robust evidence that patient age influences the risk of bad split.⁴² The presence of third molars has also frequently been identified as a risk factor for bad split during BSSO. The presence of a third molar makes the surgical procedure more difficult. In Chapter 7, third molars were found to increase the risk of bad split but not the risk of other complications.⁴⁴ Nevertheless, other authors found no relation between the presence of third molars and bad split.⁴² Therefore, the choice to remove third molars prior to surgery remains debatable. Some authors advocate the removal of third molars at least six months prior to BSSO, in order to facilitate an easy and predictable procedure.⁴⁵ Other authors, however, propose removing third molars during BSSO to spare the patient one or two unpleasant additional surgical procedures before BSSO.⁴⁶ Factors that could influence this decision of third molar removal either during BSSO or six months preoperatively include the patient's age, the experience of the surgeon, and the spatial positioning of the third molars.^{39, 47-51}

Removal of osteosynthesis material

Rigid fixation has been introduced in the 1970's.^{9, 10} Since then, it has become standard to fix the mandibular segments after BSSO with either bicortical screws or monocortical miniplates. This eliminated the routine need for intermaxillary fixation. One common complication after BSSO is the need to remove this titanium osteosynthesis material because of symptoms, such as infection, palpability of the hardware, or other subjective complaints.⁵²⁻⁵⁴ These symptoms cause significant morbidity for the patient and result in additional procedures after BSSO.⁵⁵ Therefore, removal of osteosynthesis material should be minimised as much as possible.

Chapter 5 reported a comparison of the removal rates for screw fixation and plate fixation, showing that bicortical screws are removed remarkably less than monocortical plates.⁵⁶

These findings could be a reason to perform fixation after BSSO with bicortical screw fixation instead of monocortical plate fixation. However, other aspects of the two techniques are also important.^{57, 58} Favourable aspects of plate fixation are that it can be fixed intra-orally without the need for a stab incision in the skin, plates require less precaution to avoid excessive rotation of the proximal segment, and there is no risk of damaging the inferior alveolar nerve with monocortical fixation.⁵⁸ On the other hand, favourable aspects of bicortical screws are the fact that they are less expensive than miniplates, and the risk of palpability of the hardware or chronic irritation is lower.⁵⁷ When bicortical screws are used, it is important to perform position fixation without compression of the mandibular segments. Lag screw fixation has been shown to cause compression of the inferior alveolar nerve between the mandibular segments and subsequently predispose neurosensory disturbances.⁵⁹

Osseous mandibular inferior border defects

Mandibular inferior border defects are an unaesthetic complication, wherein a bone defect postoperatively develops at the caudal end of the vertical bone cut.⁶⁰ BSSO is aimed to restore a class I occlusion with good function, but usually also improves facial harmony and aesthetics. It is evident that in this process, the occurrence of inferior border defects should be avoided.⁶¹

Several risk factors can predispose osseous inferior border defects, such as large mandibular advancements and inclusion of the full thickness of the mandibular border in the split (i.e. a type II split).⁶⁰ Chapter 6 confirmed these earlier reported risk factors and furthermore showed that increased clockwise rotation of the occlusal plane and significant cranial rotation of the proximal mandibular segment were relevant risk factors for inferior border defects.

The surgical technique could also play a role in the occurrence of osseous inferior border defects.^{61,} ⁶² Chapter 8 showed that in BSSO, the chisel-technique and splitter-separator technique result in different lingual fracture patterns (i.e. type of split). Fractures started through the caudal cortex more frequently when using chisels compared to splitter and separators. The splitter-separator technique could therefore facilitate type II splits and subsequently predispose osseous inferior border defects.

The clinical consequences and unaesthetic effects of these complications are yet to be determined. When an unaesthetic mandibular inferior border defect is present, secondary reconstruction techniques to correct the contour of the mandibular border can be performed, for example using Medpore implants or using autologous bone or bone substitutes with a (titanium-reinforced) membrane.

Lingual fracture patterns and predictability of the split

In the traditional osteotomy design, a lingual, sagittal, and buccal bone cut are placed just through the cortical bone in order to perform a controlled fracture in the lingual cortex.¹ Several authors furthermore propose performing an inferior border cut through the caudal cortex extending to the lingual side in order to predispose a start of the fracture line in the lingual cortex.^{7, 63, 64} Subsequently, the proximal and distal mandibular segments are mobilised.

Different variations of the osteotomy design are used in BSSO, and the (horizontal) lingual bone cut and (vertical) buccal bone cut can be modified with regard to the length and angulation of the bone cuts.⁶⁵ Some authors even advocate performing an additional inferior border osteotomy towards the mandibular angle.^{61, 66, 67}

Establishing the optimal osteotomy design by rearranging the bone cuts or even adding additional bone cuts could reduce the risk of bad split and improve the predictability of the technique.^{61, 68} These differences in the bone cuts of the osteotomy design of BSSO can furthermore result in different lingual fracture patterns. Plooij et al.⁶⁹ categorised these fracture patterns in their lingual split scale (LSS). They described a 'true Hunsuck' vertical fracture line to the inferior border of the mandible (LSS1), an 'Obwegeser-Dal-Pont' horizontal fracture line to the posterior border of the ramus (LSS2), and a fracture line through the mandibular canal to inferior border of the mandible (LSS3). Unfavourable fracture patterns were categorised as LSS4 splits.

Furthermore, during BSSO the bone cuts are not always performed completely as planned, because of limited visibility and little workspace on the lingual side of the mandible.⁶⁹ The complete performance of the bone cuts of the osteotomy design is an important factor in the development of the lingual fracture and the risk of bad splits.⁶⁹⁻⁷¹ When the vertical bone cut is performed incompletely and ends in the buccal cortex, it has shown to predispose bad splits.^{70, 71} When the bone cut either ends in the caudal cortex or an inferior border cut extending into the lingual cortex is performed, the risk of bad split is relatively low.⁷⁰ In Chapter 10 of this thesis, in a prospective observational cone-beam computed tomography study, the different lingual fracture patterns after

BSSO were examined. There was no significant association between the length of the inferior border cut in the lingual cortex and the lingual fracture patterns. More research is needed to further investigate the exact association between the osteotomy design and the lingual fracture to increase the predictability of the BSSO technique.

Future perspectives

This thesis investigated different risk factors for complications associated with the BSSO technique with sagittal splitter and separators. Nevertheless, complications do still occur and further research should be aimed at increasing the predictability of the technique and reduce the risk of adverse outcomes even more.

The splitter-separator technique is associated with a low incidence of permanent neurosensory disturbances after BSSO. Future clinical research should however aim for further reduction of this important complication of BSSO, as neurosensory disturbances cause the most morbidity and dissatisfaction for patients. Innovations such as CBCT-analysis and piezo-surgery might help minimize the risk of neurosensory disturbances as a result of BSSO.

The development of different lingual fracture patterns remains largely unexplained. Future research aimed to identify predictors for specific lingual fracture lines could help to improve the predictability of the technique and help better understand the occurrence of bad splits. Patient-specific planning with regard to the osteotomy design could also help promote an easy, predictable splits and prevent complications. Prospective research exploring the ideal orientation and arrangements of the bone cuts in BSSO, and the relation between the lingual fracture patterns and complications could further increase the success of BSSO.

REFERENCES

 Hunsuck EE. A modified intraoral sagittal splitting technic for correction of mandibular prognathism. J Oral Surg. 1968;26:250-3.

2. van Merkesteyn JP, Zweers A, Corputty JE. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy performed with separators. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2007;35:222-6.

3. Mensink G, Zweers A, Wolterbeek R, Dicker GG, Groot RH, van Merkesteyn RJ. Neurosensory disturbances one year after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandibula performed with separators: a multi-centre prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:763-7.

4. Schuchardt G. Ein Beitrag zur chirurgischen Kieferorthopardie unter Berucksichtiging ihrer fur die Behandlung angeborener und erworbener Kiefer defomitaten bie Soldaten. Dtsch Zahn Mund Kieferheilkd. 1942;9:73-89.

5. Obwegeser H, Trauner R. Zur operationstechnik bei der progenie und anderen unterkieferanomalien. Dtsch Zahn Mund Kieferheilkd. 1955;23:H1.

 Dal Pont G. Retromolar osteotomy for the correction of prognathism. J Oral Surg Anesth Hosp Dent Serv. 1961; 19:42-7.

 Epker BN, Wolford LM, Fish LC. Mandibular deficiency syndrome. II. Surgical considerations for mandibular advancement. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1978;45:349-63.

8. Wyatt WM. Sagittal ramus split osteotomy: literature review and suggested modification of technique. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1997;35:137-41.

9. Spiessl B. [Osteosynthesis in sagittal osteotomy using the Obwegeser-Dal Pont method]. Fortschr Kiefer Gesichtschir. 1974; 18:145-8.

 Champy M, Lodde JP, Schmitt R, Jaeger JH, Muster D. Mandibular osteosynthesis by miniature screwed plates via a buccal approach. J Maxillofac Surg. 1978;6:14-21.

11. Lindorf HH. Sagittal ramus osteotomy with tandem screw fixation. Technique and results. J Maxillofac Surg. 1986; 14:311-6.

12. Mensink G, Gooris PJ, Bergsma JE, van Hooft E, van Merkesteyn JP. Influence of BSSO surgical technique on postoperative inferior alveolar nerve hypoesthesia: a systematic review of the literature. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:976-82.

13. Loh FC. Technical modification of the sagittal split mandibular ramus osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1992;74:723-6.

14. Muto T, Akizuki K, Tsuchida Y. Technical modification designed to facilitate sagittal split ramus osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;66:1542-4. Phillips C, Essick G, Blakey G, 3rd, Tucker M. Relationship between patients' perceptions of postsurgical sequelae and altered sensations after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65:597-607.

 Colella G, Cannavale R, Vicidomini A, Lanza A. Neurosensory disturbance of the inferior alveolar nerve after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a systematic review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65:1707-15.

17. Monnazzi MS, Real-Gabrielli MF, Passeri LA, Gabrielli MA. Cutaneous sensibility impairment after mandibular sagittal split osteotomy: a prospective clinical study of the spontaneous recovery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:696-702.

18. Becelli R, Renzi G, Carboni A, Cerulli G, Gasparini G. Inferior alveolar nerve impairment after mandibular sagittal split osteotomy: an analysis of spontaneous recovery patterns observed in 60 patients. J Craniofac Surg. 2002; 13:315-20.

19. White RP, Jr., Peters PB, Costich ER, Page HL, Jr. Evaluation of sagittal split-ramus osteotomy in 17 patients. J Oral Surg. 1969;27:851-5.

20. Guernsey LH, DeChamplain RW. Sequelae and complications of the intraoral sagittal osteotomy in the mandibular rami. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1971;32:176-92.

21. Westermark A, Bystedt H, von Konow L. Inferior alveolar nerve function after mandibular osteotomies. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;36:425-8.

22. Westermark A, Bystedt H, von Konow L. Inferior alveolar nerve function after sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible: correlation with degree of intraoperative nerve encounter and other variables in 496 operations. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;36:429-33.

23. Bruckmoser E, Bulla M, Alacamlioglu Y, Steiner I, Watzke IM. Factors influencing neurosensory disturbance after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: retrospective analysis after 6 and 12 months. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2013; 115:473-82.

24. Yoshioka I, Tanaka T, Khanal A, Habu M, Kito S, Kodama M, et al. Relationship between inferior alveolar nerve canal position at mandibular second molar in patients with prognathism and possible occurrence of neurosensory disturbance after sagittal split ramus osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;68:3022-7.

25. Yoshioka I, Tanaka T, Habu M, Oda M, Kodama M, Kito S, et al. Effect of bone quality and position of the inferior alveolar nerve canal in continuous, long-term, neurosensory disturbance after sagittal split ramus osteotomy. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:e178-83.

26. Jaaskelainen SK, Teerijoki-Oksa T, Forssell K, Vahatalo K, Peltola JK, Forssell H. Intraoperative monitoring of the inferior alveolar nerve during mandibular sagittal-split osteotomy. Muscle Nerve. 2000;23:368-75. 27. Meyer RA. Bicortical versus monocortical osteosynthesis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1999;103:1538-9.

28. Teerijoki-Oksa T, Jaaskelainen SK, Forssell K, Forssell H, Vahatalo K, Tammisalo T, et al. Risk factors of nerve injury during mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;31:33-9.

29. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR. Morphological features of the mandible as predictors for neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery. 2015;43:1710-5.

30. Yamauchi K, Takahashi T, Kaneuji T, Nogami S, Yamamoto N, Miyamoto I, et al. Risk factors for neurosensory disturbance after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy based on position of mandibular canal and morphology of mandibular angle. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:401-6.

31. Van Sickels JE, Hatch J, Rugh J, Dolce C, Bays RA. Effects of age, amount of advancement and genioplasty on neurosensory distrubance following a BSSO. J Dent Res. 2002;81:A397-A.

32. August M, Marchena J, Donady J, Kaban L. Neurosensory deficit and functional impairment after sagittal ramus osteotomy: a long-term follow-up study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;56:1231-5; discussion 6.

33. Borstlap WA, Stoelinga PJW, Hoppenreijs TJM, van't Hof MA. Stabilisation of sagittal split advancement osteotomies with miniplates: A prospective, multicentre study with two-year follow-up Part I. Clinical parameters. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;33:433-41.

34. Phillips C, Kim SH, Tucker M, Turvey TA. Sensory retraining: burden in daily life related to altered sensation after orthognathic surgery, a randomized clinical trial. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2010; 13:169-78.

35. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in different age groups: a retrospective study of 263 patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016.

36. van Merkesteyn JP, Groot RH, van Leeuwaarden R, Kroon FH. Intra-operative complications in sagittal and vertical ramus osteotomies. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1987;16:665-70.

37. Behrman SJ. Complications of sagittal osteotomy of the mandibular ramus. J Oral Surg. 1972;30:554-61.

38. Veras RB, Kriwalsky MS, Hoffmann S, Maurer P, Schubert J. Functional and radiographic long-term results after bad split in orthognathic surgery. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;37:606-11.

 Kriwalsky MS, Maurer P, Veras RB, Eckert AW, Schubert J. Risk factors for a bad split during sagittal split osteotomy. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;46:177-9.

40. Steenen SA, Becking AG. Bad splits in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: systematic review of fracture patterns. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016. 41. Marquez IM, Stella JP. Modification of sagittal split ramus osteotomy to avoid unfavorable fracture around impacted third molars. Int J Adult Orthodon Orthognath Surg. 1998;13:183-7.

42. Steenen SA, van Wijk AJ, Becking AG. Bad splits in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: systematic review and meta-analysis of reported risk factors. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;45:971-979.

43. Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Eelco Bergsma J, Richard van Merkesteyn JP. Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible with separators: a retrospective study of 427 patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;51:525-9.

44. Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JP. Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad split but not the risk of other post-operative complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:e359-63.

45. Schwartz HC. Simultaneous removal of third molars during sagittal split osteotomies: the case against. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;62:1147-9.

46. Precious DS. Removal of third molars with sagittal split osteotomies: the case for. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;62:1144-6.

47. Balaji SM. Impacted third molars in sagittal split osteotomies in mandibular prognathism and micrognathia. Ann Maxillofac Surg. 2014;4:39-44.

48. Camargo IB, Van Sickels JE, Curtis WJ. Simultaneous Removal of Third Molars During a Sagittal Split Does Not Increase the Incidence of Bad Splits in Patients Aged 30 Years or Older. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015.

49. Falter B, Schepers S, Vrielinck L, Lambrichts I, Thijs H, Politis C. Occurrence of bad splits during sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010;110:430-5.

50. Reyneke JP, Tsakiris P, Becker P. Age as a factor in the complication rate after removal of unerupted/impacted third molars at the time of mandibular sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:654-9.

51. Al-Nawas B, Kammerer PW, Hoffmann C, Moergel M, Koch FP, Wriedt S, et al. Influence of osteotomy procedure and surgical experience on early complications after orthognathic surgery in the mandible. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2014;42:e284-8.

52. Bouwman JP, Husak A, Putnam GD, Becking AG, Tuinzing DB. Screw fixation following bilateral sagittal ramus osteotomy for mandibular advancement—complications in 700 consecutive cases. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1995;33:231-4.

53. O'Connell J, Murphy C, Ikeagwuani O, Adley C, Kearns G. The fate of titanium miniplates and screws used in maxillofacial surgery: a 10 year retrospective study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38:731-5. 54. Theodossy T, Jackson O, Petrie A, Lloyd T. Risk factors contributing to symptomatic plate removal following sagittal split osteotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;35:598-601.

55. Kuhlefelt M, Laine P, Suominen-Taipale L, Ingman T, Lindqvist C, Thoren H. Risk factors contributing to symptomatic miniplate removal: a retrospective study of 153 bilateral sagittal split osteotomy patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;39:430-5.

56. Verweij JP, Houppermans PN, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JP. Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients, and review of published papers. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;52:756-60.

57. Ochs MW. Bicortical screw stabilization of sagittal split osteotomies. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2003;61:1477-84.

58. Stoelinga PJW, Borstlap WA. The fixation of sagittal split osteotomies with miniplates: The versatility of a technique. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2003;61:1471-6.

59. Fujioka M, Hirano A, Fujii T. Comparative study of inferior alveolar disturbance restoration after sagittal split osteotomy by means of bicortical versus monocortical osteosynthesis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1998;102:37-41.

60. Agbaje JO, Sun Y, Vrielinck L, Schepers S, Lambrichts I, Politis C. Risk factors for the development of lower border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71:588-96.

61. Wolford LM. Influence of Osteotomy Design on Bilateral Mandibular Ramus Sagittal Split Osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:1994-2004.

62. Agbaje JO, Gemels B, Salem AS, Anumendem D, Vrielinck L, Politis C. Modified Mandibular Inferior Border Sagittal Split Osteotomy Reduces Postoperative Risk for Developing Inferior Border Defects. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016.

63. Epker BN. Modifications in the sagittal osteotomy of the mandible. J Oral Surg. 1977;35:157-9.

64. Wolford LM, Bennett MA, Rafferty CG. Modification of the mandibular ramus sagittal split osteotomy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1987;64:146-55.

65. Cillo JE, Stella JP. Selection of sagittal split ramus osteotomy technique based on skeletal anatomy and planned distal segment movement: current therapy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2005;63:109-14.

66. Wolford LM, Davis WM, Jr. The mandibular inferior border split: a modification in the sagittal split osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1990;48:92-4.

67. Schoen P, Frotscher M, Eggeler G, Kessler P, Wolff KD, Boeckmann R. Modification of the bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO) in a study using pig mandibles. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;40:516-20.

 Verweij JP, van Merkesteyn JP. Influence of Osteotomy Design on Bilateral Sagittal Split Osteotomy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015;73:1666.

69. Plooij JM, Naphausen MT, Maal TJ, Xi T, Rangel FA, Swennnen G, et al. 3D evaluation of the lingual fracture line after a bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38:1244-9.

70. Muto T, Takahashi M, Akizuki K. Evaluation of the mandibular ramus fracture line after sagittal split ramus osteotomy using 3-dimensional computed tomography. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:e648-52.

71. Song JM, Kim YD. Three-dimensional evaluation of lingual split line after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in asymmetric prognathism. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;40:11-6. 163



CHAPTER 13
Summary

SUMMARY

Chapter 1 provides a general introduction about bilateral sagittal split osteotomy (BSSO). The history and development of the technique are described. Clinical complications that frequently occur within the first postoperative year are discussed, including neurosensory disturbances of the lower lip, unfavourable fractures, postoperative infection, removal of osteosynthesis material and osseous mandibular inferior border defects.

This thesis aims to investigate the risk of complications associated with BSSO, performed with a splitter and separators. Specific risk factors for intra- and postoperative complications as well as factors influencing the predictability of the technique are analysed.

The purpose of this research is to enable individual counselling of patients before BSSO, and help maxillofacial surgeons attempt to minimise the risk of complications associated with this procedure.

In Chapter 2, a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature regarding risk factors for common complications associated with BSSO is provided. After a systematic electronic database search, 59 studies could be included. For each complication, a pooled mean incidence was computed.

The mean incidences are reported for bad split (2.3% per site), postoperative infection (9.6% per patient), removal of the osteosynthesis material (11.2% per patient), and neurosensory disturbances of the lower lip (33.9% per patient). Relevant risk factors such as age, smoking habits, presence of third molars, the surgical technique and type of osteosynthesis material are discussed.

This information could help the surgeon to reduce the risk of these complications and inform the patient about the complication risks associated with BSSO.

In Chapter 3, the incidence of neurosensory disturbances (NSD) of the lower lip and chin after BSSO with splitter and separators is investigated in different age groups. The probability of sensory recovery is furthermore assessed in patients aged <19 years, 19–30 years and >30 years.

In this retrospective study, we subjectively and objectively assessed hypoaesthesia in the lower lip immediately postoperatively, 1 week and 1, 6 and 12 months after BSSO. Hypoaesthesia was considered permanent if it was present one year after BSSO.

In older patients, the frequency of NSD immediately after surgery was significantly higher. The cumulative incidence of recovery at 1 year was lower and the mean time to recovery was longer in older patients, although these differences were not statistically significant. Older age was a significant risk factor for permanent hypoaesthesia with an incidence of 4.8% per patient <19 years; 7.9% per patient 19-30 years; and 15.2% per patient > 30 years.

This shows that the risk of NSD after BSSO is significantly higher in older patients. The results can aid surgeons in pre-operative counselling specific age groups and help decide the optimal age to perform BSSO.

In Chapter 4, the occurrence of bad split after BSSO with splitter and separator is investigated. An unfavourable fracture pattern, known as bad split, is a common intra-operative complication in BSSO. The reported incidence of this complication with traditional techniques ranges from 0.5 to 5.5% per site.

Since 1994, BSSO is performed with splitter and separators instead of chisels in our clinic. In this retrospective cohort study of 427 consecutive patients (851 sites), the incidence of bad split was 2.0% per site. This is well within the range reported in the literature. The removal of third molars concomitant with BSSO was a significant risk factor for bad split. There was no significant association between bad splits and the patient's age, gender, occlusion class, or the experience of the surgeon.

In conclusion, BSSO performed with splitter and separators instead of chisels does not increase the risk of a bad split.

In Chapter 5, the removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms is analysed. Rigid fixation with either bicortical screws or mini-plates is the current standard to stabilise the mandibular segments after BSSO. However, one complication of rigid fixation is the need to remove the osteosynthesis material because of associated complaints.

In our clinic, fixation after BSSO is performed with three bicortical screws unless otherwise indicated. Retrospective analysis of 251 consecutive patients (502 sites) showed the incidence of bicortical screw removal in our clinic was 2.9% per site. No significant association was noted between bicortical screw removal and age, gender, presence of third molars, or bad splits. Alternative methods of fixation were used at 16 sites. In the literature, reported rates of removal of bicortical screws and mini-plates are 3.1–7.2% and 6.5–22.2% per site, respectively.

These findings show that bicortical screw fixation after BSSO is associated with a low rate of symptomatic hardware removal. Reported incidences in the literature imply that the need of removal of bicortical screws is remarkably lower than the need of removal of mini-plates.

In Chapter 6, the occurrence of osseous inferior border defects after BSSO is retrospectively investigated using the pre- and postoperative radiography of 200 consecutive patients. Bone defects of the inferior border of the mandible can cause an unaesthetic postoperative result and in rare cases even necessitate secondary surgical procedures.

In this study, osseous inferior border defects were present at 28 out of 400 sides (7.0%/side) in 25 out of 200 patients (12.5%/patient). Significant risk factors for inferior border defects were increased mandibular advancement, more clockwise rotation of the occlusal plane, rotation of the proximal mandibular segment, and a type II split initiating in the lingual cortex. The presence of third molars and occurrence of bad splits were not significantly associated with inferior border defects.

These findings could help the surgeon to maximise the result of BSSO, increase patient satisfaction and minimise the risk of secondary procedures.

In *Chapter 7*, the influence of mandibular third molar removal during BSSO with splitter and separators is discussed. Timing of third molar removal in relation to BSSO is controversial, especially with regard to postoperative complications.

We performed a retrospective record review of 251 patients (502 sites). Mandibular third molars were present during surgery at 169 sites and removed at least 6 months preoperatively in 333 sites. Bad splits occurred at 3.0% and 1.5% of the respective sites. Presence of mandibular third molars significantly increased the risk of bad splits. The mean incidences of permanent neurosensory disturbances, postoperative infection, and symptomatic removal of the osteosynthesis material were 5.4%, 8.2%, and 3.4% per site respectively, without a significant influence of mandibular third molar status.

The presence of mandibular third molars during surgery increased the possibility of bad split, but did not affect the risk of other complications. Third molar removal concomitant with BSSO can save the patient additional preoperative procedures to remove third molars before surgery. Therefore, third molar removal can be advised concomitantly with BSSO performed with splitter and separators.

In Chapter 8, the lingual fracture pattern and status of the nerve after BSSO with the prying and spreading technique (splitter and separators) are compared to the traditional technique (mallet and chisels). Lingual fractures after sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles were analysed using a lingual split scale and split scoring system. Iatrogenic damage to the inferior alveolar nerve was assessed.

13

Fractures started through the caudal cortex more frequently in the chisel group. This group also showed more posterior lingual fractures, although this difference was not statistically significant. Nerve damage was present in three cases in the chisel group, but was not observed in the splitter group.

A trend was apparent, that BSSO using the chisel technique instead of the splitter technique resulted in more posterior lingual fracture lines, although this difference was not statistically significant. Both techniques resulted in reliable lingual fracture patterns. Splitting without chisels could prevent nerve damage, which is why we propose a spreading and prying technique with splitter and separators.

In Chapter 9, further research is performed regarding lingual fractures, bad split and nerve status after BSSO with splitter and separator.

The conventional osteotomy design in BSSO includes a horizontal lingual bone cut, a connecting sagittal bone cut and a vertical buccal bone cut perpendicular to the inferior mandibular cortex. This buccal bone cut extends as an inferior border cut into the lingual cortex. This study investigated a modified osteotomy design including an angled oblique buccal bone cut that extended as a posteriorly aimed inferior border cut near the masseteric tuberosity.

The study sample comprised 28 cadaveric dentulous human mandibles. The angled osteotomy design resulted in a significantly higher number of lingual fractures originating from the inferior border cut, with a significantly more posterior relation of the fracture line to the mandibular canal and foramen. No bad splits occurred with the angled design, whereas three bad splits occurred with the conventional design, although this difference was not statistically significant. Inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) status was comparable between designs, although the IAN more frequently required manipulation from the proximal mandibular segment when the conventional design was used.

These results suggest that the angled osteotomy design promotes a more posterior lingual fracture originating from the inferior border cut. A trend was apparent that this might also possibly decrease the incidence of bad splits and IAN entrapment.

In Chapter 10, a clinical prospective observational study regarding the lingual fracture patterns after BSSO with splitter and separators is performed. This study investigated the correspondence between the planned inferior border cut and the actually executed inferior border cut during BSSO through postoperative cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT). The influence of the performance of the inferior border cut on lingual fracture patterns was analysed.

The inferior border cut reached the caudal cortex in all cases, but only reached the lingual cortex in 38% of the splits. There was no significant relationship between the inferior border cut and a specific lingual fracture line.

Postoperative CBCT analysis revealed that the bone cuts during BSSO were often not placed exactly as planned. Despite this, no significant relationship between the inferior border cut and lingual fracture patterns or bad splits was detected. Further research is needed to identify factors that could make the sagittal split more predictable.

In Chapter 11, a case is presented of BSSO in a reconstructed mandible. A 28-year old woman underwent a segmental mandibulectomy, due to a multicystic ameloblastoma in the left jaw. After primary plate reconstruction, final reconstruction was performed with a left posterior iliac crest cortico-cancellous autograft. Because of a pre-existing Class II malocclusion, the patient was analysed for combined orthodontic-surgical treatment. After one year of orthodontic treatment, the BSSO was planned. The sagittal split was performed in the remaining right mandible and on the left side in the iliac crest cortico- cancellous autograft. Ten months later, oral rehabilitation was completed with implant placement in the neo-mandible. Follow-up showed a Class I occlusion, with good function. The patient was very satisfied with the functional and aesthetic results.

Summary 169

This shows that BSSO can be performed in a reconstructed mandible, without side effects and with good functional and aesthetic results.

Chapter 12 discussed conclusions, clinical implications and future perspectives for the subjects of this thesis.



CHAPTER 14 Samenvatting

SAMENVATTING

Hoofdstuk 1 begint met een algemene inleiding over het onderwerp van dit proefschrift: de bilaterale sagittale splijtingsosteotomie (BSSO). De geschiedenis en ontwikkeling van de techniek worden beschreven. Frequent voorkomende complicaties worden besproken, waaronder gevoelsstoornissen van de onderlip, ongewenste fractuurpatronen (bad split), postoperatieve infectie, verwijdering van osteosynthesemateriaal en botdefecten van de onderrand van de mandibula.

Dit proefschrift evalueert de veiligheid en voorspelbaarheid van BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels. Klinische complicaties, die frequent voorkomen in het eerste jaar na de operatie, worden onderzocht. Het doel van dit onderzoek is om goede preoperatieve counseling en individuele informatievoorziening aan patiënten mogelijk te maken, en om de MKA-chirurg te helpen het risico op complicaties bij BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels te minimaliseren.

In *Hoofdstuk 2* wordt geanalyseerd welke risicofactoren voor complicaties na BSSO worden beschreven in de onderzoeksliteratuur. Een systematisch literatuuronderzoek en meta-analyse werden uitgevoerd met inclusie van 59 studies. Voor de verschillende complicaties, werd een gemiddelde incidentie berekend.

De gemiddelde gerapporteerde incidentie was 2.3% per sagittale splijtingsosteotomie (SSO) voor bad split, 9.6% per patiënt voor postoperatieve infectie, 11.2% per patiënt voor verwijdering van osteosynthesemateriaal en 33.9% per patiënt voor gevoelsstoornissen van de onderlip. Relevante risicofactoren zoals leeftijd, rookgewoonten, aanwezigheid van verstandskiezen, de chirurgische techniek en het type osteosynthesemateriaal zijn geassocieerd met deze complicaties.

Deze informatie kan de chirurg helpen het risico op de genoemde complicaties te reduceren en kan helpen bij het informeren van de patiënt over het risico op complicaties bij BSSO.

In *Hoofdstuk 3* wordt de incidentie van gevoelsstoornissen van de onderlip na BSSO onderzocht in drie verschillende leeftijdsgroepen: <19 jaar, 19-30 jaar en >30 jaar. Herstel van de sensibiliteit wordt tevens onderzocht in deze drie leeftijdscategorieën.

In deze retrospectieve studie worden gevoelsstoornissen van de onderlip subjectief en objectief geanalyseerd, direct na de operatie, 1 week en 1, 6 en 12 maanden na BSSO. Gevoelsstoornissen werden beschouwd als permanent wanneer zij een jaar na BSSO nog steeds aanwezig waren omdat volledig herstel dan niet meer te verwachten is.

Bij oudere patiënten was de frequentie van gevoelsstoornissen significant hoger direct na de operatie. Het totale herstel was minder en de tijd tot herstel van gevoelsstoornissen duurde langer bij oudere patiënten, hoewel deze verschillen niet statistisch significant waren. Hogere leeftijd was een significante risicofactor voor permanente gevoelsstoornissen van de onderlip, gemeten één jaar na BSSO. De incidentie van gevoelsstoornissen was 4.8% per patiënt <19 jaar; 7.9% per patiënt 19-30 jaar; en 15.2% per patiënt >30 jaar.

Deze resultaten tonen aan dat het risico op gevoelsstoornissen na BSSO significant hoger is voor oudere patiënten. De bevindingen zijn van belang ten behoeve van goede preoperatieve voorlichting van patiënten van verschillende leeftijden en draagt bij aan het bepalen van de optimale leeftijd om BSSO uit te voeren.

In *Hoofdstuk 4* wordt de incidentie van bad split tijdens BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels onderzocht. Een ongewenst fractuurpatroon, bad split genoemd, is een frequente intra-operatieve complicatie bij BSSO. De gerapporteerde incidentie van bad split na BSSO met traditionele technieken varieert tussen 0.5% en 5.5% per SSO.

Sinds 1994 wordt in onze kliniek BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels uitgevoerd. In deze retrospectieve cohort studie van 427 patiënten (851 SSO) was de incidentie van bad split 2.0% per SSO. Dit is binnen het bereik dat genoemd wordt in de onderzoeksliteratuur. De verwijdering van verstandskiezen tijdens BSSO was een significante risicofactor voor een bad split. Er was geen significante associatie tussen het optreden van bad split en leeftijd, geslacht, occlusieklasse, of de ervaring van de chirurg.

Concluderend leidt het gebruik van splijttang en splijthevels in plaats van beitels niet tot een verhoogde kans op bad split.

In *Hoofdstuk 5* wordt verwijdering van bicorticale schroeven en ander osteosynthesemateriaal vanwege klachten bij de patiënt, geanalyseerd. Rigide fixatie met bicorticale schroeven of monocorticale miniplaten is sinds decennia de standaard voor fixatie van de mandibula-segmenten na BSSO. Desalniettemin, komt het regelmatig voor dat het titanium fixatiemateriaal verwijderd moet worden wegens klachten bij de patiënt.

In onze onderzoeksgroep werd fixatie na BSSO uitgevoerd met behulp van drie bicorticale schroeven tenzij ander fixatiemateriaal geïndiceerd was. Retrospectieve analyse van 251 patiënten (502 SSO) toonde aan dat de incidentie van schroefverwijdering in onze kliniek 2.9% per SSO was. Er was geen significante associatie aanwezig tussen schroefverwijdering en leeftijd, geslacht, aanwezigheid van verstandskiezen tijdens de operatie of bad splits. Alternatieve fixatiemethoden waren noodzakelijk na 16 splijtingen. In de onderzoeksliteratuur, varieert de incidentie van schroefverwijdering en miniplaatverwijdering tussen respectievelijk 3.1-7.2% en 6.5-22.2% per SSO.

Deze resultaten tonen aan dat fixatie met bicorticale schroeven bij BSSO gepaard gaat met een lage incidentie van verwijdering van het osteosynthesemateriaal. De gerapporteerde incidentie van schroef- en plaatverwijdering impliceren dat bicorticale schroeven aanzienlijk minder vaak verwijderd dienen te worden dan miniplaten.

In *Hoofdstuk* 6 wordt de incidentie van botdefecten van de onderrand van de mandibula na BSSO onderzocht middels de pre- en postoperatieve röntgenonderzoeken van 200 patiënten. Onderranddefecten kunnen onesthetische postoperatieve resultaten veroorzaken en in zeldzame gevallen zelfs secundaire procedures noodzakelijk maken.

In deze studie waren onderranddefecten aanwezig aan 28 van de 400 zijden (7.0% per kant) in 25 van de 200 patiënten (12.5% per patiënt). Significante risicofactoren voor onderranddefecten waren grote verplaatsing van de mandibula, grote rotaties van het occlusievlak, rotatie van het proximale segment, en een type II splijting die in de linguale cortex begint. De aanwezigheid van verstandskiezen tijdens de splijting en het optreden van bad splits was geen significante risicofactor voor onderranddefecten.

Deze bevindingen kunnen helpen het resultaat van BSSO te maximaliseren, patiënttevredenheid te verhogen en het risico op secundaire procedures te minimaliseren.

In *Hoofdstuk 7* wordt de invloed van verstandskiesverwijdering tijdens BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels nader onderzocht. De beste timing van verstandskiesverwijdering vóór of tijdens de BSSO procedure is nog onduidelijk.

Deze retrospectieve studie beschrijft 251 patiënten (502 SSO). In de onderkaak waren verstandskiezen aanwezig tijdens de operatie in 169 SSO. In 333 SSO waren de verstandskiezen minstens zes maanden voor de operatie verwijderd. Bad splits kwamen voor in respectievelijk 3.0% en 1.5% van de SSO. De aanwezigheid van verstandskiezen tijdens de operatie was een

significante risicofactor voor bad split. De gemiddelde incidentie van gevoelsstoornissen, infectie en verwijdering van osteosynthesemateriaal was respectievelijk 5.4%, 8.2% en 3.4% per SSO, zonder significante associatie met de verwijdering van verstandskiezen tijdens BSSO.

De aanwezigheid van verstandskiezen tijdens BSSO verhoogde het risico op bad split, maar had geen significante invloed op het risico op andere complicaties. Verstandskiesverwijdering tijdens BSSO kan de patiënt aanvullende preoperatieve behandelingen besparen. Zodoende is verstandskiesverwijdering tijdens BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels een goede behandeloptie.

In Hoofdstuk 8 wordt het linguale fractuurpatroon en de status van de nervus alveolaris inferior (NAI) tijdens BSSO met splijttechnieken (splijttang en splijthevels) vergeleken met de klassieke technieken (hamer en beitels). Linguale fracturen werden geanalyseerd met behulp van een 'lingual split scale' en 'split scoring system'. Mogelijke iatrogene schade aan de NAI werd tevens geanalyseerd.

De start van de linguale fracturen verliep frequenter door de caudale cortex in de beitel-groep. Deze groep vertoont ook meer posterieure linguale fracturen, hoewel dit verschil niet statistisch significant was. Zenuwschade was zichtbaar in drie SSO van de beitel-groep en werd niet geobserveerd in de splijttang-groep.

Hoewel het verschil tussen de groepen niet significant was, werd een trend geobserveerd dat BSSO met de beiteltechniek in plaats van de techniek met splijttang resulteert in een meer posterieur fractuurpatroon. Beide technieken resulteerden in een betrouwbare splijting. Het uitvoeren van BSSO met splijttang in plaats van beitel kan mogelijk directe iatrogene zenuwschade voorkomen.

In Hoofdstuk 9 wordt nader onderzoek uitgevoerd naar de linguale fractuurpatronen, bad splits en status van de zenuw tijdens BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels.

Het conventionele design van de BSSO bestaat uit een horizontale boorsnede, een verbindende sagittale boorsnede en een verticale boorsnede, loodrecht op de onderrand van de onderkaak. Deze buccale boorsnede loopt door in een 'inferior border cut' tot in de linguale cortex. Dit onderzoek vergelijkt dit design met het 'angled osteotomy design', waarbij de buccale boorsnede schuin naar achter richting de angulus verloopt en ook de 'inferior border cut' naar dorsaal gericht is.

Dit post-mortem onderzoek werd uitgevoerd in 28 dentate humane kaken. Het 'angled osteotomy design' resulteerde in significant meer linguale fracturen vanuit de 'inferior border cut' dan het conventionele design. Het fractuurpatroon verliep significant meer dorsaal van de canalis en het foramen mandibulare. Bad splits kwamen niet voor bij het 'angled osteotomy design' en drie bad splits werden geobserveerd bij het conventionele design, hoewel dit verschil niet statistisch significant was. De status van de IAN was vergelijkbaar bij beide designs, hoewel de nervus vaker vrij geprepareerd moest worden bij het conventionele design.

Deze resultaten suggereren dat het 'angled osteotomy design' een meer dorsale linguale fractuur veroorzaakt, die regelmatig initieert uit de 'inferior border cut'. Een trend werd geobserveerd dat dit design mogelijk ook de incidentie van bad splits reduceert.

In Hoofdstuk 10 wordt een klinische prospectieve observationele studie naar de linguale fractuurpatronen na BSSO met splijttang en splijthevels uitgevoerd. De studie onderzoekt de overeenkomst tussen de geplande inferior border cut en de daadwerkelijk uitgevoerde inferior border cut middels postoperatieve CBCT. De invloed van de uitgevoerde inferior border cut op linguale fractuurpatronen werd verder geanalyseerd.

De inferior border cut bereikte de caudale cortex in alle gevallen, maar bereikte de linguale cortex in slechts 38% van de splijtingen. Er was geen significante relatie tussen de positie van de inferior border cut en specifieke linguale fractuurpatronen. Postoperatieve CBCT-analyse toonde aan dat de inferior border cut-zaagsnede tijdens BSSO vaak niet exact uitgevoerd was, zoals deze gepland was. Desalniettemin was er geen significante associatie tussen de inferior border cut en linguale fractuurpatronen of ongewenste fractuurpatronen. Meer onderzoek is geïndiceerd om factoren te identificeren, die de splijting meer voorspelbaar zouden kunnen maken.

In Hoofdstuk 11 wordt een casus beschreven, waarbij BSSO is uitgevoerd in een gereconstrueerde onderkaak. Een 28-jarige vrouw onderging een segmentele mandibulectomie wegens een multicystisch ameloblastoom in het linker deel van haar onderkaak. Na primaire reconstructie met een osteosynthese-plaat, werd secundaire reconstructie uitgevoerd met bot uit de linker crista iliaca posterior. Vanwege een pre-existente klasse II malocclusie, werd de patiënte geanalyseerd voor een chirurgisch-orthodontisch behandeltraject. Na een jaar orthodontische behandeling, werd een BSSO uitgevoerd. De sagittale splijting werd enerzijds rechts uitgevoerd in de overgebleven onderkaak. Aan de linker zijde vond de splijting plaats in het gereconstrueerde deel van de onderkaak. Tien maanden later werd de orale rehabilitatie voltooid met de plaatsing van twee implantaten in de gereconstrueerde onderkaak. Tijdens de latere controles functioneerde de patiënte volledig met een klasse I occlusie. De patiënte was zeer tevreden met het functionele en esthetische resultaat.

Dit toont aan dat BSSO uitgevoerd kan worden in een gereconstrueerde onderkaak zonder een verhoogd risico op complicaties met een goed functioneel en esthetisch resultaat.

Hoofdstuk 12 beschrijft conclusies, klinische implicaties en toekomstperspectieven bij dit proefschrift...

List of publications

Journal publications

Autotransplantation of teeth with the aid of computer-aided rapid prototyping using a 3D replica of the donor tooth: a systematic literature review

Verweij JP, Jongkees FA, Anssari Moin D, Wismeijer D, van Merkesteyn JPR Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2017; doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2017.04.008

Replacing heavily damaged teeth by third molar autotransplantation with the use of cone-beam computed tomography and rapid prototyping

Verweij JP, Moin DA, Wismeijer D, van Merkesteyn JPR J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2017; doi:10.1016/j.joms.2017.03.045

Impact of adenotonsillectomy on the dentofacial development of obstructed children: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Becking BE, Verweij JP, Kalf-Scholte SM, Valkenburg C, Bakker EWP, van Merkesteyn JPR Eur J Orthod 2017; doi:10.1093/ejo/cjx005

Accuracy of computer-assisted template-guided autotransplantation of teeth with custom 3D designed/printed surgical tooling. A cadaveric study

Anssari Moin D, Verweij JP, Waars H, van Merkesteyn JPR, Wismeijer D. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2017;75(5):925.e1-925.e7

Neuropathic pain due to iatrogenic lingual nerve lesion: nerve grafting to reduce otherwise untreatable pain

Verweij JP, van Hof KS, Malessy MJA, van Merkesteyn JPR J Craniofac Surg 2017;28(2):496-500

Are there risk factors for osseous mandibular inferior border defects after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy?

Verweij JP, van Rijssel JG, Fiocco M, Mensink G, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2016;45(2):192-197

Removal of osteosynthesis material because of symptoms after Le Fort I osteotomy: a retrospective study of 158 patients

Verweij JP, Hassing GJM, Fiocco M, Houppermans PNWJ, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2016;44(12):1909-1912

Custom made replacement of the mandibular condyle in a case of fibrous dysplasia with cystic degeneration; a case report

Oostenbroek-Bisschop JSLI, Verweij JP, van Merkesteyn JPR Dent J 2016;4(4),42

De 3D-geprinte boormal voor de bilaterale sagittale splijtingsosteotomie

Wes JT, Houppermans PNWJ, Verweij JP, Mensink G, Liberton N, van Merkesteyn JPR Ned Tijdschr Tandheelkd 2016; 123(9):400-404

Influence of the inferior border cut on the lingual fracture pattern after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy with splitter and separators: a prospective observational study

Houppermans PNWJ, Verweij JP, Gooris PJJ, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2016;44(10):1592-1598

Risk factors for common complications associated with bilateral sagittal split osteotomy, a literature review and meta-analysis

Verweij JP, Houppermans PNWJ, Gooris PJJ, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2016;44(9):1170-1180

Autotransplantatie 2.0: Overwegingen, uitkomsten en nieuwste technieken

Verweij JP, Moin DA, Mensink G, Wismeijer D, van Merkesteyn JPR Ned Tijdschr Tandheelkd 2016; 123(7-8):348-353

A novel approach for computer-assisted template-guided autotransplantation of teeth with custom 3D designed/printed surgical tooling. An ex vivo proof of concept

Moin DA, Derksen W, Verweij JP, van Merkesteyn JPR, Wismeijer D J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016;74(5):895-902

Autotransplantation of premolars with a 3D printed titanium replica of the donor tooth functioning as a surgical guide: proof of concept

Verweij JP, Moin DA, Mensink G, Nijkamp P, Wismeijer D, van Merkesteyn JPR J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016;74(6):1114-111

Success and survival of autotransplanted premolars and molars during short-term clinical follow-up

Verweij JP, Toxopeus EE, Fiocco M, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR J Clin Periodontol 2016;43(2):167-172

Incidence and recovery of neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in different age groups: a retrospective study of 263 patients

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016;45(7):898-903

Morphological features of the mandible as predictors for neurosensory disturbances after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2015;43(9):1710-1715

Influence of osteotomy design on bilateral sagittal split osteotomy

Verweij JP, van Merkesteyn JPR J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2015;73(9):1666

Angled osteotomy design aimed to influence the lingual fracture line in bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a human cadaveric study

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PNWJ, van Merkesteyn JPR J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2015;73(10):1983-1993

Investigation of the influence of mallet and chisel techniques on the lingual fracture line and comparison with the use of splitter and separators during sagittal split osteotomy in cadaveric pig mandibles

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Houppermans PNWJ, Frank MD, van Merkesteyn JPR J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2015;43(3):336-341

Twenty year follow-up of reconstruction with allogeneic hemimandible and autogenous particulate cancellous bone and marrow

Verweij JP, Bouwman R, Dicker GJFM, Groot RM, van Merkesteyn JPR Eur J Plast Surg 2014;37(11):623-626 Removal of bicortical screws and other osteosynthesis material that caused symptoms after bilateral sagittal split osteotomy: a retrospective study of 251 patients and review of published papers

Verweij JP, Houppermans PNWJ, Mensink G, van Merkesteyn JPR Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2014;52(8):756-760

Presence of mandibular third molars during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy increases the possibility of bad splits but not the risk of other post-operative complications

Verweij JP, Mensink G, Fiocco M, van Merkesteyn JPR

J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2014;42(7):e359-e363

Bad split during bilateral sagittal split osteotomy of the mandible performed with separators: retrospective study of 427 patients

Mensink G, Verweij JP, Frank MD, Bergsma JE, van Merkesteyn JPR Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2013;51(6):525-529

Bilateral sagittal split osteotomy in a mandible previously reconstructed with a nonvascularized bone graft

Mensink G, Verweij JP, Gooris PJJ, van Merkesteyn JPR Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2013;42(7):830-834

Book publications

Artsen met verstand van zaken. Medisch leiderschap, financiën en organisatie in de zorg. Red: Fuijkschot WW, Versteeg RI, Verweij JP, Hilders CGJM, Levi MM De Tijdstroom uitgeverij, 2016. ISBN 9789058982919v

Dankwoord

De totstandkoming van dit proefschrift, heb ik vooral te danken aan een aantal uitzonderlijke mensen in mijn omgeving. Het was een leerzaam en vooral heel leuk traject, waarbij mijn wetenschappelijke ontwikkeling wellicht in het niet valt bij al het andere dat ik gedurende deze tijd heb geleerd. Het is een bijzonder voorrecht om deze mensen te mogen bedanken.

Prof. dr. J.P.R. van Merkesteyn, hooggeleerde promotor, beste Richard. Op wetenschappelijk, klinisch en persoonlijk vlak ben je een betrouwbare mentor. Jouw principiële manier van denken, gecombineerd met het onvermurwbare optimisme dat daar achter verscholen ligt, sluit naadloos aan op mijn soms wat abstracte en analytische denken. Daarnaast heb je me geleerd om altijd m'n 'boerenverstand' te blijven gebruiken, zelfs binnen de wetenschap. Dank voor alles.

Dr. G. Mensink, weledelzeergeleerde co-promotor, beste Gertjan. Een toevallige samenloop van omstandigheden heeft mij bij jou gebracht. Ik denk dat ik daar heel veel geluk mee heb gehad. Het is leuk om te zien dat niet alleen onze ambities, maar ook onze persoonlijkheden zo complementair zijn. Ik hoop met dit proefschrift op een goede manier het pad dat jij bent ingestapt, verder te vervolgen. Dank voor al je hulp hierbij.

Dr. P.J.J. Gooris, weledelzeergeleerde co-promotor, beste Peter. Om je als co-promotor te hebben terwijl je mijn familie kent is erg bijzonder. Jouw manier van constructief samenwerken is voor mij een mooi voorbeeld om te volgen. Daarnaast helpen jouw verbindende manier van denken en doordachte adviezen mij keer op keer enorm. Dank voor jouw mentorschap.

Leden van mijn promotiecommissie, u ben ik allen zeer erkentelijk voor het beoordelen van dit proefschrift. Dank dat ik van jullie waardevolle tijd gebruik heb mogen maken.

Mede-onderzoekers, dr. E.J. Bergsma, dr. M. Fiocco, drs. M.H. Frank, drs. P.N.W.J. Houppermans, drs. J.G. van Rijssel. Dank voor jullie bijdrage bij dit onderzoek en de fijne samenwerking.

Drs. P.N.W.J. Houppermans en Drs. J.T. Wes, beste Pascal en Joris. Jullie hebben mij de eerste weken binnen de MKA-chirurgie een manier van (samen)werken laten zien, die ik niet meer zal vergeten. De manier waarop jullie volledig jezelf zijn, dat is een voorbeeld dat ik graag wil volgen. Dank.

Stafartsen en mede-opleiders. Albert, Frans-Willem, Jan, Merijn, en Sarina. Dank voor jullie wijze raad en de manier waarop jullie mij helpen bij mijn eerste stappen binnen de MKA-chirurgie. Ik ben blij dat ik de opleiding bij jullie mag volgen.

ledereen van de poli, administratie, en afdeling. Dank voor jullie hulp, interesse en de heerlijke sfeer waar ik iedere dag in terecht kom als ik weer naar het LUMC ga.

Casper, Jaap en Pieter. De manier waarop wij vrienden zijn is onbetaalbaar. Jullie bepalen hoe ik het leven sta. Ik heb van alle manieren waarop wij verschillen veel geleerd, maar ben er vooral van overtuigd dat wij uit hetzelfde hout gesneden zijn. Tijdens alle avonden dat ik met mijn laptop op de bank zat, zorgden jullie voor gezelligheid. Dank voor jullie begrip, bevestiging en vooral dank voor jullie onvoorwaardelijke vriendschap.

Andere mannen van de jaarclub, Clemens, Diederik, Floris, Frits, Gert-Jan, Hans, Joris, Marc, Rutger, Tom, en Witte. Jullie waren mijn steun en toeverlaat tijdens een Leidse tijd vol met hoogtepunten. Ik ben blij ook dit moment met jullie te mogen vieren.

Hans, Henk, Jan-Willem, Jorick. Jullie zijn onderdeel van mijn basis in Den Haag. Ik ben erg blij dat ik jullie mijn vrienden kan noemen.
Heeren van 't Veer. Nog steeds schiet bijna iedere ochtend om half tien de ochtendkoffie even door mijn hoofd. Vijf jaar in Leiden vol met varen, heerendiners, huisdiners, ouderdiners, en nu oud-huisgenoten. Op 't Veer ben ik volwassen geworden en dat heeft mij gevormd als mens. Dank hiervoor.

Britt, Celine, Henri, Kathelijne, Linda, Lodewijk, Reinoud, Sofie, en Wouter. De TOVA was de leukste manier van studeren die ik ooit heb meegemaakt. Om met gelijkgestemden zó veel te leren over het vak dat ons verbindt was ongelooflijk mooi. Ook nu is het 'bij elkaar over de schutting kijken' erg waardevol voor mij. Ik hoop dat wij elkaar nog heel veel en intensief zullen blijven zien in de toekomst, als collega's en als vrienden.

Lizz. Samen op het Juvenaat, de studie Geneeskunde, Minerva en nu beiden gepromoveerd. Ik ben blij dat ik je (net) bij kan houden. Onze geschiedenis is uitzonderlijk mij en ik hoop dat onze levenslijnen elkaar nog vaak zo blijven doorkruisen.

Dees, Huib en Rogier. ledere keer dat we samen zijn is het weer als vanouds, zelfs al zien we elkaar tijden niet. Ik geniet steeds van onze ouderwetse avonden met de vrienden van vroeger.

Fleur en Koen. Ik heb maar geluk met jullie als mijn zus en broer. Jullie staan achter mij bij alles wat ik doe en zijn mijn klankbord als ik het even niet meer weet. De manier waarop wij elkaar steunen en respecteren is het bewijs dat familie onvervangbaar is. Bas, Miel en Lisanne, jullie horen hier natuurlijk helemaal bij. De dingen die ik in mijn broer en zus zo waardeer, zie ik in jullie terug. Ik ben blij dat jullie deel zijn geworden van ons gezin.

Joris en Annelous, lieve pap en mam. Alles wat ik doe is dankzij jullie. Als ik het in mijn leven zelfs maar half zo goed zal doen als jullie, dan nog zal ik vervuld van geluk mijn successen kunnen tellen. Jullie steunen mij altijd in het volgen van mijn ambitie en mijn hart. Daarvoor kan ik jullie niet genoeg bedanken.

Liefste Marieke. Ik ben trots op je als mijn vriendin en blij dat jij op iedere mogelijke manier mijn gelijke bent. Je stimuleert me om de beste versie van mezelf te zijn en maakt me ongelooflijk gelukkig. Dank voor al je hulp bij dit proefschrift en bij alles wat ik doe.

Curriculum Vitae

Jop Verweij werd geboren op 6 september 1988 in Bergen op Zoom. Na het behalen van zijn VWO-diploma aan R.K. Gymnasium 't Juvenaat, studeerde hij van 2006 tot 2013 geneeskunde met een minor Human Osteoarchaeology aan de Universiteit Leiden. In dezelfde periode was hij lid bij studentenvereniging L.S.V. Minerva en heeft hij van 2007 tot 2011 bij de stichting BISLIFE gewerkt als uitvoerend operateur en teamleider bij de explantatie van hartklepweefsel ten behoeve van postmortale weefseldonatie.

Vervolgens studeerde hij van 2013 tot 2016 tandheelkunde voor artsen aan de Radboud Universiteit te Nijmegen. Hij heeft in 2015 als tandarts algemeen practicus (in opleiding) gewerkt in Den Haag en tandheelkundig vrijwilligerswerk gedaan met de stichting NOHS in Samara, Nepal. Daarnaast was hij actief bij de stichting Medical Business als organisator van de Medical Business Masterclass en eindredacteur van het boek 'Artsen met verstand van zaken. Medisch leiderschap, financiën en organisatie in de zorg'.

In 2016 startte Jop met de opleiding tot specialist Mondziekten, Kaak- en Aangezichtschirurgie in het Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum te Leiden (opleider: Prof. Dr. J.P.R. van Merkesteyn). Naast zijn opleiding tot MKA-chirurg is hij actief als voorzitter van de Vereniging van Arts-Assistenten van het Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum. Zijn hobby's zijn tekenen, hockey, golf en hardlopen.